
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE

10.00 am

FRIDAY
21 JANUARY 2022

Virtual Meeting - Web ex meeting

MEETING PAPERS



AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
TIME: 10.00 am
DATE: Friday 21 January 2022
VENUE: Virtual Meeting - Web ex meeting

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  Apologies Andrea Griffiths

2.  Declarations of Interest Andrea Griffiths

3.  Public Questions 
Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

To answer any written public questions about matters which are 
within the powers and duties of the Audit & Governance 
Committee.

The closing date for receipt of questions is 10am on Friday 14 
January 2022.  Please send questions for the attention of Andrea 
Griffiths

Andrea Griffiths

4.  Member Questions 
Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

To answer any written public questions about matters which are 
within the powers and duties of the Audit & Governance 
Committee.

The closing date for receipt of questions is 10am on Friday 14 
January 2022.  Please send questions for the attention of Andrea 
Griffiths.

Andrea Griffiths

5.  Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 16)
The Committee is asked to approve the minutes of the previous 
meeting.

Andrea Griffiths

6.  Grant Thornton Audit Progress Report (Pages 17 - 40)
The Committee is asked to note the report. Alex Walling



7.  Treasury Management Strategy (Pages 41 - 70)
The Committee is asked to note the report. Paul Blacker

8.  Annual Governance Statement Action Plan Update (Pages 71 - 
80)
The Committee is asked to review the progress reported against 
the key issues identified.

Darren Skinner

9.  Risk Management Strategy (Pages 81 - 98)
The Committee is asked to endorse the revised RMPS&S 2022-
2025; and makes any recommendations for amendments or 
improvement.

Darren Skinner

10.  Internal Audit Activity Progress Report (Pages 99 - 136)
The Committee is asked to note the report. Piyush Fatania

11.  GFRS: Internal Audit Final Progress Report (Pages 137 - 154)
The Committee is asked to review and considers the actions taken 
to address the recommendations made and progress to date.

Piyush Fatania

12.  Limited Assurance Report (Pages 155 - 160)
The Committee is asked to note the report. Philip Williams

13.  Anti Bribery Policy & Money Laundering Policy (Pages 161 - 
168)
The Committee is asked to note the report. Paul Blacker

14.  GCC Complaints: Policy, System & Culture (Pages 169 - 176)
The Committee is asked to note the report. Rob Ayliffe

15.  Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman's Annual 
Review Letter (Pages 177 - 188)
The Committee is asked to note the report. Bonnie Styles

16.  Whistle Blowing Annual Report (Pages 189 - 194)
The Committee is asked to note the report. Rob Ayliffe

17.  Member Code of Conduct Annual Report (Pages 195 - 202)
The Committee is asked to note the report. Rob Ayliffe

18.  Appointment of External Auditors for Statement of Accounts 
(Pages 203 - 218)
That the Committee recommends to Full Council for consideration 
at its meeting scheduled for 16th February 2022 acceptance of the 
Public Sector Audit Appointments’ invitation to opt into the sector-
led option for the appointment of external auditors to principal local 
government and police bodies for five financial years from 1 April 
2023.

Paul Blacker



NOTES

(a) MEMBERSHIP – Councillors Cllr Matt Babbage, Cllr John Bloxsom, 
Cllr Stephan Fifield, Cllr Colin Hay, Cllr Alex Hegenbarth, Cllr Stephen Hirst, 
Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Brian Tipper, Cllr Chloe Turner, Cllr Susan Williams and 
Cllr Dr David Willingham

(b) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Rob Ayliffe 01452 328506e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the meeting. 

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee held on Tuesday 
28 September 2021 commencing at 10.00 am at the Council Chamber - Shire Hall, 
Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Matt Babbage
David Clowes
Cllr David Drew
Cllr Stephan Fifield 
Cllr Colin Hay (Chairman)
Cllr Stephen Hirst

Cllr Alan Preest
Cllr Brian Tipper
Cllr Chloe Turner
Cllr Susan Williams
Cllr Dr David Willingham

Substitutes: Cllr David Drew & Cllr Paul Hodgkinson

Apologies: Cllr John Bloxsom & Cllr Alex Hegenbarth

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made.

2. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

The submitted questions and responses were published online.  

The Chair advised members of the public questions were submitted to the Chair of 
the Audit and Governance Committee and he was unable to answer any questions 
directed to Grant Thornton.  As the Chair he acknowledged the short time frame on 
this occasion, between the publication of the agenda papers and the deadline for 
the receipt of questions and such, he had decided to extend the deadline under the 
urgency rules as defined by the Constitution.  The Chair felt the deadline for 
questions should be clarified further by the Constitution Committee.  

The Committee were referred to public question and responses which were 
circulated in advance of the meeting and were available online for reference.  The 
Chairman welcomed public questioners, Lynn Haanen & Sue Oppenheimer to the 
meeting, as they had submitted public questions, they were able to ask 
supplementary questions.  

Mrs Haanen attended the meeting virtually and wished to ask a supplementary 
question, in relation her second question.  She wished to know if the Committee still 
had full confidence in Grant Thornton (GT) and referred to the recent news that GT 
had been fined £2.3m by the FRC for work on another client.  In addition, the FRC 
had reviewed other audits at other authorities and had concluded that they were 
incomplete. She wished to know if the Committee had a view.    

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

The Chair explained that as the Committee had not yet discussed the item, so it 
was not possible to give a view at this stage.  It was noted that the Public Sector 
Audit Appointments contract was due to be renewed in 2024 and the Financial 
Services Authority (FSA) would start the process, it was anticipated that the 
Committee’s view would be sought at the January 2022 meeting.  

Mrs Oppenheimer addressed the Committee on behalf of the four objectors stating 
that as objectors they were disappointed in the quality of the report and lack of 
answers.  It was originally asked what happened with the contract, they felt the 
auditor looked at lots of ‘might’s’.  The facts had been given less weight than the 
‘might’s’.  It was noted that the contract increased from £450m to £613m, and the 
annual cost to GCC went up from £15m to £24m per year, inflation was less than 
10% and GCC was paying more than the market average for the incinerator.  As 
objectors they felt there was an attempt to whitewash the support.  She asked, what 
the Committee thought of the facts and the ‘might’s’.

The second question related to the issue that the auditor said it would be difficult to 
investigate further at this point, given the passing of time.  Mrs Oppenheimer felt if 
the contract details were available in 2015, when the decision was being made it 
would have been considered by the Audit & Governance Committee.  As objectors 
they believed the auditor and the County Council colluded to hide those contract 
details.  Mrs Oppenheimer informed the Committee that the auditor wrote in 2018 to 
say the contract of 2016 was not material in terms of determining the value for 
money of the contract.  Given that the increased cost would have impacted on the 
County Council, how can it not be deemed as material.  She asked what the 
Committee thought about  the secrecy that has surrounded this contract from the 
start and whether that secrecy impacted the Committee’s view.   

The third question, related to proportionality and she felt this issue should be 
decided by the Committee and not the auditor.  Ms Oppenheimer referred to the 
auditor’s view that it was not proportionate to do more work on this contract, she 
asked the committee considering the cost of the contract and the increased costs 
how could this be, when the cost of the investigation would be proportionately 
miniscule compared to the cost of the contract.  

The Chair explained the Committee had not yet had a discussion, so he was unable 
to answer the questions raised and it was up to Members and the External Auditor 
to consider the questions raised.  The Chair thanked the public questioners for their 
submissions.  

3. MEMBER QUESTIONS 

No member questions were received.  

4. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

Resolved 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

That the minutes of the meeting held on the 30th July 2021 were approved as 
a correct record.  

5. OBJECTION TO ACCOUNTS REGARDING WASTE CONTRACT - EXTERNAL 
AUDITOR'S REPORT 

John Gregory, External Auditor (EA) presented the report and advised the 
Committee the primary report was detailed at page 43 of the agenda pack.  

The Committee were informed it was an unusual auditor’s report as it hadn’t 
reached a specific conclusion and the report detailed the reasons why.  The 
objection process was enshrined in law within the auditor’s responsibility, and local 
electors had the opportunity each year to ask the auditor to produce a public 
interest report and/or to go to the High Court and seek a declaration that there was 
an unlawful item within the council accounts for that particular year.  

However, given the number of objections to the accounts nationally, it was not 
considered a widespread process and objections were usually dealt by the local 
auditing team.  In this case, the EA agreed to be involved due to his experience 
with a similar case at another authority.   

It was explained that objector had to give reasons and the process was conducted 
in accordance with a judicial process and both parties’ representations were made 
and then considered by the EA.  These objections were then either upheld or 
dismissed by the Auditor.  

The objection was raised in 2017 and raised a wide of range issues around the 
contract.  Determining it had been a long and complex  process.  A number of 
issues arise around commercial confidentiality of the contract and at the time, 
parallel proceedings were going through an information tribunal and direct legal 
action was being taken by the Directors of CR4C.   This process was further 
delayed due to Covid and therefore it had become a long process.  In addition, 
there were a number of complex issues which required specialist legal advice 
around public procurement regulations.  

The Committee were advised there were a lot of issues raised by the objectors, the 
one crucial issue was combined with public procurement regulations in accordance 
with the revised project plan in 2015, and whether those negotiations resulted in the 
economic balance shifting in favour of the contractor. It was a question of where the 
economic balance lay and the complexities involved, the EA had taken the view that 
it wasn’t in the public interest to commission the necessary work, particularly as this 
may still not resolve the matter.  

In order to do so, detailed costs and risks would have to be analysed, as the EA he 
took view that it wasn’t in public interest and it wouldn’t change the view of the 
contract that was in place.  In addition, he didn’t feel it was worth wasting hundreds 
of thousands pound of public money in doing so,  notwithstanding the objectors’ 
comments about the relatively small amount of money in relation to the contract but 
it wouldn’t make any practical difference to the contract.  The EA felt it was 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

important to share the report with the Audit & Governance Committee in 
accordance with its role within the Council.  

Members questioned whether the report should have been issued as a public 
interest report.  The EA explained that initially he did consider producing a public 
interest report, based on provisional views, however since that time representations 
had been received from both parties and once those responses had been duly 
considered, it was evident that there was no need for a public interest report in his 
opinion.  The Committee were referred to page 29 and 30 of the report which 
detailed the reasoning behind this decision.  In response to a question the EA 
confirmed that it was solely his decision not to produce a public interest report.   

In response to a question relating to the market test in relation to cost.  The 
Committee were informed that the EA had not looked at the process in detail, as it 
was a question of negotiation and this process was conducted by the County 
Council and it wasn’t possible to consider this retrospectively.  He explained that 
the Council took the decision to not retender and Grant Thornton understood the 
reasons for this decision.  

Members remarked that the increase in contract value was determined by UBB, but 
the EA explained the council would have scrutinised, and challenged those costs as 
part of renegotiating the contract.  

In relation to the increased costs, during the discussion it was noted that the 
process of negotiations between the Council, UBB, and EY were scrutinised 
accordingly.  It was explained that auditors have the discretion to decide what was 
in the public interest to investigate further.  

Some members wished to know what would the cost of the investigation be in order 
to have a clearer understanding of the procurement law and if it was broken.  It was 
noted that the cost would escalate into hundreds of thousands of pounds. 

It was pointed out that no other contractors who submitted a tender had raised any 
form of action or objection.  

Members wished to know what had led the EA to change his initial view about 
issuing a Public Interest Report.  The EA explained there was no new evidence 
submitted by either party and neither pressured him into changing his view.  As the 
EA he decided on reflection that it was disproportionate to produce a public interest 
report.  

A member referred to a question raised by the objector in relation to the secrecy of 
events and being too late to judge the legality of procurement process.  The EA felt 
there was need for caution, as it was a question of commercial confidentiality in 
2017 and there were various allegations that were made claiming that information 
had been withheld.  In the EA’s view no information was withheld from this 
Committee and the Committee could have reviewed the information at that time if it 
had chosen to do so.  It was suggested that information had been withheld from the 
objectors until 2018 which had led to a time delay in terms of the legality of the 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

procurement.    The EA added that it could have been a factor but reiterated that no 
information had been withheld from him as the Investigating External Auditor and it 
was a complex situation with legal processes being undertaken, therefore at that 
time the information was commercially confident.

The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) informed the Committee that there was a huge 
difference between what was being treated as commercially confidential, i.e. the 
contractors pricing being open to competitors  and when that would be damaging, 
he confirmed that nothing had been withheld from this Committee.  

A member of the Committee wished to know if all the correspondence between the 
EA and the Council would be shared publicly.  The EA explained that he would 
need to seek advice to check if he could share that information publicly, it was 
noted that all the information had been shared with the objectors.  At this point, the 
CEO informed the Committee that he had no objection to the information being 
shared with Councillors or publicly, he added that the Council was told not to share 
the information as it was part of an exempt process at the time.  Members 
welcomed the offer of the information being shared.  

In response to a question, it was explained that the reason for producing the report 
was to confirm that no conclusions had been reached as to whether it was illegal or 
not.  The report confirmed that there was compliance with the regulations and the 
EA understood why some would find the report frustrating as it did not reach a 
conclusion.  Members felt the inconclusive report would still lead to speculation and 
some members originally felt they were deliberately being kept in the dark and 
wished to know what actions would be taken in the future to ensure this was not the 
case.  

The CEO informed the Committee that GT had spent a massive amount of resource 
on analysing the situation and four years to not reach a conclusion. In fact GCC had 
only been given four months to respond, took advice and made a binary decision to 
proceed with the contract.  If the Authority did not proceed with the contract they 
would have been faced with the possibility of a bill of £100m in penalties.  The CEO 
accepted with hindsight, the authority had learnt from transparency and that 
perhaps over relied on the commercial confidentiality as it was deemed to be highly 
sensitive in 2013 and in 2015.  He now believed it could have been less 
commercially sensitive against the public balance of right of information, so with 
hindsight lessons have been learnt on that issue.  

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources explained that it was not 
uncommon for difficult decisions to be commercially confidential at the time, but to 
become less so further on down the line.   It was noted that Members were 
privileged to have access to some of that information and they could have called in 
the decision or scrutinised it in exempt session.   It was a highly complex contract 
and that fact should be borne in mind and going forward there were always lessons 
that could be learnt.  The Executive Director reminded members that the report 
stated the Council did the best it could in a very short difficult period and sought 
independent value for money advice from Ernst & Young. It was recognised that 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

based on the advice they were given at the time the executive believed its decisions 
were justified.  

Members questioned the scale of the uplift in the contract and felt that they might 
have called the decision in had they known the scale.  The Executive Director 
explained that it was a question of timing. He added that the standard terms and 
conditions of confidentiality were a constant dilemma for any Authority.  A 
competitor could use that information to their advantage unfairly, and this was a 
constant challenge.  It was suggested that perhaps the terms and conditions of 
commercial confidentiality could be looked at.  

Some members questioned UBB’s contractual right to sell the excess capacity to 
the private market .  Members wished to know if those agreements had been 
reviewed.  The EA explained that this factor would not have impact the contract and 
it was not something an auditor would consider.  

One member questioned the fact that 20-30 metric tonnes could be sold to the 
private market and why this fact was not taken into account.  The EA reiterated that 
various assumptions had been made and he felt it was not appropriate to consider 
that fact.  He explained there were various elements of cross subsidy within the 
contract. 

The CEO informed the Committee that there was a service contract between the 
County Council and UBB, and the size of the plant was UBB choice.  In turn it was 
UBB’s decision to accept waste from the private market and was nothing to do with 
the Authority.  The CEO added that the Authority did benefit from the energy 
produced.  

In response to a question, it was noted that the Council concentrated on best value 
and had a different view of the legal justification at that point in time and that was 
set out in the legal annexe of the report.    The CEO advised members that perhaps 
then they were approaching things in a different way and he referred to the report, 
where it stated that the authority had transparency of UBB business model and 
rates of return and that was showing that the economic balance of the contract had 
not changed.  He accepted there was a different approach and felt that the use of 
the clause was appropriate at the time.  

It was clarified that report only related to the objection and gave no clear 
conclusions.  The Committee were advised in order to look at the lessons learnt 
that would be a separate exercise and more costs would be involved.  Some 
Councillors felt the lack of conclusion undermined the process and would diminish 
public confidence.

The EA explained that the investigation focused on the points raised by the 
objectors, as set out in the statement of reasons.  He felt in terms of lessons learnt 
the Council could consider an exercise in relation to commercial confidentiality.  
The EA understood why the public might think the process was unhelpful but 
equally he would rather be having this conversation at this stage rather than 
wasting more money to fail to reach a conclusion or practical consequences.  As 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

the EA, he felt it was necessary to draw line under the investigation, and this 
decision had not been taken lightly.  

In terms of commercial confidence, UBB and the financial consideration, members 
wished to know why the VfM conclusion was completed by the auditors who were 
doing the main audit of the council and why were there any not contemporary 
concerns.  The EA explained it was difficult for him to comment on the routine VfM 
of the council at that stage but at the time there were no issues raised at that time.  
Clearly that audit team did not have the benefit of the specialist legal advice and 
there was no action being taken by any disgruntled contractors, therefore there was 
no issue of procurement.  

The interim bill to the Council was £30k and the final bill was yet to be submitted 
which would be approximately £100k in addition.  The total charge would be subject 
to scrutiny by the Public Sector Audit Agency agreement.  

It was recognised in 2019 that there was a call for a public inquiry, signed by many 
members of council and the public.  Many of those issues raised were not dealt with 
by this report, members sought assurance that those issues would be dealt with the 
appropriate scrutiny committee.  The CEO advised members that the role of this 
committee was the Audit & Governance of this Council.    Members were reminded 
that the report contained two fundamental statements in that Grant Thornton agreed 
the made the Authority made satisfactory arrangements in securing value for 
money and GT report concludes the report does not contain any material criticisms 
of the Authority. The CEO accepted there were some fine points of law, but another 
five years of investigation wouldn’t reach a conclusion.  

In terms of the issues of hierarchy, other committees could pursue it if they so 
wished, however it was not within the brief of this committee to refer those issues.  
Some members disagreed with the CEO and added that the public wanted 
assurances that these issues will be dealt with by the appropriate committee.  

In response to a question, it was confirmed that no representations had been 
received from the original tenderers.  

The Chair thanked Mr Gregory for attending the Committee. He added that any 
lessons that could be learnt could come back to this committee and this would be 
included within the Chair’s Annual Report to Council.  In addition, the Chair felt 
Environment Scrutiny in the course of their work plan may wish to look at the 
operation of the incinerator, given it was now operational.  

It was suggested that the public might be disappointed with the report and the lack 
of a satisfactory conclusion.  Members commented that the Energy from Waste 
facility was not a renewable energy source as depicted within the report.  Members 
questioned the purchase of the site and the planning permission, it was suggested 
that there were many unanswered questions.  Some members felt that many public 
concerns would have been delayed if a public interest report had been issued last 
December and the report needed to show accountability and have a definitive 
conclusion.  

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

One member remarked that a lot of time and money had been spent on these 
issues and the Council had defended its position and it was now time to move on.  
The Chair concluded that a lot of the objection was about secrecy, and he felt it was 
wrong to curtail the discussion in the circumstances.  

Resolved 

That the Committee noted the report.

At this juncture the Committee took a brief adjournment.  Councillor Hodgkinson left 
the meeting at this point.  

The Committee reconvened at 12:00pm

6. GRANT THORNTON - GENERAL ENQUIRIES OF MANAGEMENT GCC &  
PENSION FUND 

Alex Walling, Grant Thornton presented the report, it was noted that the report had 
been circulated to members via email on the 5th August 2021 to the Committee for 
information.  

The Independent Person noted that item 12 on page 73 of the report was 
incomplete, the External Auditor agreed to look at how assurances were given and 
would amend the report accordingly.  

Resolved 

That the report be noted subject to the amendment.  

7. GRANT THORNTON AUDIT FINDINGS FOR GCC & PENSION FUND 

Alex Walling, Director, Grant Thornton presented the report which informed the 
Committee of the key matters arising from the audit of Gloucestershire County 
Council’s financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2021.

She explained that the 2020/21 audit had continued to present a number of issues, 
in light of the Covid 19 pandemic and the report reflected the additional challenges 
for Grant Thornton and the Authority in undertaking their respective responsibilities.  
The expectations of the regulators had grown year on year,  therefore it was 
essential that GT were doing appropriate work to address the issues raised.  

The position statement as detailed on page 92 of the report, detailed that GT had 
identified a period of adjustment as part of their work and an updated audit finding 
report would be circulated when the work had been completed.  In relation to the 
prior period of adjustment, it was reported there were no adjustments to the 
2020/21 accounts and the finance team should be congratulated on their efforts.  

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

There were some disclosure agreements, it was noted this was not a major issue 
and no local authority had achieved 100%.  As a result of this, recommendations 
had been made to management and as part of the follow up work there were some 
issues around IT and administration access.  Some additional testing would be 
undertaken around those issues to test further.  

Additional areas of work were Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) revaluation.  
This was now an issue of concern for the reporting council and issues around floor 
planning had been identified, GT would come back with further information in due 
course.  The expectation was there would further challenge to the value of property 
and what underpins those valuations.    

It was explained that some sample testing and management reviews were to be 
undertaken but GT did not intend to modify the audit opinion, this was regarded as 
a positive for the Council at this stage.  

In terms of the Value for Money (VfM) work 2021, the process had been changed 
by the National Audit Office (NAO) , they had requested more about commentary 
on the overall arrangements.  The VfM work would now look at three key areas 
deemed important by the NAO: 
- Financial sustainability 
- Governance of decisions, scheme of delegation, etc. 
- Improving efficiency, economy and effectiveness.  

Due to Covid the NAO had decided to decouple the VfM work from the accounts 
work, therefore the accounts work opinion could be given and the VfM work would 
be ongoing.  The aim was to finish the VfM work by Christmas, the commentary 
known as the auditors annual report would be a public document and would give 
the Auditor’s view on the Council’s  arrangements in the three areas outlined.   

The Auditor was unable to certify the closure of the 2020/21 accounts as part of the  
statutory duty, this was partly due to Government accounts work was outstanding 
and no confirmation had been received by the NAO as yet as to what work was 
required.  In addition, GT were required to report on the consistency statement on 
the pension fund financial statement within the annual report and once the EfW 
objection was formally concluded and the prior year’s audits were closed, only then 
could this year’s accounts be closed.  

It terms of significant matters, it was explained that External Audit had not identified 
any issues during the audit.  A lot of good dialogue and challenge had been taking 
place between officers and GT.  Unfortunately this was impacted by Covid and the 
additional work set by the regulator.  

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources advised the Committee that 
Officers were disappointed that the accounts had not yet been approved as the 
Finance Team had worked exceptionally hard to complete the work.  It was 
recognised this was a similar position across the Country…  

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

In response to a question relating to manual journals and the lack of descriptions, 
members wished to ensure that manual inputs were not blocked by IT issues.  A 
second question was asked in relation to IT privileged user, members questioned 
how much of these vulnerability should be detailed in the public domain, as it  could 
leave the authority open to risks and should possibly be in a an exempt report.  

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources accepted the points raised and 
explained that IT was being heavily invested in and the service was now being dealt 
with in house, since doing so this had provided more stability in the Council’s 
network.   It was noted that External Audit had picked up on internal user privileges 
and not ransom wear as referred to by the member.  

Members questioned the right of appeal process in relation to VfM sign off.  The 
External Auditor explained there is a 30 day right of appeal. After that, next steps 
will be decided accordingly.  

Resolved 

That the report be noted.  

8. ANNUAL STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

Paul Blacker, Director of Finance explained there had been a change of situation as 
indicated in the previous item by GT.  It was noted the updated report from GT had 
been circulated to the Committee and was published online.  

It was reported that external audit were unable to complete the accounts by the 
statutory deadline.  The Director of Finance explained that the accounts still needed 
to be published by the statutory deadline of the 30th September 2021, therefore it 
was proposed that an unaudited version of accounts with a supporting statement be 
published in the interim period online and be replaced by the approved version at a 
later date.  

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources proposed that the Committee 
delegate the signing of the accounts and letter of representation to the Chair of the 
Committee and the Section 151 Officer, providing no material adjustments were 
required.  It was agreed when the Statement of Accounts were finalised they would 
be circulated to all members of committee for approval prior to signing off.  

Resolved 

That the Committee delegated signing of the Statement of Accounts the letter 
of representation on behalf of the County Council and the Pension Fund, to 
the Chair of the Committee and the Section 151 Officer, providing there were 
no material adjustments.  In addition, it was agreed when completed the 
accounts would be circulated to all members of committee for approval prior 
to signing.  

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

9. ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT & LOCAL CODE OF CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE 

Darren Skinner, Head of Planning, Performance and Improvement presented the 
report in detail and explained that the AGS summarised the Council’s corporate 
governance arrangements in place during 2020/ 2021.  

The CIA confirmed that the Council’s AGS and associated assurance framework 
had been developed in accordance with the CIPFA / SOLACE publication 
Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 2016. This year’s annual review 
had identified 7 key corporate governance matters, the details of which could be 
found in the reports pack:

- Ofsted inspection of Children’s Services;
- Gloucester Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS);
- Recruitment and retention of employees in hard to fill, critical positions; and
- Covid-19 impact on governance.
- ICT and Cyber Security Risks
- Procurement Transformation Programme 
- GIS Healthcare and management of the service.  

It was noted that these matters would be kept under review and a further update on 
actions taken to address them would be provided to the Committee, at its January 
2022 meeting. 

In relation to ICT Governance, members remarked that it was not just a question of 
staff culture; members should also be included within that point too, as they had 
GCC Ipads.  The Monitoring Officer welcomed the reminder and advised members 
that phishing email activities had been undertaken to make members aware of good 
practice and the use of the Council’s IT equipment.  

The Independent Member felt there was a slight inconsistency and referred to the 
certification statement as this referred to 2019/20, page 357 of the report.  It was 
confirmed that the dates needed amending prior to approving.    

Members questioned the forthcoming Ofsted report and the increase of children 
going into care during Covid, members wondered how flexible the governance 
arrangements were.  

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources accepted the point raised and 
advised the Committee at this stage that once the report was received it would be 
possible to review the governance arrangements in place.  Officers anticipated that 
the report would still say requires improvement.  It was noted that it was not 
possible to second guess at this stage until the report had been received, it would 
be questioned and duly considered once received.  The Monitoring Officer 
explained that an outcome of ‘requires improvement’ or better would give the 
authority greater freedom to manage its own governance.  

Resolved 

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

The Annual Governance Statement was approved by the Committee subject 
to dates on the certification statement being amended.     

10. TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID-YEAR REPORT 

The Director of Finance presented the report and gave a midyear review of 
Treasury Management activity to date.  The Committee noted that no long term 
borrowing had matured.  He added that in terms of investment returns this period 
since the beginning of the financial year, had been dominated by Covid and a low 
interest rate environment.  

The Committee noted that there was not much activity on the borrowing front but 
the Authority had maintained income returns.   It was noted that all the Treasury 
management activity has complied with CIPFA code of practice.  

It was explained that the Council focussed on security and liquidity in terms of the 
Investment Policy. In response to a question, members were informed that £10m 
was held in responsible investments as part of the new fund.

Resolved 

That the report be noted.

11. FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES 

The Director of Finance presented the report in detail and advised members he 
sought their approval to the proposed changes as indicated by the track changes.  
If the Committee approved the changes then report would be submitted to the 
Constitution Committee for their consideration.  

In response to a question relating to the removal of the paragraph on virement of 
year end balances, the Executive Director of Corporate Resources explained that 
the aim was to reflect what the actual practice was. The aim was to give 
assurances through financial procedures and rules in which the Council works.  It 
reflects what is custom and practice now.  

It was explained that the budget and policy framework was policed quite vigorously 
by the Executive Director, the CEO and the Monitoring Officer.  Decisions  that do 
not comply with that framework would go back to Council for a decision.  

The Chair shared his view that the outturn should go back to Council, The 
Executive Director had sought clarification from CIPFA, and some authorities do 
and some don’t.  

Resolved

That the Committee approved the amended report and agreed that it be 
submitted to Constitution Committee for approval.

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

12. INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 

At this point the Chair referred to a question that was raised at the Council meeting 
on the 8th September relating to the staffing levels of the CROW team.  

The Monitoring Officer explained the Countryside Act gave a deadline of 2026, for 
the receipt of applications for historic Rights of Way to be added to the Definitive 
Map. Act. This had resulted in the Council receiving a significant increase in 
demand.  Members were advised that all Councils had a significant backlog as a 
result of this, and management were looking at the budget plan for next year to see 
if additional resources could be provided.  The Monitoring Officer anticipated that 
Government would extend the deadline to accommodate the backlog.  It was 
suggested that the Committee could ask Internal Audit (IA) or Environment Scrutiny 
Committee to look at this issue if they wished to do so.  

Some members felt this issue would be exacerbated by the 2026 deadline and felt 
that Internal Audit should look at this issue.   A member of the CROW Committee 
recognised that the CROW Team were doing a great job but also felt IA should look 
at this issue.  

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources added that management were 
aware of the issues but felt nothing would be gained by IA looking at the issue.  He 
felt that it should be for the Environment Scrutiny Committee to consider how to 
progress further and by passing to IA this would be a waste of resources.  

The Chair disagreed and felt that the governance arrangements needed looking at 
further, as it would not be possible to clear the backlog if the team wasn’t 
sufficiently sourced.  

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources advised the Committee that they 
were putting in a bid for additional resources, however it was not possible to do that 
until the allocation from Government was known.  Rather than wasting IA resources 
perhaps the Executive Director of Economy, Environment & Infrastructure view 
could be sought primarily in terms of the issues facing the team while dealing with 
the backlog.  After some discussion, the Committee agreed with this approach.   .  

Piyush Fatania, Head of Audit, Risk and Assurance (ARA) presented the report 
which informed Members of the progress of Internal Audit activity in relation to the 
approved 2021/22 Internal Audit Plan for activities delivered up to August 2021.

In response to a question relating to the EfW project on page 433 of the report and 
requested clarity, the Head of ARA agreed to check what the scope related too and 
would circulate a response via email.  

Members raised concerns in relation to limited assurance of the traffic signals, the 
Head of ARA confirmed this would be followed up by IA and reviewed accordingly.  

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

The Committee were advised in terms of grant certification, specific grants were for 
specific activities with short deadlines, which could prevent the grant being spent in 
accordance with the conditions and on occasion the grant had to be returned.  
Officers accepted the more notice of the grant, the greater the opportunity to spend 
the specific grant.  The Executive Director of Corporate Resources explained in 
terms of the carry forward the plan was constantly under review.  

Resolved

That the Committee noted the amendments to and progress against the 
current 2021/22 Internal Audit Plan; 

That the Committee requested senior management attendance at the next 
meeting of the Committee to provide an update on the actions taken in 
relation to the recommendations made in the Traffic Signals – Asset 
Management and Replacement internal audit; and

That the Committee noted the assurance opinions provided in relation to the 
effectiveness of the Council’s control environment comprising risk 
management, control and governance arrangements as a result of the Internal 
Audit activity completed to date.

13. ANNUAL REPORT ON REQUEST MANAGEMENT 

The Monitoring Officer presented the report in detail.  It was explained that the 
requests management team, in the Information Management Service, was 
responsible for ensuring the council met its statutory obligations with regard to 
request management, but this relied on timely engagement with service areas in 
order to do so.  These fell into two categories:
• Freedom of Information (FOI) and Environmental Information Regulation  
(EIR) Requests
• Subject Access Requests (SARs)

It was recognised over recent years, the council had seen a steady continuation of 
Freedom of Information (FOI) / Environmental Information Regulation (EIR).
In addition, there had been a rise in the number of subject access requests (SARs) 
being made under the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). Many service 
users request this right as a tool to better understand decisions made that directly 
affect them and, on occasion, to hold the council to account.  The Authority receive 
fewer SARs than FOI requests, but the volumes of information involved can be 
immense and as a result, resource-intensive to deal with.  Nevertheless, they 
should be seen as a key part of the ongoing relationship between the council and 
its service users. 

It was noted that the council responded to 73% of all requests with the statutory 
timescales in the last financial year (20/21), compared with 82% in the previous 12 
months.    

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 15 -

The Committee were advised that numbers received dropped during the pandemic 
there hadn’t been a correlating improvement in performance. The process was 
highly dependent on service areas providing information in response to requests 
and during this unprecedented period they had seen unusually high and differing 
demands on their time.

In response to poor performance rates, a comprehensive review of the corporate 
team’s capacity was undertaken, with additional permanent and temporary resource 
allocated to the team.  The first of these additional resources was in place in 
September 2020, contributing to the improvement in performance and helping move 
the council towards the national target of 90% on time, set by the Information 
Commissioner’s Office (ICO).

Members were informed that in August 2020 the council participated in a 
consensual audit by the ICO, achieving reasonable assurance.  As a result of the 
ICO recommendations a comprehensive action plan in relation to FOI had been 
developed and the implementation was ongoing.  It was noted that the ICO would 
conduct a follow up audit in November 2021.  

In response to a question, the Monitoring Officer explained that it was not possible 
to give a figure as to how many requests had been refused as this information was 
not retained.  The Monitoring Officer reassured the Committee that he met with the 
Chief Executive and the Executive Director of Corporate Resources on regular 
basis to monitor this activity.  

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources stated that the availability of 
information on the Council’s website was due to be reviewed. It was essential to 
direct the public to find the information readily available online.  

Improvements were being made to ensure that those young people currently 
leaving care would automatically be provided with information relating to their time 
in care.  However the challenge would be to deal with  historic information, 
especially in relation to children’s services.  

Resolved 

That the report be noted.  

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 1.28 pm

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 17

A
genda Item

 6



Commercial in confidence

P
age 18



Commercial in confidence

•

•

P
age 19

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/


Commercial in confidence

•

•

P
age 20



Commercial in confidence

P
age 21



Commercial in confidence

P
age 22



Commercial in confidence

P
age 23

https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/97b5a417-d9bf-4649-b3c3-3ae49a350fe7/FRC-AQR-Major-Local-Audits_October-2021.pdf


Commercial in confidence

•

•

P
age 24



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

P
age 25

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/industries/public-sector/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/industries/public-sector/local-government/


Commercial in confidence

P
age 26

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/lessons-from-recent-public-interest-reports/


Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 27

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/annual-reports/transparency-report-2020.pdf


Commercial in confidence

Additional expenditure due to COVID-19 by class and service area (£ millions) (2020-21)

Shire 

District

Shire 

County

Unitary 

Authority

Metropolitan 

District

London 

Borough
Total

Adult Social Care – total 0.473 1,254.880 848.656 663.404 413.842 3,181.254

Children's social care - total (excluding 

SEND)
0.000 94.933 131.127 89.799 62.987 378.846

Housing - total (including homelessness 

services) excluding HRA
63.129 5.254 74.949 42.281 112.971 298.584

Environmental and regulatory services - total 33.564 68.097 67.512 66.704 63.556 299.433

Finance & corporate services - total 48.222 53.445 83.984 76.923 78.284 340.858

All other service areas not listed in rows 

above
184.550 634.578 584.924 564.737 395.137 2,363.926

Total 329.937 2,111.187 1,791.153 1,503.848 1,126.777 6,862.902

Income losses due to COVID-19 by class and source of income (£ millions) (2020-21)

Shire District Shire County Unitary Authority
Metropolitan 

District

London 

Borough
Total

Business rates 276.498 0.000 194.192 207.351 537.667 1,215.708

Council tax 399.037 0.000 217.633 191.219 232.727 1,040.616

Sales fees and 

charges
516.426 194.923 553.907 396.745 475.728 2,137.728

Commercial 

income
82.448 24.159 120.629 204.211 52.154 483.600

Other 33.494 39.947 27.163 53.664 45.166 199.435

Total 1,307.903 259.029 1,113.524 1,053.190 1,343.441 5,077.087

P
age 28

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-covid-19-financial-impact-monitoring-information


Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 29

https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/6777/documents/72117/default/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-financial-sustainability-and-the-section-114-regime


Commercial in confidence

P
age 30

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-publishes-update-to-audit-review-response


Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 31

https://committees.parliament.uk/work/1138/timeliness-of-local-auditor-reporting-on-local-government-in-england/publications/


Commercial in confidence

https://www.psaa.co.uk/2021/10/news-release-2020-21-
audited-accounts-psaa/

P
age 32

https://www.psaa.co.uk/2021/10/news-release-2020-21-audited-accounts-psaa/


Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 33

https://www.psaa.co.uk/2021/09/psaa-publishes-its-prospectus-and-procurement-strategy-and-invites-eligible-bodies-to-opt-in-from-april-2023/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/about-us/appointing-person-information/appointing-period-2023-24-2027-28/procurement-strategy/


Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

P
age 34

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/councils-given-power-to-build-more-homes-for-first-time-buyers-and-for-social-rent


Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

P
age 35



Commercial in confidence

Climate change risk: A good practice guide for Audit and 
Risk Assurance Committees - National Audit Office (NAO) 
Report

P
age 36

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/climate-change-risk-a-good-practice-guide-for-audit-and-risk-assurance-committees/


Commercial in confidence

•

•

•P
age 37

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/local-government-and-net-zero-in-england/


Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

P
age 38

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/cyber-security-and-information-risk-guidance/


P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee

21st January 2022

Title of Report Strategy Reports 2022/23.

Purpose of Report To provide the Committee with the proposed Capital Strategy, Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy for 2022/23 and 
the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy.

Recommendations To consider, and comment as appropriate, on the proposed strategies for 
2022/23, including the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy.

Officers
Paul Blacker: Director of Finance (01452) 328999
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Kathryn Oakey: Finance Manager: (01452) 328915
kathryn.oakey@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Report

The Chartered Institute for Public Finance and Accounting (CIPFA) 2020 Prudential Code, 
Treasury Management Code of Practice and Ministry of Housing Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) 2018 guidance requires the Council to produce:

 A Capital Strategy (Annex 1), 

 A Treasury Management Strategy (Annex 2) and 

 An Investment Strategy covering non-treasury investments (included in Annex 2).

These strategies are included within the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for approval 
by full Council in February 2022.

 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7

mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:kathryn.oakey@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Annex 1
Capital Strategy 

2022/23 

Introduction

1 This capital strategy gives a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital 
financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of local 
public services along with an overview of how associated risk is managed and the 
implications for future financial sustainability. 

2 Decisions made this year on capital and treasury management will have financial 
consequences for the Council for many years into the future. They are therefore 
subject to both a national regulatory framework and to local policy framework, 
summarised in this annex.

Capital Expenditure and Financing

3 Capital expenditure is where the Council spends money on assets, such as 
property or vehicles that will be used for more than one year. In local government 
this includes spending on assets owned by other bodies, and loans and grants to 
other bodies enabling them to buy assets.  Subject to all Financial Regulations and 
Accounting Instructions, Directors have the authority to incur expenditure provided 
in the capital programme approved by the County Council.

4 Expenditure may not be incurred if it is contrary to, or not wholly in accordance with, 
the Policy Framework or Capital Programme.  Virements and changes to approved 
capital schemes can be made in accordance with the Accounting Instructions.

5 In 2022/23, the Budget set for planned capital expenditure is £226.3 million.  £6.5m 
of the capital expenditure in 2022/23 arises from a change in the accounting for 
leases and does not represent cash expenditure.  

Table 1: Estimates of Capital Expenditure
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
General Fund services 114.081 153.295 219.526 256.256 40.271
PFI and Finance Leases 0.000 0.000 6.500 0.000 0.000
TOTAL 114.081 153.295 226.026 256.256 40.271

Estimates of Capital Expenditure

Governance: 
6 For the majority of service areas service managers bid annually to include projects 

in the Council’s capital programme.  The Council’s project appraisal process will be 
the methodology employed to evaluate schemes included in the MTFS. The 
elements are:

 Scheme description
 Fit against the Council’s priorities
 Costs including whole life costs and scheme phasing
 Available funding and source

Page 42



 Revenue consequences
 Risk assessment
 VAT issues
 Planning and site issues
 Target dates

7 Analysis of existing approved schemes will be carried out at each MTFS refresh to 
identify all “non-committed” schemes. If necessary, these will be re-prioritised 
against other priority schemes awaiting approval.  Capital resources will be made 
available to deliver schemes that meet the Council’s “invest to save” criteria.

8 All Highway related projects, with a few limited exceptions are subjected to a 
mathematical assessment process applicable to the area of the service involved.  
The exceptions are the allocations that are set aside for reactive works which 
relates to urgent work necessary to keep the network in a safe and operational 
state, Community Offer where we match contributions from the community and low-
cost minor works where we react on a local basis to needs. 

9 The Council has a statutory obligation to ensure there are sufficient local school 
places available across the County.  The capital and grant funding it receives is 
prioritised against schemes which have been identified to meet forecast growth 
(basic need) in areas where additional places are required and where the condition 
of the school’s infrastructure needs updating and replacing. Annual monitoring of 
pupils forecasts and housing, together with annual inspections of school site and 
premises ensure the information is up to date to inform planned decisions.  The 
Council produced a draft School Places Strategy document (2021- 2026).  The 
strategy, which was approved by Cabinet in March 2021, is a key framework 
document for the Council in considering any statutory proposals for changes to 
school organisation including the commissioning of new schools and will inform 
future capital investment priorities. 

10 The final capital programme is presented to Cabinet in January and to Council in 
February each year.

11 Full details of the Council’s current capital programme can be found in the MTFS: 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/performance-and-
spending/budget-and-medium-term-financial-strategy/  

Financing Capital Expenditure

12 All capital expenditure must be financed, either from external sources (government 
grants and other contributions), the Council’s own resources (revenue, reserves 
and capital receipts) or debt (including internal borrowing), leasing and Private 
Finance Initiative). The planned financing of the above expenditure is as follows:

Page 43

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/performance-and-spending/budget-and-medium-term-financial-strategy/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/performance-and-spending/budget-and-medium-term-financial-strategy/


Table 2: Financing the Capital Programme
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
External Sources 79.863 97.088 144.246 206.734 3.689
Internal Resources, Capital 17.751 20.193 13.526 9.507 6.753
Internal Resources, Revenue 4.215 7.671 3.443 0.960 0.044
Debt 12.252 28.343 58.311 39.055 29.785
Sub Total 114.081 153.295 219.526 256.256 40.271
PFI and Finance Leases 0.000 0.000 6.500 0.000 0.000
Total 114.081 153.295 226.026 256.256 40.271

Capital Financing

* £6.5m of debt financing in 2022/23 arises from a change in the accounting for leases and does not 
represent new payments 

13 Debt is only a temporary source of finance, since loans and leases must be repaid, 
and this is therefore replaced over time by other financing, usually from revenue 
which is known as the minimum revenue provision (MRP) and leased PFI assets 
are financed via lease payments.  Alternatively, proceeds from selling capital 
assets (known as capital receipts) may be used to replace debt finance. Planned 
MRP. PFI and lease payments are as follows (there are no plans to use capital 
receipts in this way at the current time):

 
Table 3: Replacement of Prior Years' Debt Finance

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Minimum Revenue Provision 7.079 7.568 8.281 9.900 11.040
PFI and Finance Leases 3.823 3.662 3.952 4.013 4.333
Total 10.902 11.230 12.233 13.912 15.373

Replacement of Debt Finance

14 MRP is increasing due to additional unfunded capital spend included as part of the 
approved capital programme, details of which can be found in the MTFS.  The 
Council’s full MRP statement is available within the Treasury Management 
Strategy, Annex 10 of the MTFS.

15 The Council’s cumulative outstanding amount of debt finance is measured by the 
capital financing requirement (CFR). This increases with new debt-financed capital 
expenditure and reduces with MRP payments and capital receipts used to replace 
debt.  Based on the above figures for expenditure and financing, the Council’s 
estimated CFR is as follows:

 
Table 4: Capital Financing requirement

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
General Fund services 297.694 318.469 368.239 397.134 415.619
PFI and Finance Leases 156.701 153.040 149.087 145.335 141.262
TOTAL CFR 454.396 471.509 517.326 542.469 556.881

Capital Financing Requirement

Asset management: 
16 To ensure that capital assets continue to be of long-term use, the Council has an 

asset management strategy in place. This document seeks to align the asset 
portfolio with the needs of the Council.  The Council’s asset management strategy 

Page 44



is available on the Council’s website, www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

Asset disposals: 
17 When a capital asset is no longer needed, it may be sold so that the proceeds, 

known as capital receipts, can be spent on new assets or to repay debt.  

18 Since 2016/17 new capital receipts can also be used to fund the revenue costs of 
transformation projects designed to generate ongoing revenue savings in the 
delivery of public services and / or to transform service delivery in a way that 
reduces costs or demand for services in the future.  The proposed budget 2022/23 
does not anticipate the use of capital receipts in this way, however given the on 
going transformation programme and the financial challenges faced by the Council 
as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic it may become necessary to consider using 
capital receipts in this flexible manner in future. Using capital receipts in this way 
will require the approval of the County Council.

19 Repayments of capital grants, loans and investments also generate capital 
receipts. The Council plans to receive £21.4 million of capital receipts in the coming 
financial year as follows:

 
Table 5: Capital Receipts

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Asset sales 7.291 13.626 21.351 8.550 4.550
Investment Platform 0.055 0.008 0.000 0.000 0.000
TOTAL 7.346 13.634 21.351 8.550 4.550

Capital receipts

Treasury Management

20 Treasury management is concerned with keeping sufficient but not excessive cash 
available to meet the Council’s spending needs, while managing the risks involved.  
Surplus cash is invested until required, while a shortage of cash will be met by 
borrowing, to avoid excessive credit balances or overdrafts in the bank current 
account.  The Council is typically cash rich in the short-term as revenue income is 
received before it is spent, but cash poor in the long-term as capital expenditure is 
incurred before being financed.  The revenue cash surpluses are offset against 
capital cash shortfalls to reduce overall borrowing. 

21 Due to decisions taken in the past, the Council is currently projected to have £246.7 
million borrowing as at the end of March 2022 at an average interest rate of 4.65% 
and £286.6 million treasury investments at an average rate of 1.44%, projected as 
at the end of March 2022. 

Borrowing strategy: 
22 The Council is currently holding all new long term external borrowing requirements 

internally.  However, should the Council need to externalise this debt or take short 
term debt for cash flow purposes the main objectives when borrowing will be to 
achieve a low but certain cost of finance, while retaining flexibility should plans 
change in future.  These objectives are often conflicting, and the Council therefore 
seeks to strike a balance between cheap short-term loans (currently available at 
around 0.1%) and long-term fixed rate loans where the future cost is known but 

Page 45

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/


higher (currently 1.5 to 2.5%).

23 Projected levels of the Council’s total outstanding debt (which comprises 
borrowing, waste and PFI liabilities are shown below, compared with the capital 
financing requirement (see above).

 
Table 6: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Debt (incl. Other Liabilities) 418.524 406.218 394.845 382.833 372.000
Capital Financing Requirement 454.396 471.509 517.326 542.469 556.881

Gross Debt and the Capital Financing 
Requirement 

24 Statutory guidance is that debt should remain below the capital financing 
requirement, except in the short-term. As can be seen from table 6, the Council 
expects to comply with this in the medium to longer term. 

Liability benchmark: 
25 To compare the Council’s actual borrowing against an alternative strategy, a liability 

benchmark has been calculated showing minimum level of borrowing required to 
keep investments at a minimum level.  This benchmark is currently -£41.0 million 
as a result of the historical borrowing portfolio of the Council and the level of 
balances and reserves.  The benchmark is forecast to increase to £78.9 million 
over the next three years due to the additional borrowing proposed within the 
capital programme.  In effect, this is saying that if we had no additional investment 
balances / surplus cash during 2021/22 the Council would not need to borrow 
currently to support the capital programme as investment balances are sufficiently 
high.    

 
Table 7: Borrowing and the Liability Benchmark

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Outstanding borrowing 261.823 246.678 239.778 231.778 225.278
Liability benchmark -91.108 -41.970 14.960 52.115 78.859

Borrowing and the Liability 
Benchmark 

26 The table shows that the Council expects to remain borrowed above its liability 
benchmark in the medium term.  This is because the Council has a large historic 
debt portfolio, and due to the high premiums that would be incurred on the early 
repayment of this debt, it is not currently feasible to reduce the level of borrowing.  
Any new debt requirements are currently held internally, reducing the cost of carry 
and this additional debt results in the Council being above the liability benchmark 
from 2021/22.  This new debt would only be externalised if it becomes 
uneconomical to hold it internally.

27 The purpose of the liability benchmark is to assist the Council when making 
decisions about affordability of the capital programme and the need to borrow in 
the future.

Affordable borrowing limit: 
28 The Council is legally obliged to set an affordable borrowing limit (also termed the 

authorised limit for external debt) each year and to keep it under review.  In line 

Page 46



with statutory guidance, a lower “operational boundary” is also set as a warning 
level should debt approach the limit.

 
Table 8: Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Limit Limit Limit Limit Limit
£m £m £m £m £m

Total Authorised Limit for Debt and 
Other Liabilities 510.000 540.000 570.000 595.000 605.000

Split: Debt 353.299 380.460 414.933 443.945 458.278
Other Liabilities 156.701 159.540 155.067 151.055 146.722

Total Operational Boundary for Debt 490.000 520.000 550.000 575.000 585.000
Split: Debt 333.299 360.460 394.933 423.945 438.278

Other Liabilities 156.701 159.540 155.067 151.055 146.722

Authorised limit and operational 
boundary 

29 Further details on borrowing are available within the treasury management strategy 
at Annex 2 below.

Treasury Investment strategy: 
30 Treasury investments arise from receiving cash before it is paid out again.  

Investments made for service reasons or for pure financial gain are not generally 
considered to be part of treasury management however DLUHC guidance requires 
that a non treasury management Investment Strategy is maintained and can be 
included as part of the Treasury Management Strategy.

31 The Council’s policy on treasury investments is to prioritise security and liquidity 
over yield that is to focus on minimising risk rather than maximising returns. Cash 
that is likely to be spent in the near term is invested securely, for example with the 
government, other local authorities or selected high-quality banks, to minimise the 
risk of loss. Money that will be held for longer terms is invested more widely, 
including in bonds, shares and property, to balance the risk of loss against the risk 
of receiving returns below inflation. 

32 Both near-term and longer-term investments may be held in pooled funds, where 
an external fund manager makes decisions on which particular investments to buy.  
The Council may request its money back at short notice, however the business 
model is to hold money in strategic pooled funds for the longer term, for a period of 
at least five years.  

Table 9: Treasury Manasgement Investments
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Near-term investments 220.2 163.6 99.8 54.7 21.4
Longer-term investments 132.7 125.0 125.0 125.0 125.0
TOTAL 352.9 288.6 224.8 179.7 146.4

Treasury Management Investments

Risk management:
33 The effective management and control of risk are prime objectives of the Council’s 

treasury management activities. The treasury management strategy therefore sets 
out various indicators and limits to constrain the risk of unexpected losses and 
details the extent to which financial derivatives may be used to manage treasury 

Page 47



risks.  Further details on treasury deposits are within the Treasury Management 
and Investment strategy, Annex 2.

Governance: 
34 Decisions on treasury management deposits and borrowing are made daily and 

are therefore delegated to the Section 151 Officer and staff, who must act in line 
with the treasury management strategy approved annually by Council in February.  
Regular reports on treasury management activity are presented to Audit and 
Governance Committee.  The Audit and Governance Committee is responsible for 
scrutinising treasury management decisions.

Investments for Service Purposes

35 The Council can make investments to assist local public services; this could include 
making loans to local service providers, small businesses to promote economic 
growth and Council subsidiaries that provide services.  In light of the public service 
objective, the Council is willing to take more risk than with treasury investments, 
however, should these types of investments be made the objective would be for 
such investments to break even after all costs.

Governance: 
36 Decisions on service investments are made by the relevant service manager in 

consultation with the Section 151 Officer and must meet the criteria and limits laid 
down in Accounting Regulations and the Treasury Management and Investment 
Strategy.  Most loans and shares are capital expenditure and significant purchases 
will be approved as part of the capital programme.

37 Further details on service investments are within the Treasury Management and 
Investment Strategy, Annex 10.

Commercial Activities

38 With central government financial support for local public services declining, many 
local authorities have invested in commercial property for financial gain.  

39 With financial return being the main objective, Council’s will generally accept higher 
risk on commercial investment, in line with business cases, than it would for 
treasury investments. The principal risk exposure includes gaps in rental income, 
falls in capital value, delays in occupation.  Should the Council choose to pursue 
commercial activities, the risks will be managed in line with a comprehensive 
business case.

Governance: 
40 Decisions on commercial investments will be made by the Section 151 Officer in 

line with the criteria and limits approved by full Council in the Treasury Management 
and Investment Strategy.  Property and most other commercial investments are 
also capital expenditure and purchases will therefore also be approved as part of 
the capital programme.

41 Further details on commercial activities are within the Treasury Management and 
Investment Strategy, Annex 2.

Page 48



Liabilities

42 In addition to the debt detailed above, the Council is committed to making future 
payments to cover its pension fund deficit and has also set aside money to cover 
risks of major provisions.  

Governance:
43 Any new discretional liabilities are fully reviewed before any commitment is taken 

as part of the MTFS process.  A full risk register is maintained and monitored to 
ensure that the risk of liabilities crystallising and requiring payment is fully 
monitored and reported.

Revenue Budget Implications

44 Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the revenue budget, interest 
payable on loans and MRP payments are charged to revenue, offset by any 
investment income receivable.  The net annual charge is known as financing costs; 
this is compared to the net revenue stream i.e. the amount funded from Council 
Tax, business rates and general government grants.  The reason for the large 
increase is the Waste contract liability.

 
Table 10: Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Proportion of Financing Costs to Net 
Revenue Stream 5.20% 5.13% 5.32% 5.61% 5.86%

* £6.5m of the increase in financing costs in 2022/23 arises from a change in the accounting for leases 
and does not represent additional cost to the Council

45 Further details on the revenue implications of capital expenditure are within Annex 
8 of the MTFS.

Sustainability: 
46 Due to the very long-term nature of capital expenditure and financing, the revenue 

budget implications of expenditure incurred in the next few years will extend for up 
to 50 years into the future. The Section 151 Officer is satisfied that the proposed 
capital programme is prudent, affordable and sustainable because new schemes 
are robustly challenged through the capital bid process.

Knowledge and Skills

47 The Council employs professionally qualified and experienced staff in senior 
positions with responsibility for making capital expenditure, borrowing and 
investment decisions.  The Council pays for staff to study towards relevant 
professional qualifications.

48 Where Council staff do not have the knowledge and skills required, use is made of 
external advisers and consultants that are specialists in their field. The Council 
currently employs Arlingclose Limited as treasury management advisers.  

49 Asset valuations are co-ordinated internally by the Council’s Valuation Service 
Team, with valuations carried out through a combination of the Council’s internal 

Page 49



valuers and, where necessary, external valuers (RICS qualified). The Valuation 
Service Team ensures all valuations are carried out in accordance with the 
methodologies and bases for estimation set out in the professional standards of 
the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.

Page 50



Annex 2
Treasury Management and Investment Strategy Statement

2022/23 

Introduction

1 Treasury management is the management of the Councils cash flows, borrowing 
and investments, and the associated risks. The Council has borrowed and invested 
substantial sums of money and is therefore exposed to financial risks including the 
loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  The 
successful identification, monitoring and control of financial risk are therefore 
central to the Council’s prudent financial management. 

2 Treasury risk management at the Council is conducted within the framework of the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management in 
the Public Services: Code of Practice 2020 Edition (the CIPFA Code) which 
requires the Council to approve a treasury management strategy before the start 
of each financial year. This report fulfils the Council’s legal obligation under the 
Local Government Act 2003 to have regard to the CIPFA Code.

3 Investments held for service purposes or for commercial profit are considered 
within this Strategy as per DLUHC guidance.

External Context

Economic background
4 The ongoing impact on the UK from coronavirus, together with higher inflation, the 

likelihood of higher interest rates, and the country’s trade position post-Brexit, will 
be major influences on the Council’s treasury management strategy for 2022/23.

  
5 The Bank of England (BoE) increased Bank Rate to 0.25% in December 2021 while 

maintaining its Quantitative Easing programme at £895 billion. The Monetary Policy 
Committee (MPC) voted 8-1 in favour of raising rates, and unanimously to maintain 
the asset purchase programme. Within the announcement the MPC noted that the 
pace of the global recovery was broadly in line with its November Monetary Policy 
Report. Prior to the emergence of the Omicron coronavirus variant, the Bank also 
considered the UK economy to be evolving in line with expectations, however the 
increased uncertainty and risk to activity the new variant presents, the Bank revised 
down its estimates for Q4 GDP growth to 0.6% from 1.0%. Inflation was projected 
to be higher than previously forecast, with CPI likely to remain above 5% 
throughout the winter and peak at 6% in April 2022. The labour market was 
generally performing better than previously forecast and the BoE now expects the 
unemployment rate to fall to 4% compared to 4.5% forecast previously, but notes 
that Omicron could weaken the demand for labour.

6 UK CPI for November 2021 registered 5.1% year on year, up from 4.2% in the 
previous month. Core inflation, which excludes the more volatile components, rose 
to 4.0% y/y from 3.4%. The most recent labour market data for the three months to 
October 2021 showed the unemployment rate fell to 4.2% while the employment 
rate rose to 75.5%. In October 2021, the headline 3-month average annual growth 
rate for wages were 4.9% for total pay and 4.3% for regular pay. In real terms, after 
adjusting for inflation, total pay growth was up 1.7% while regular pay was up 1.0%. 

Page 51



The change in pay growth has been affected by a change in composition of 
employee jobs, where there has been a fall in the number and proportion of lower 
paid jobs

7 Gross domestic product (GDP) grew by 1.3% in the third calendar quarter of 2021, 
compared to a gain of 5.5% q/q in the previous quarter, with the annual rate slowing 
to 6.6% from 23.6% . The Q3 gain was modestly below the consensus forecast of 
a 1.5% q/q rise. During the quarter activity measures were boosted by sectors that 
reopened following pandemic restrictions, suggesting that wider spending was flat. 
Looking ahead, while monthly GDP readings suggest there had been some 
increase in momentum in the latter part of Q3, Q4 growth is expected to be soft..

Credit Update
8 Since the start of 2021, relatively benign credit conditions have led to credit default 

swap (CDS) prices for the larger UK banks to remain low and have steadily edged 
down throughout the year to almost pre-pandemic levels. The improved economic 
outlook during 2021 helped bank profitability and reduced the level of impairments 
many had made as provisions for bad loans. However, the relatively recent removal 
of coronavirus-related business support measures by the government means the 
full impact on bank balance sheets may not be known for some time.

9 The improved economic picture during 2021 led the credit rating agencies to reflect 
this in their assessment of the outlook for the UK sovereign as well as several 
financial institutions, revising them from negative to stable and even making a 
handful of upgrades.

10 Looking ahead, while there is still the chance of bank losses from bad loans as 
government and central bank support is removed, the institutions on the Council’s 
counterparty list are well-capitalised and general credit conditions across the sector 
are expected to remain benign. Duration limits for counterparties on the Council’s 
lending list are under regular review and will continue to reflect economic conditions 
and the credit outlook.

Interest Rate Forecast

11 The Council’s treasury advisors, Arlingclose, is forecasting that Bank Rate will 
continue to rise in calendar Q1 2022 to subdue inflationary pressures and the 
perceived desire by the BoE to move away from emergency levels of interest rates.

12 Investors continue to price in multiple rises in Bank Rate over the next forecast 
horizon, and Arlingclose believes that although interest rates will rise again, the 
increases will not be to the extent predicted by financial markets. In the near-term, 
the risks around Arlingclose’s central case are to the upside while over the medium-
term the risks become more balanced.

13 Yields are expected to remain broadly at current levels over the medium-term, with 
the 5, 10 and 20 year gilt yields expected to average around 0.65%, 0.9%, and 
1.15% respectively. The risks around the short and medium-term yields are initially 
to the upside but shifts lower later, while for long-term yields the risk is to the upside. 
As ever, there will almost certainly be short-term volatility due to economic and 
political uncertainty and events.

Page 52



14 A more detailed economic and interest rate forecast provided by Arlingclose is 
attached at Appendix A.

Local Context

15 At 31st March 2021 the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes 
as measured by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is £454.4million, while 
usable reserves and working capital which are the underlying resources available 
for investment were £388.8 million. This is set out in further detail at Appendix B.  
Forecast changes in these sums are shown in the balance sheet analysis in table 
1 below.

16 As at 31st March 2021 the Council had £261.8 million of external borrowing, a 
£156.7 million lease liability (including PFI and the Waste liability) and £341.1 
million of internal investments. This is set out in further detail at Appendix B, and 
forecasts changes in these sums are shown in the balance sheet analysis at Table 
1 below. 

17 The Council’s current strategy is to maintain borrowing and investments below their 
underlying levels, sometimes known as internal borrowing.  CIPFA’s Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities recommends that the Council’s total 
debt should be lower than its highest forecast CFR over the next three years.  Table 
1 shows that the Council expects to comply with this recommendation during 
2022/23. 

 

Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary and Forecast
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
General Fund CFR 454.396 471.509 517.326 542.469 556.881
Less: Other debt liabilities 156.701 159.540 155.067 151.055 146.722
Loans CFR 297.694 311.969 362.259 391.414 410.159
Less: External borrowing 261.823 246.678 239.778 231.778 225.278
Internal (over) borrowing 35.871 65.291 122.481 159.636 184.881
Less: Balance Sheet Resources 388.803 354.200 347.300 341.300 335.300
(Investments) or New borrowing (352.932) (288.909) (224.819) (181.664) (150.419)

Balance Sheet Summary

* leases and PFI liabilities that form part of the Council’s total debt
** shows only loans to which the Council is committed and excludes optional refinancing

Liability benchmark

18 To compare the Council’s actual borrowing against an alternative strategy, a liability 
benchmark has been calculated and presented in the Capital Strategy, showing 
the lowest risk level of borrowing. This benchmark is currently -£42.2 million and is 
forecast to rise to £78.9 million over the next three years as the Council seeks to 
hold new capital borrowing requirements internally.

Borrowing Strategy

19 The total borrowing requirement at the end of 2021/22 is forecast to be £471.5 
million (equivalent to the CFR).  This is financed by historic external and a lease 
liability.  The Council’s aim is to both repay maturing debt, and where possible 
some of the existing debt when opportunities to do this arise. The Council also 

Page 53



considers new borrowing where it can be shown to be prudent and financial 
beneficial to do so.  In 2021/22 £15.1 million maturing external debt was repaid with 
£6.9 million being forecast to be repaid in 2022/23.

20 The Councils chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an appropriately 
low risk balance between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty 
over the period for which funds are required.  The flexibility to renegotiate loans 
should the Councils long-term plans change is a secondary objective.

21 The Councils borrowing strategy continues to address the key issue of affordability 
without compromising the longer-term stability of the debt portfolio. With short-term 
interest rates currently much lower than long-term rates, it is likely that in the event 
that the Council needed to borrow it would be more cost effective in the short-term 
to either use internal resources, or to borrow short-term loans instead.  

22 By doing so, the Council is able to reduce net borrowing costs (despite foregone 
investment income) and reduce overall treasury risk. Whilst such a strategy is most 
likely to be beneficial over the next 2-3 years as official interest rates remain low, it 
is unlikely to be sustained in the medium-term.  The benefits of internal borrowing 
will be monitored regularly against the potential for incurring additional costs by 
deferring borrowing into future years when long-term borrowing rates are forecast 
to rise modestly.  Arlingclose will assist the Council with this ‘cost of carry’ and 
breakeven analysis. 

23 The Council may borrow short-term loans (normally for up to three month) to cover 
unexpected cash flow shortages.

Sources of Borrowing and Portfolio Implications

24 The approved sources of long-term and short-term borrowing are:

 HM Treasury’s Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) lending facility (PWLB 
loans are no longer available to local authorities planning to buy 
investment assets primarily for yield; the Council intends to avoid this 
activity in order to retain its access to PWLB loans).

 UK local authorities
 any institution approved for investments (see below)
 any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK
 any other UK public sector body
 UK public and private sector pension funds (except Gloucestershire 

Pension Fund)
 capital market bond investors
 UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose companies 

created to enable local Council bond issues

25 Capital finance may also be raised by the following methods that are not borrowing, 
but may be classed as other debt liabilities:

 leasing
 hire purchase
 Private Finance Initiative 

Page 54



 sale and leaseback.

26 The Council has previously raised the majority of its long-term borrowing from the 
PWLB, but it continues to investigate other sources of finance, such as local 
Council loans, the UK Municipal Bonds Agency and bank loans, that may be 
available at more favourable rates.  The UK Municipal Bonds Agency is a more 
complicated source of finance so any decision to borrow from this source will be 
the subject of a separate report to Audit and Governance Committee.  

27 The Council holds £33.050 million of Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option (LOBO) 
loans where the lender has the option to propose an increase in the interest rate 
as set dates, following which the Council has the option to either accept the new 
rate or to repay the loan at no additional cost.  All of these LOBO’s have options 
during 2022/23, however lenders are unlikely to exercise their options in the current 
low interest rate environment. The situation with these LOBOs will be kept under 
regular review and the Council will take the option to repay LOBO loans at no cost 
if it has the opportunity to do so.  Previously a further £8.0 million of loans with 
Barclays were classified as LOBOs, however Barclays have now fixed the interest 
rates on these loans until maturity. These are now classified as fixed rate market 
loans.

28 Short-term and variable rate loans leave the Council exposed to the risk of short-
term interest rate rises and are therefore subject to interest rate exposure limits in 
the treasury management indicators below.  Financial derivatives may be used to 
manage this interest rate risk (see Financial Derivatives section below).

Debt Rescheduling

29 The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before maturity and either pay a 
premium or receive a discount according to a set formula based on current interest 
rates.  Some bank lenders may also be prepared to negotiate premature 
redemption terms. The Council may take advantage of this and replace some loans 
with new loans, or repay loans without replacement, where this is expected to lead 
to an overall saving or reduction in risk.

30 Borrowing and rescheduling activity will be reported to the Audit and Governance 
Committee in the Annual Treasury Management Report, the Mid Year Report and 
any other treasury management reports presented to Audit & Governance 
Committee.

Treasury Investment Strategy

31 The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income received in 
advance of expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  During 2021/22 the 
Council’s internal treasury investment balance has ranged between £304.5 million 
and £371.3 million.  Balances are expected to start falling as internal borrowing 
starts to become a feature of future years.

32 The CIPFA Code requires the Council to invest its treasury funds prudently, and to 
have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking the 
highest rate of return, or yield.  The Council’s objective when investing money is to 
strike an appropriate balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of 

Page 55



incurring losses from defaults and the risk receiving unsuitably low investment 
income.  Where balances are expected to be invested for more than one year, the 
Council will aim to achieve a total return that is equal or higher than the prevailing 
rate of inflation, in order to maintain the spending power of the sum invested.

33 Rates from traditional treasury investments in banks, building societies and with 
other local authorities have been at an all time low during 2021/22.   To add value 
to the portfolio the Council has continued to diversify into more secure and / or 
higher yielding asset classes and this is expected to continue during 2022/23.  This 
is especially the case for funds available for longer-term investment. The pie chart 
below shows how the Councils surplus cash is currently invested.

UK Banks
17%

Local Authorities
33%

MMF+
5%

MMFs
20%

Long Dated 
Funds
16%

Property Fund
9%

Investments as at 23/11/21

34 Under the IFRS 9 standard, the accounting for certain investments depends on the 
Council’s “business model” for managing them. The Council aims to achieve value 
from its internally managed treasury investments by a business model of collecting 
the contractual cash flows and therefore, where other criteria are also met, these 
investments will continue to be accounted for at amortised cost.

35 The Council money held in long dated funds and property funds (strategic pooled 
funds) is considered to be long term investments due to the fluctuations that occur 
in the underlying capital value of the deposits.  The Council will hold these deposits 
for at least five years and will not mature these deposits unless the capital value is 
close to the original principal value deposited.  All of the strategic pooled funds held 
provide regular dividend income to the Council.

36 The Council may invest its surplus funds with any of the counterparty types in table 
2 below, subject to the cash limits (per counterparty), the time limits shown and the 
Responsible Investment Policy incorporated as part of the Treasury Management 
Policies.

Table 2: Approved Investment Counterparties 

Page 56



 

Sector  Time limit Counterparty 
limit Sector limit

The UK Government  50 years Unlimited n/a
Local authorities & other government entities 25 years £15m  Unlimited
Secured investments * 25 years £30m  Unlimited
Banks (unsecured) * 13 months £15m Unlimited
Building societies (unsecured) * 13 months £15m £30m
Registered providers (unsecured) *  5 years £15m £30m
Money market funds * n/a £30m / fund Unlimited
Strategic pooled funds n/a £30m / fund £150m
Real estate investment trusts n/a £30m £30m
Other investments * 5 years £15m £30m

* Minimum credit rating: Treasury investments in the sectors marked with an asterisk will only be made with 
entities whose lowest published long-term credit rating is no lower than A-

37 Table 2 should be read in conjunction with the notes below:

 Credit Rating: 
Investment limits are set by reference to the lowest published long-term credit 
rating from a selection of external rating agencies. Where available, the credit 
rating relevant to the specific investment or class of investment is used, 
otherwise the counterparty credit rating is used. However, investment decisions 
are never made solely based on credit ratings, and all other relevant factors 
including external advice will be taken into account.

For entities without published credit ratings, investments may be made either 
(a) where external advice indicates the entity to be of similar credit quality; or 
(b) to a maximum of £100,000 per counterparty as part of a diversified pool e.g. 
via a peer-to-peer platform.

 Government: 
Loans, bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by national governments, regional 
and local authorities and multilateral development banks. These investments 
are not subject to bail-in, and there is generally a lower risk of insolvency, 
although they are not zero risk. Investments with the UK Central Government 
may be made in unlimited amounts for up to 50 years.

 Secured Investments: 
These investments are secured on the borrower’s assets, which limits the 
potential losses in the event of insolvency.  Where there is no investment 
specific credit rating, but the collateral upon which the investment is secured 
has a credit rating, the highest of the collateral credit rating and the counterparty 
credit rating will be used to determine cash and time limits.  The combined 
secured and unsecured investments in any one bank will not exceed the cash 
limit for secured investments.

 Banks and Building Societies Unsecured: 
Accounts, deposits, certificates of deposit and senior unsecured bonds with 
banks and building societies, other than multilateral development banks.  These 
investments are subject to the risk of credit loss via a bail-in should the regulator 
determine that the bank is failing or likely to fail.

Page 57



 Registered Providers (unsecured): 
Loans and bonds issued by, guaranteed by or secured on the assets of 
registered providers of social housing and registered social landlords, formerly 
known as housing associations.  These bodies are regulated by the Regulator 
of Social Housing (in England). As providers of public services, they retain the 
likelihood of receiving government support if needed.  

 Money market funds: 
Pooled funds that offer same-day or short notice liquidity and very low or no 
price volatility by investing in short-term money markets. They have the 
advantage over bank accounts of providing wide diversification of investment 
risks, coupled with the services of a professional fund manager in return for a 
small fee. Although no sector limit applies to money market funds, the Council 
will take care to diversify its liquid investments over a variety of providers to 
ensure access to cash at all times.

 Strategic Pooled Funds: 
Bond, equity and property funds offer enhanced returns over the longer term 
but are more volatile in the short term.  These allow the Council to diversify into 
asset classes other than cash without the need to own and manage the 
underlying investments. Because these funds have no defined maturity date, 
but are available for withdrawal after a notice period, their performance and 
continued suitability in meeting the Council’s investment objectives will be 
monitored regularly.  These accounts are treated as long term investments due 
to the variability of the capital value of the investment and will be held for a 
period of at least 5 years.

 Real estate investment trusts: 
Shares in companies that invest mainly in real estate and pay the majority of 
their rental income to investors in a similar manner to pooled property funds. As 
with property funds, REITs offer enhanced returns over the longer term, but are 
more volatile especially as the share price reflects changing demand for the 
shares as well as changes in the value of the underlying properties.  
Investments in REIT shares cannot be withdrawn but can be sold on the stock 
market to another investor.

 Other investments: 
This category covers treasury investments not listed above, for example 
unsecured corporate bonds and company loans. Non-bank companies cannot 
be bailed-in but can become insolvent placing the Council’s investment at risk. 

 Operational bank accounts: 
The Council may incur operational exposures, for example though current 
accounts, and merchant acquiring services, to any UK bank with credit ratings 
no lower than BBB- and with assets greater than £25 billion.  These are not 
classed as investments but are still subject to the risk of a bank bail-in, and 
balances will therefore be kept to a minimum.  The Bank of England has stated 
that in the event of failure, banks with assets greater than £25 billion are more 
likely to be bailed-in than made insolvent, increasing the chance of the Council 
maintaining operational continuity.

 Risk assessment and credit ratings: 

Page 58



Credit ratings are obtained and monitored by the Council’s treasury advisers, 
who will notify changes in ratings as they occur. The credit rating agencies in 
current use are listed in the Treasury Management Practices document. Where 
an entity has its credit rating downgraded so that it fails to meet the approved 
investment criteria then:

 no new investments will be made,
 any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be, 
 full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other existing 

investments with the affected counterparty.

Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on review for possible 
downgrade (also known as “negative watch”) so that it may fall below the approved 
rating criteria, then only investments that can be withdrawn will be made with that 
organisation until the outcome of the review is announced.  This policy will not apply 
to negative outlooks, which indicate a long-term direction of travel rather than an 
imminent change of rating.

Other information on the security of investments: 

The Council understands that credit ratings are good, but not perfect, predictors of 
investment default.  Full regard will therefore be given to other available information 
on the credit quality of the organisations in which it invests, including credit default 
swap prices, financial statements, information on potential government support, 
reports in the quality financial press and analysis and advice from the Council’s 
treasury management adviser.  No investments will be made with an organisation if 
there are substantive doubts about its credit quality, even though it may otherwise 
meet the above criteria.

38 When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of all 
organisations, as happened in 2008 and 2020, this is not generally reflected in 
credit ratings, but can be seen in other market measures.  In these circumstances, 
the Council will restrict its investments to those organisations of higher credit quality 
and reduce the maximum duration of its investments to maintain the required level 
of security.  The extent of these restrictions will be in line with prevailing financial 
market conditions. If these restrictions mean that insufficient commercial 
organisations of high credit quality are available to invest the Council’s cash 
balances, then the surplus will be deposited with the UK Government or with other 
local authorities.  This will cause a reduction in the level of investment income 
earned but will protect the principal sum invested.

Investment Limits

39 The Council’s holds general revenue reserves which would be available to cover 
investment losses.  However, in order to limit this risk, in the case of a single default, 
the maximum that will be lent to any one organisation (other than the UK 
Government) will be £30.0 million.  Limits will also be placed on fund managers, 
investments in brokers’ nominee accounts, foreign countries and industry sectors 
as below.  Investments in pooled funds and multilateral development banks do not 
count against the limit for any single foreign country, since the risk is diversified 
over many countries.

Table 3: Investment Limits

Page 59



Cash limit

Any group of pooled funds under the same management
£60m per 
manager

Negotiable instruments held in a broker’s nominee 
account

£30m per 
broker

Foreign countries
£30m per 
country

Liquidity management: 
40 The Council uses cash flow forecasting to determine the maximum period for which 

funds may prudently be committed.  The forecast is compiled on a prudent basis to 
minimise the risk of the Council being forced to borrow on unfavourable terms to 
meet its financial commitments.  Limits on long-term investments are set by 
reference to the Council’s medium-term financial plan and cash flow forecast.

41 The Council will spread its liquid cash over at least three providers (e.g. bank 
accounts and money market funds) to ensure that access to cash is maintained in 
the event of operational difficulties at any one provider.

Treasury Management Indicators

42 The Council measures and manages its exposures to treasury management risks 
using the following indicators.

43 Security: The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to credit 
risk by monitoring the value-weighted average credit rating of its investment 
portfolio.  This is calculated by applying a score to each investment (AAA=1, 
AA+=2, etc.) and taking the arithmetic average, weighted by the size of each 
investment. Unrated investments are assigned a score based on their perceived 
risk.

Credit risk indicator Target
Portfolio average credit rating A-

44 Liquidity: The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to liquidity 
risk by monitoring the amount of cash available to meet unexpected payments 
within a rolling three-month period, without additional borrowing.

Liquidity risk indicator Target
Total cash available within 3 months £50m

45 Interest rate exposures: This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to 
interest rate risk.  The upper limits on the one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise or 
fall in interest rates will be:

Interest rate risk indicator Limit
Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise / fall in 
interest rates £853,000

Page 60



46 The impact of a change in interest rates is calculated on the assumption that 
maturing loans and investments will be replaced at new market rates.

47 Maturity structure of borrowing: This indicator is set to control the Council’s 
exposure to refinancing risk. The upper and lower limits on the maturity structure 
of borrowing will be:

Refinancing rate risk indicator Upper limit Lower limit
Under 12 months 25% 0%
12 months and within 24 months 25% 0%
24 months and within 5 years 50% 0%
5 years and within 10 years 100% 0%
10 years and above 100% 0%

48 Time periods start on the first day of each financial year. The maturity date of 
borrowing is the earliest date on which the lender can demand repayment. 

49 Principal sums invested for periods longer than a year: The purpose of this 
indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses by 
seeking early repayment of its investments.  The limits on the long-term principal 
sum invested to final maturities beyond the period end will be:

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Upper Limit for total principal sums 
invested over 364 days 200.000132.700 200.000 200.000 200.000

The Council’s Approach to Responsible Investment

50 Following the Motion agreed by Council in November 2019 the Council has 
developed and implemented a Responsible Investment Policy, which rules out new 
investments in pooled funds that invest in fossil fuel companies. 

51 For future Treasury Management investment the Council will follow the approach 
below. 

i. For direct investments, the Council will seek to ensure that counterparties 
(excluding the UK Government and other UK Local Authorities) have no 
direct investment in Fossil Fuel companies prior to investing.

ii. For additional investments into Pooled Funds the Council will seek to 
ensure that any fund used does not have direct exposure to Fossil Fuel 
investments prior to investing.

Non Treasury Investment Strategy

52 The Council invests its money for three broad purposes:
 because it has surplus cash as a result of its day-to-day activities, for 

example when income is received in advance of expenditure (known as 
treasury management investments),

 to support local public services by lending to or buying shares in other 

Page 61



organisations (service investments), and
 to earn investment income (known as commercial investments where 

this is the main purpose).

53 This section of the report is concerned with meeting the requirements of statutory 
guidance issued by the government in January 2018 and focuses on the second 
and third of these categories, service and commercial investments. 

Service Investments: Loans

54 The Council can lend money to support local public services and stimulate local 
economic growth.  The Council does not currently have any service investments.

Service Investments: Shares

55 The Council holds shares costing £1 in Ubico Ltd. The fair value of the council’s 
interest in the company at 31st March 2022 is considered to be nil, since it is a 
wholly local authority owned not-for-profit ‘Teckal’ company.  As a ‘Teckal’ 
company it is treated as if it were an in-house department and the shareholder 
councils are able to enter into service contracts with the company without 
undertaking an EU compliant procurement process.

Commercial Investments: Property

56 The Council has not invested in Commercial Property to date.  Should the Council 
invest in property and in accordance with government guidance, the Council 
considers a property investment to be secure if its accounting valuation is at or 
higher than its purchase cost including taxes and transaction costs.

57 The Council will assess the risk of loss before entering into and whilst holding 
property investments by producing a comprehensive business plan and monitoring 
performance on an ongoing basis.

Loan Commitments and Financial Guarantees

58 Although not strictly counted as investments, since no money has exchanged 
hands yet, loan commitments and financial guarantees carry similar risks to the 
Council and are included here for completeness.  The Council has guaranteed to 
cover the liabilities associated with the pensions of ex- employees following the 
transfers of council services to external bodies.  These arrangements are 
monitored and assessed to ensure that any provision for possible liabilities are 
made and included within the Statement of Accounts.  

Capacity, Skills and Culture

59 The Council provides training from our Treasury Management Advisors to 
members of the Audit and Governance Committee on an annual basis, to ensure 
that they are fully aware of the investments included in the Treasury Management 
Strategy and Investment Strategy.  This training will also cover the requirements of 
the Capital Strategy and the non-Treasury Management investments.  This 

Page 62



ensures that members can take informed decisions on the investments being 
included in the strategies and have the opportunity to challenge their use to ensure 
that they fully understand the implications of the investment.

60 Where commercial deals are to be negotiated, Finance will be involved to ensure 
that the core principles of the prudential framework and of the regulatory regime 
within which local authorities operate is taken into account.

Investment Indicators

61 The Council has set the following quantitative indicators to allow elected members 
and the public to assess the Council’s total risk exposure as a result of its 
investment decisions. 

62 The first indicator shows the Council’s total exposure to potential investment 
losses. This includes amounts the Council is contractually committed to lend but 
have yet to be drawn down and guarantees the Council has issued over third-party 
loans, if any.  It assumes that balances for treasury investments reduce as reserves 
reduce.

63
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Treasury management investments 352.9 288.9 224.8 179.7 146.4
Service investments: Loans 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Commercial investments: Property 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Exposure 352.9 288.9 224.8 179.7 146.4

Total investment exposure

64 Government guidance is that these indicators should include how investments are 
funded. Since the Council does not normally associate particular assets with 
particular liabilities, this guidance is difficult to comply with.  However, the following 
investments could be described as being funded by borrowing.  The remainder of 
the Council’s investments are funded by usable reserves and income received in 
advance of expenditure. 

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Treasury management investments -35.9 -65.3 -122.5 -159.6 -184.9
Commercial investments: Property 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Funded by Borrowing -35.9 -65.3 -122.5 -159.6 -184.9

Investments funded by borrowing

65 Rate of return received: This indicator shows the investment income received less 
the associated costs, including the cost of borrowing where appropriate, as a 
proportion of the sum initially invested. Note that due to the complex local 
government accounting framework, not all recorded gains and losses affect the 
revenue account in the year they are incurred.  Where a negative return is shown, 
this has occurred as costs are greater than investment income received.

Page 63



2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

% % % % %
Treasury management investments 1.53 1.43 1.40 1.40 1.40
Service investments: Loans 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Investments net rate of return

Other items

66 The CIPFA Code requires the Council to include the following in its treasury 
management strategy.

Financial Derivatives 

67 Local authorities have previously made use of financial derivatives embedded into 
loans and investments both to reduce interest rate risk (e.g. interest rate collars 
and forward deals) and to reduce costs or increase income at the expense of 
greater risk (e.g. LOBO loans and callable deposits).  The general power of 
competence in Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 removes much of the uncertainty 
over local authorities’ use of standalone financial derivatives (i.e. those that are not 
embedded into a loan or investment). The CIPFA Code requires authorities to 
clearly detail their policy on the use of derivatives in the annual strategy.

68 The Council will only use standalone financial derivatives (such as swaps, 
forwards, futures and options) where they can be clearly demonstrated to reduce 
the overall level of the financial risks that the Council is exposed to.  Additional risks 
presented, such as credit exposure to derivative counterparties, will be taken into 
account when determining the overall level of risk.  Embedded derivatives, 
including those present in pooled funds and forward starting transactions, will not 
be subject to this policy, although the risks they present will be managed in line 
with the overall treasury risk management strategy.

69 Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that meets 
the approved investment criteria assessed using the appropriate credit rating for 
derivative exposures. An allowance for credit risk calculated using the methodology 
in the Treasury Management Practices document will count against the 
counterparty credit limit and the relevant foreign country limit.

70 In line with the CIPFA Code, the Council will seek external advice and will consider 
that advice before entering into financial derivatives to ensure that it fully 
understands the implications.

Markets in Financial Instruments Directive

71 The Council has opted up to professional client status with its providers of financial 
services, including advisers, banks, brokers and fund managers, allowing it access 
to a greater range of services but without the greater regulatory protections 
afforded to individuals and small companies. Given the size and range of the 
Council’s treasury management activities, this is the most appropriate status.

2022/23 Minimum Revenue Provision Statement

72 Where the Council finances capital expenditure by debt, it must put aside resources 

Page 64



to repay that debt in later years.  The amount charged to the revenue budget for 
the repayment of debt is known as Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), although 
there has been no statutory minimum since 2008.  The Local Government Act 2003 
requires the Council to have regard to MHCLG (now DLUHC) Guidance most 
recently issued in 2018. 

73 The broad aim of the Guidance is to ensure that capital expenditure is financed 
over a period that is either reasonably commensurate with that over which the 
capital expenditure provides benefits, or, in the case of borrowing supported by 
Government Revenue Support Grant, reasonably commensurate with the period 
implicit in the determination of that grant.

74 The Guidance requires the Council to approve an Annual MRP Statement each 
year and recommends a number of options for calculating a prudent amount of 
MRP.  The following statement incorporates the options recommended in the 
Guidance.

75 In line with Council policy on the repayment of debt, and with the continuation of 
capital grants by government, the Council has not borrowed externally to fund the 
capital programme since 2010.  Opportunities are now limited for the repayment of 
debt early due to the low interest rate environment, meaning that high premiums 
would need to be paid should the Council wish to restructure or repay external debt 
early.  Maturing debt will continue to be redeemed over the next few years, and 
where opportunities present to repay internal borrowing this will be by way of a 
voluntary revenue provision.

76 In order to ensure that the MRP charge remains prudent, the Council regularly 
reviews its Capital Financing Requirement.  To reduce the amount of excess MRP 
set aside, the Council changed its policy for supported capital expenditure in 
2015/16.  The method used is similar to other local authorities and sets aside a 
fixed sum of MRP each year. For GCC the fixed sum is currently £6.2 million.  This 
charge still allows for a prudent provision for the repayment of existing debt and 
ensures that Prudential Indicators are not breeched.

77 The asset life of capital assets obtained through the capital programme will form 
the basis of calculating an annual MRP provision for any new borrowing 
requirement going forward.  For any commercial related investments a business 
case review will be carried out and an appropriate provision for the repayment of 
any debt taken, set aside.

78 MRP in respect of PFI and finance leases brought on Balance Sheet under the 
IFRS-based Code of Practice will match the annual principal repayment for the 
associated deferred liability.  Where former operating leases have been brought 
onto the balance sheet on 1st April 2022, due to the adoption of the IFRS 16 Leases 
accounting standard, and the asset values have been adjusted for accruals, 
prepayments, premiums and/or discounts, then the annual MRP charges will be 
adjusted so that the total charge to revenue remains unaffected by the new 
standard.

79 Capital expenditure incurred during 2022/23 will not be subject to a MRP charge 
until 2023/24.

Page 65



26

Appendix   A 

Arlingclose’s Economic and Interest Rate Forecast 

Underlying Assumptions:

 The global recovery from the pandemic has entered a more challenging phase. 
The resurgence in demand has led to the expected rise in inflationary pressure, 
but disrupted factors of supply are amplifying the effects, increasing the likelihood 
of lower growth rates ahead. The advent of the Omicron variant of coronavirus is 
affecting activity and is also a reminder of the potential downside risks.

 Despite relatively buoyant activity survey data, official GDP data indicates that 
growth was weakening into Q4 2021. Other data, however, suggested continued 
momentum, particularly for November. Retail sales volumes rose 1.4%, PMIs 
increased, and the labour market continued to strengthen. The end of furlough did 
not appear to have had a significant impact on unemployment. Wage growth is 
elevated.

 The CPI inflation rate rose to 5.1% for November and will rise higher in the near 
term. While the transitory factors affecting inflation are expected to unwind over 
time, policymakers’ concern is persistent medium term price pressure. 

 These factors prompted the MPC to raise Bank Rate to 0.25% at the December 
meeting. Short term interest rate expectations remain elevated.

Page 66



27

 The outlook, however, appears weaker. Household spending faces pressures 
from a combination of higher prices and tax rises. In the immediate term, the 
Omicron variant has already affected growth – Q4 and Q1 activity could be weak 
at best.

 Longer-term government bond yields remain relatively low despite the more 
hawkish signals from the BoE and the Federal Reserve. Investors are concerned 
that significant policy tightening in the near term will slow growth and prompt the 
need for looser policy later. Geo-political and coronavirus risks are also driving 
safe haven buying. The result is a much flatter yield curve, as short-term yields 
rise even as long-term yields fall. 

 The rise in Bank Rate despite the Omicron variant signals that the MPC will act to 
bring inflation down whatever the environment. It has also made clear its 
intentions to tighten policy further. While the economic outlook will be challenging, 
the signals from policymakers suggest their preference is to tighten policy unless 
data indicates a more severe slowdown.

Forecast: 

 The MPC will want to build on the strong message it delivered this month by 
tightening policy despite Omicron uncertainty.

 Arlingclose therefore expects Bank Rate to rise to 0.50% in Q1 2022, but then 
remain there. Risks to the forecast are initially weighted to the upside, but 
becoming more balanced over time. The Arlingclose central forecast remains 
below the market forward curve.

 Gilt yields will remain broadly flat from current levels. Yields have fallen sharply at 
the longer end of the yield curve, but expectations of a rise in Bank Rate have 
maintained short term gilt yields at higher levels.

 Easing expectations for Bank Rate over time could prompt the yield curve to 
steepen, as investors build in higher inflation expectations.

 The risks around the gilt yield forecasts vary. The risk for short and medium term 
yields is initially on the upside but shifts lower later. The risk for long-term yields 
is weighted to the upside.

Page 67



28

Appendix B 

EXISTING PORTFOLIO PROJECTED FORWARD 

Page 68



29

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 21st January 2022 Agenda No: 8

Title of Report: Annual Governance Statement 2020/21 improvement plan progress update

Purpose of Report:  To update and provide assurance to the Audit & Governance Committee 
(AGC) on progress with the issues raised by the Annual Governance 
Statement (AGS) improvement plan 2020/21.

Recommendations: It is recommended that the Committee:

 Reviews the progress reported against key issues identified, and 
considers any further assurance they would like to see as we prepare 
the AGS for the current year 2021/22.

Officer (s) Contact: Darren Skinner - Head of Planning, Performance & Improvement
Tel: 01452 324048
darren.skinner2@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Rob Ayliffe – Director: Policy, Performance & Governance
Tel: 01452 328506
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver an effective corporate governance framework prevents
the Council in directing and controlling its resources effectively and
efficiently, to enable the Council’s priorities and objectives to be met.

Context  Through the Council’s Constitution, the Audit and Governance 
Committee has responsibility for review and approval of the Statement 
and to be provided with the assurance that any improvement actions 
identified are implemented.

 The AGS for 2020/21 was signed off by the committee in September 
2021, with a re-signed version in December 2021 alongside the 
Statement of Accounts. This statement included an action plan of seven 
key issues which had been identified for specific improvement work.

 The table attached below contains assurance updates from the relevant 
Corporate Leadership Team owner of each action. Comments or 
requests for further assurance are invited from the committee and will be 
fed back to action owners (where they are not able to attend in person).

 Collation of the 2021/22 AGS runs from January to May 2021 and the 
Committee’s comments will also be fed into that process.

Page 71

Agenda Item 8

mailto:theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Annual Governance Statement 2020-21 Update for January 2022 Audit & Governance Committee 
 

 
Governance matters identified 

Target 
Date 

Lead Officer 

1 Ofsted Inspection of Children’s Services 
 
Actions in response 

• Accelerated Improvement Plan – this provides the framework for all improvement activity. 

• Quality Assurance and Performance Management – enables managers to understand 
impact and quality. 

• Essentials 2.0/3.0 Training Programmes – equips SW practitioners with core skills. 

• Team Improvement Programme – targets underperforming teams identified through 
QA/Performance. 

• Initial Phase of Systemic Practice Training - first cohort now underway. 

• Continued development of our recruitment and retention offer. 

• Sufficiency Strategy – currently being revised to further enhance placement options. 
 
 
Position as at December 2021 

➢ The quality of social work practice remains a key issue in terms of achieving an Ofsted 
judgement of ‘requires improvement’ or better, either of which would represent reasonable 
progress and cease to be a significant regulatory and reputational risk for GCC. Our 
Focused Visit in October 2020 reported good progress, noting a significant increase in the 
pace of improvement over the prior 18 months. More recently, the enduring impact of Covid 
on practitioners and the families they are working with has impaired the pace and 
consistency of improvement.  CS SLT, supported by corporate colleagues, have taken 
assertive action to address matters focused, in the main, on stabilising our workforce to 
ensure a continuity of provision for children and families.  An extensive case file screening 
exercise has also been completed as part of our Ofsted preparations, acknowledging the 
impact that staff churn can have on case recording.  As such, the service remains very 
much in response rather than recovery mode. 
  

➢ After a prolonged decline, our agency workforce has increased recently and now stands at 
circa 20%, whereas three years ago it was 50%.  We have also experienced particular 
difficulties in recruiting into safeguarding teams over recent months, which has required a 

 

Director of 
Children’s 

Services (DCS) - 
Chris Spencer 

P
age 73



Annual Governance Statement 2020-21 Update for January 2022 Audit & Governance Committee 
 

differentiated approach to recruitment and retention in those teams.  This appears to be 
stabilising the situation. Our “grow your own” strategy towards workforce development is 
now well embedded. The Social Work Academy is also playing a key role in ensuring we 
are able to support ongoing cohorts of students, ASYE and newly qualified practitioners as 
well as shifting the focus of attention towards retention of those new to profession and the 
more experienced staff. Covid has also impacted here in limiting the scope of delivery, 
which has necessarily had to shift to virtual platforms, thereby limiting group sizes.  The 
Academy will continue to broaden its remit to include other “hard to recruit” specialist staff 
such as Educational Psychologists and highly specialised teachers of the deaf, visually 
impaired and deaf/blind.   

 
➢ After a period in which the proportion of “inadequate practice” identified through case file 

auditing had been in single figures and on target, we have recently seen an increase in the 
proportion of inadequate audits. The longer-term trend remains positive, but the focus has 
returned to understanding and reducing “inadequate” casework, along with shifting a 
significant proportion of “requires improvement” casework into “good”, which now stands at 
consistently over 30%. The Social Work Academy training, such as our practice 
fundamentals, plus targeted leadership interventions are key to continuous improvement as 
is our Accelerated Improvement Plan.  

 
➢ Childrens Social Care has continued to experience significant costs pressures during 

2020/21, with an overspend at year end of £10.77 M, of which £7.3M is Covid related, 
leaving a net overspend of £3.47M  at year end  March 2021. This is due in greater part to 
external placement costs. The High Cost Placements Panel continues to provide a 
mechanism to ensure senior management oversight of individual cases, as has the 
introduction of the Care Ladder, particularly in terms of control of spend for the latter. Our 
Sufficiency Strategy sets out our longer-term vision to ensure good quality care provision is 
available for all our children and young people.  
 

➢ The opening of Trevone House during 2020/21 has allowed us to effectively enter the 
market in partnership with a charitable partner - the Shaw Trust.   Proposed developments 
for the coming year include local mother and baby provision and the provision of life long 
facilities for some of our most vulnerable and complex young people.  Both will be key 

P
age 74



Annual Governance Statement 2020-21 Update for January 2022 Audit & Governance Committee 
 

elements in realising our longer-term ambition of creating good quality, local placements 
that meet the needs of children and young people. 

2 Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS)  
 
Actions in response 
 

• The introduction of a quarterly Community Safety Directorate Finance, Performance & Risk 
meeting.  

• The work of the Improvement Board, overseeing completion of 118 audit 
recommendations.  

• The revision and improvement of risk management reporting. 

• The establishment of clear delegations including the introduction of officer delegations for 
accountability and business continuity.  

• The establishment of a portfolio management office and improved programme and project 
management to work and improvements across the directorate 

• Positive direction of travel identified by internal audit and regulatory bodies e.g. HMICFRS 
and the Human Tissue Act (HTA). 

• Strengthened procurement compliance through dedicated professional resource. 

• The development of a 3 year improvement strategy and detailed plans including themes, 
priorities, risk assessments.  

 
Position as at December 2021 

 
This is an ongoing development journey. The actions in the 6 months since the AGS 20/21 are:  
 
➢ HMICFRS have competed their 2021 inspection and their findings will be reported in Spring 

2022. 
➢ The quarterly Community Safety Directorate Finance, Performance and Risk meeting is 

well established and continues. 
➢ Internal audit have reported a positive direction of travel following the completion of the 118 

recommendations. 

 

Chief Fire Officer 
- 

Mark Preece 

P
age 75



Annual Governance Statement 2020-21 Update for January 2022 Audit & Governance Committee 
 

➢ Risk management reporting improvements have been achieved through the development 
of a Corporate Risk Register (CRR) that updates the GFRS Senior Management Board 
quarterly. The officer who manages the CRR is also a member of the wider GCC Risk 
Management Group (RMG). 

➢ Officer delegations for accountability and business continuity have been completed. 
➢ The Portfolio Management Office has been established to manage all improvement 

projects and programmes and is overseen by a high level scrutiny board that has been 
modelled on the audit Improvement Board. 

➢ Procurement compliance has been strengthened by a dedicated professional resource but 
this post is about to become vacant requiring new recruitment. 

➢ A 3 year improvement strategy has been developed and consulted upon. The consultation 
outcomes will be reported imminently, and this will shape the final draft of the plan to be 
published in April 2022 subject to the necessary Cabinet approval. 

 

3 The recruitment and retention of employees in hard to fill, critical positions 
 
Actions in response 

• Ongoing monitoring of key hard to fill positions with comparisons of market rates with 
business cases for additional payments where appropriate 

• Targeted campaigns to attract in specific roles such as qualified social workers, planning 
and legal supplemented by grow our programmes to develop internally 

• HR business partners developing county wide campaign to promote GCC as employer and 
county as place to live 

 
Position as at December 2021 

➢ After an extended period with reduced turnover during the pandemic, recent months have 
been increasingly challenging regard to both recruitment and retention.  Even lower graded 
roles, where generally we have compared well with the market, are not attracting good 
candidates given competition with the struggling hospitality and retail industries.  A new 
R&R strategy paper to be presented to CLT in January. 

 

 

Director of Digital 
and People 
Services - 

Mandy Quayle 

P
age 76



Annual Governance Statement 2020-21 Update for January 2022 Audit & Governance Committee 
 

4 COVID-19 Impact on Governance 
 
Actions in response 

• GOLD and SILVER meetings are continuing, but with slightly reduced frequency and length  

• All formal decision-making meetings (by Cabinet, Council and Committees) continue to 
take place ‘in person’, but with provision for members of the public and others to ‘dial in’ via 
video conference if they are not taking part in the formal decision making. 

• A new and improved process is being rolled out for Business Impact Analysis and Business 
Continuity Planning, building on some of the lessons learnt from the pandemic. 

• Advice continues to be developed and cascaded to managers on working from home safely 
and modifications to office spaces are being made to assist with a permanent move 
towards hybrid and agile working. 

 
Position as at December 2021 

➢ The Council continues to manage the risks and issues arising from the ongoing COVID 
pandemic alongside and on top of ‘business as usual’ activity.  At this stage in the 
pandemic, front-line services and governance have been restored, most to pre-pandemic 
levels.  GOLD and SILVER arrangements have been kept in place to monitor the impact of 
COVID on communities and services and to manage the changing situation and new 
challenges as and when they arise.   For example, we continue to see particular pressures 
on some parts of the Council’s business, and in particular, challenges in securing an 
adequate supply of domiciliary care.  The long-term impact of the pandemic on staff welfare 
and motivation continues to be closely monitored and managed, particularly as workloads 
remain high within teams who are still responding to the pandemic as part of their roles. 

➢ On officer decision-making, since the beginning of the pandemic we have seen a slight 
increase in the number of decisions being taken under urgency procedures as a result of 
grants becoming available and needing to be allocated at short notice.  This also results in 
greater reliance on making direct awards to providers.  Despite this, we continue to publish 
those decisions in the interests of transparency and public accountability, and to ensure 
that Direct Awards are only made where there is sufficient justification and where the 
conditions allowed in the Public Procurement Regulations can be met. 
 

 

Chief Executive – 
Pete Bungard 

P
age 77



Annual Governance Statement 2020-21 Update for January 2022 Audit & Governance Committee 
 

5 ICT Governance – Transformation Roadmap 
Actions in response 

• New ICT model and outsourced provider in place since April 2021 

• Ambitious roadmap to transform our networks, infrastructure, security and user devices 

• Some slippages against ambitious plan, nonetheless good progress resulting largely more 
stable ICT experience for users 

 
Position as at December 2021 

➢ Progress has been made in all areas of the roadmap including upgrading our user devices 
to modern cloud based M365 software, improved cyber security regime and replacing our 
aging county wide and internal networks.  Current plans due to complete in Q4 2021/22 
and Q1 2022/23 with focus on developing and agreeing the next stage of the roadmap by 
April 2022. 

 

 

Director of Digital 
and People 
Services - 

Mandy Quayle 

6 Procurement Transformation 
Actions in response 

• The Procurement Transformation Board was formed in May 2021. 
 
Position as at December 2021 
 
The Board currently has the following workstreams: 
 

➢ Contract procedure rules – the revised contract procedure rules were agreed by Council on 
the 8th December 

➢ Procurement Toolkit – a web based product with the first Tranche of which will be up and 
running by the end Q1 2022 

➢ Updated polices – e.g. Social Value / Sustainability has been agreed by CLT and will be 
coming forward to Cabinet in 2022. Other policies are being updated 

➢ Standard Contracts – the council is working on producing a standard set of contracts that 
can be used to cover many of the standard situations 

➢ Information and Processes – this work includes the way we use contact management 
information, sourcing pools, on and off contract spend anal 
 

 

Executive 
Director for 
Corporate 

Resources - 
Steve Mawson 

P
age 78



Annual Governance Statement 2020-21 Update for January 2022 Audit & Governance Committee 
 

 

7 Gloucestershire Industrial Services (GIS Healthcare) 
 
Actions in response 

• A new GIS Operational Manager was appointed in July 2021. The manager is working 
with support from specialist services within GCC to implement the service and process 
improvements recommended by the Counter Fraud Team audit report shared earlier 
this year.  

• 9 out of the 10 audit recommendations have now been fully actioned and the risks 
identified to GCC mitigated. The outstanding recommendation is partially completed. 
The management team are working with colleagues from property services to mitigate 
the risk in regard to the availability of suitable on site overnight vehicle storage.  

• Early in 2022 a new equipment database will be implemented. The new system will 
provide greater oversights in terms of stock control, real time delivery and collection 
activity and route planning.  

 

Position as at December 2021 
 

Overall, we are satisfied that the risks are now mitigated. There has been a considerable 
amount of work activity over the last 9 months which has resulted in significant progress being 
made. There are strategic plans in place to ensure ongoing improvements to the service over 
the coming year.  

 

 

Executive 
Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Public Health - 

Sarah Scott 

P
age 79



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 21st January 2022 Agenda No: 9

Title of Report: Risk Management Policy Statement & Strategy (RMPS&S) 2022-2025

Purpose of Report:  To inform the Audit & Governance Committee (AGC) of the revised 
RMPS&S for 2022-2025, and invite comment.


Recommendations: It is recommended that the Committee:

 Endorses the revised RMPS&S 2022-2025; and makes any 
recommendations for amendments or improvement.

Officer (s) Contact: Darren Skinner - Head of Planning, Performance & Improvement
Tel: 01452 324048
darren.skinner2@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Rob Ayliffe – Director: Policy, Performance & Governance
Tel: 01452 328506
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks The RMPS&S 2022-2025 is a vital part of the Council’s governance 
framework, and failure to review and update it regularly means it will become 
out of date.
Non-compliance with the Accounts and Audit regulations 2015 and GCCs 
financial regulation C.

Context  The RMPS&S covers a three-year period (the document is attached at 
Appendix A) and is complemented by a three-year Risk Management 
Action Plan, over the same time period.

 There have been no significant changes to the overall risk management 
framework represented in the strategy, but the revised document now 
reflects updated roles and responsibilities, especially in regard to the 
move of Risk Management ownership from Internal Audit (ARA) to the 
Planning, Performance and Change Service. It also reflects some of the 
improvements made recently in the alignment of performance and risk 
information, and the revised role of the GCC Risk Management Group.

 This Risk Management Action Plan 2022-2025 demonstrates our 
acknowledgement of the need to further enhance some of the 
aspirations/expectations included in the RMPS&S.

 An independent Risk Management review is currently being undertaken, 
from which there may be additional actions required. A separate report 
on this review is due to this committee at its next meeting in March 2022. 
Therefore, the RMPS&S, which is usually reviewed and renewed every 
three years, may need to be amended within 2022.

Page 81

Agenda Item 9

mailto:theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



`

Gloucestershire County Council

Risk Management
Policy Statement & Strategy

2022-2025

Page 83



Risk Management Policy Statement

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) recognises that Risk Management is one of the key 
principles of effective Corporate Governance. It is also a key contributor to a sound internal 
control environment as monitored and assessed through the Annual Governance Statement.

The Council seeks to adopt recognised best practice in the identification, evaluation and cost 
effective/proportionate control of risks and opportunities to ensure that they are managed 
effectively. Risk management within GCC is about managing our threats and opportunities and 
striving to create an environment of ‘no surprises’. By managing our threats effectively, we will 
be in a stronger position to deliver our business objectives. By managing our opportunities, we 
will be in a better position to ensure improved services and demonstrate better value for 
money.

Risk is unavoidable. It is an important part of life that allows us all to move forward and 
develop. As an organisation it can impact in many ways, whether financially, politically, on our 
reputation, environmentally or to our service delivery. Successful risk management is about 
ensuring that we have the correct level of control in place to provide sufficient protection from 
harm, without stifling development. As an organisation, with a range of different stakeholders, 
each with differing needs and expectations, this can be a challenge. We must ensure that the 
decisions we take as a Council reflect a consideration of the potential implications for all our 
stakeholders. We must decide whether the benefits of taking our actions outweigh the risks.

The Council’s overriding attitude to risk is to operate in a culture of creativity and innovation, in 
which risks are identified in all areas of the business, are understood and proactively 
managed, rather than avoided.

Risk management therefore needs to be at the heart of the Council and our key partners. We 
need to have the structures and processes in place to ensure the risks and opportunities of 
daily Council activities are identified, assessed and addressed in a standard way.

The Cabinet and the Corporate Leadership Team (CLT) are fully committed to effective risk
management and see it as part of our responsibility to deliver an effective public service to the 
communities within Gloucestershire.

1

Page 84



3

Contents
Our Risk Management Objectives.................................................................................................4
What is the Council’s Risk Appetite?.............................................................................................6
How do we meet our objectives?...................................................................................................6
Monitoring and Review of Risk Management Activities (minimum requirements).........................7
Accountabilities, Roles and Responsibilities .................................................................................9
Risk Management Governance Structure ...................................................................................13

Page 85



4

Our Risk Management Objectives

 To embed effective risk management processes which support informed decision-making which 
is vital to delivering successful services and transformational change.

 Setting the ‘tone from the top’ on the level of risk we are prepared to accept. Understanding our 
‘risk appetite’ and acknowledging that how we ‘think about risk’ will be different depending on 
the context.

 Acknowledging that even with good risk management and our best endeavours, things can go 
wrong. Where this happens, we use the lessons learnt to try to prevent it from happening again.

 Developing leadership capacity and skills to ensure a clear understanding of the risks facing the 
Council and how we manage them.

 Supporting a culture of well-measured risk taking throughout the Council’s business, including 
strategic, programme, partnership, project and operational risks. This includes setting risk 
ownership and accountabilities and responding to risk in a balanced way, considering the level 
of risk, reward, impact and cost of control measures.

 Ensuring that the Council continues to meet all statutory and best practice requirements in 
relation to risk management and continues to be a key and effective contributor to Corporate 
Governance and a satisfactory Annual Governance Statement.

 Ensuring effective monitoring and management information; reporting on the key risks facing the 
Council; and

 Providing good practice tools to support the Council in the management of risks and 
opportunities.

Page 86



6

What is the Council’s Risk Appetite?

There are numerous definitions of organisational ‘risk appetite’, but in simple terms it is 
about how much of what sort of risk an organisation is willing to accept and tolerate.

So why do we need to determine our risk appetite?

If managers are running the business with insufficient guidance on the levels of risk that are 
legitimate for them to take, or not seizing important opportunities due to a perception that taking on 
additional risk is discouraged, then performance will not be maximised. At the other end of the 
scale an organisation constantly erring on the side of caution (or one that has a risk-averse 
culture) is one that is likely to stifle creativity and not necessarily encourage innovation, nor seek to 
exploit opportunities.

The Council’s overall risk appetite is defined as “to be risk aware, not averse, and manage 
our risks”.

A risk appetite framework has been developed and implemented to enable risk judgements to be 
more implicit, transparent and consistent. By enhancing our approach to determining risk appetite 
we are able to raise the Council’s capability to deliver on challenging targets to raise standards, 
improve service quality, system reform and provide more value for money.

This framework must be considered by all levels of the business, from strategic decision making, 
to operational delivery.

How do we meet our objectives?

The Council’s objectives are achieved by:

 Adopting good practice risk management principles, in line with the Institute of Risk 
Management Professional Standards 2015 and the International Risk Management Standard 
(ISO 31000 - 2018). The application of the standards and principles within the Policy and 
Strategy is reviewed annually and amended accordingly to reflect key changes, with a major 
review being undertaken every three years;

 Establishing clear roles and responsibilities and reporting lines within the Council for risk 
management;

 Incorporating risk management into the council’s decision making and strategic management 
processes;

 Incorporating risk management into service/business planning, option appraisals, programme 
and project management, partnerships and procurement processes;

 The provision of risk management training, advice, detailed guidance and support and providing 
opportunities for shared learning; and

 The provision of a risk governance framework to ensure the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
identification, assessment, control, monitoring and review arrangements in place to manage 
risk. The framework will ensure that risk management is dynamic and responsive to change.

Page 87



7

Monitoring and Review of Risk Management Activities 
(minimum requirements)

 A quarterly review of the Strategic Risk Register by the Corporate Leadership Team.

 A quarterly review of service area risks, by service heads, reporting through InPhase.

 A quarterly review of programme/project/partnership risk registers, by project managers.

 A three-yearly review of the corporate Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy, the 
SRMA.

 An annual report on risk management activity, by the SRMA, to AGC.

 An annual review and report on organisational governance, including risk management, which 
feeds into the Annual Governance Statement; and

 Regular review, by internal audit, of risk management effectiveness.

Page 88



9

Accountabilities, Roles and Responsibilities

The key roles and responsibilities are outlined below:

Cabinet/Portfolio Holders

 Endorse the content of the Strategic Risk Register and proposed risk mitigation plans, and 
monitor implementation;

 Be aware of the risk management implications of decisions;
 Monitor key performance results including the annual report on risk management activity; 

and
 Nominate a Lead Member to be responsible for the championing, scrutiny and oversight of 

risk management activities.

Scrutiny

 Ensure that risks and opportunities within their portfolio are identified and effectively 
managed through discussions with Directors and Service Heads;

 Challenge and support the risk management culture across the Vouncil;
 Contribute to the Cabinet review of risk and be proactive in raising risk from the wider 

Gloucestershire area and community; and
 Monitor and challenge key risk controls and actions.

Audit & Governance Committee (AGC)

 Endorse the Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy;
 Provide independent assurance to the Council of the adequacy and effectiveness of the 

risk management arrangements and associated control environment;
 Receive an annual report on risk management activity; and
 Receive the Annual Governance Statement (AGS), and subsequent progress reports

Corporate Leadership Team (CLT)

 Provide corporate leadership of risk management throughout the Council;
 Agree an effective council-wide framework for the management of risks and opportunities;
 Advise Members on effective risk management and ensure Members receive relevant risk 

information;
 Ensure that the council complies with the corporate governance requirements relating to risk 

management;
 Own the council’s Strategic Risk Register and ensure that risks are reviewed as part of the 

wider council’s performance arrangements;
 Ensure that reports to support strategic and/or policy decisions include a risk assessment;
 Monitor the implementation of key mitigation plans and controls assurance programmes;
 Ensure processes are in place to report any perceived new/emerging (key) risks or failures of 

existing control measures; and
 Nominate a Director to be responsible for the championing, scrutiny and oversight of risk 

management activities.

Page 89



1
0

Directors

 Ensure that risk management within their areas of responsibility is implemented in line with the 
council’s Risk Management Policy Statement & Strategy;

 Assist in the preparation of the council’s Annual Governance Statement by providing an 
assurance statement for the internal control framework operating within their service(s);

 Ensure that risks associated with the delivery of outcomes are identified and effectively 
managed by ownership of risk registers, at strategic, service and project levels;

 Ensure regular review of the risk registers as part of wider council performance;
 Challenge relevant Lead Commissioners and Service Heads on relevant risks relating to their 

areas of responsibility;
 Proactively raise risk issues at management team meetings and with Lead Cabinet Members; 

and
 Nominate a risk champion to work alongside the Senior Risk Management Advisor (SRMA) and 

the Risk Management Group (RMG), who will be the key interface in supporting the application 
of risk management principles within their service.

Lead Commissioners/Service Heads

 Ensure that risk management, within their areas of responsibility, is implemented in line with the 
council’s Risk Management Policy Statement & Strategy;

 Own their risk register and identify cross-cutting risks as well as risks arising from their areas of 
responsibility; prioritising and initiating mitigating actions;

 Ensure regular review of the service risk register as part of wider council performance;
Report to Directors on any perceived new and emerging risks or, failures of existing control 
measures;

 Promote and share good practice across service areas;
 Liaise with their directorate risk champion; and
 Challenge risk owners and actions to ensure that controls are operating as intended.

Managers

 Ensure that risk management within their areas of responsibility is implemented in line with the 
council’s Risk Management Policy Statement & Strategy;

 Communicate the risk management arrangements to staff;
 Liaise with their directorate risk champion;
 Identify training needs and report these to their service risk champion;
 Take accountability for actions and, report to their Lead Commissioner or Service Head; and
 Report any perceived new and/or emerging risks or, failure of control measures to their Lead 

Commissioner/Service Head.

Staff/Other Stakeholders

 Maintain risk awareness, assessing and managing risks and opportunities effectively in their job 
and, report risks (including emerging risks) and opportunities to their manager.

Page 90



10

Senior Risk Management Advisor & the Planning, Performance & 
Change service

 Lead on the development and manage the implementation of an integrated risk management 
framework, strategy and process on behalf of the Council;

 Undertake a full review of the council’s corporate Risk Management Policy Statement and 
Strategy every three years and update accordingly, consulting with RMG, and presenting any 
revisions to CLT for approval and AGC for endorsement;

 Facilitate reviews of the extent to which risk culture is demonstrated through individual 
behaviour and operational activities.

 Uses a range of resources to analyse management information to support recommendations for 
improvements to risk management policies and procedures.

 Spread the ethos and promote the effectiveness of good risk management throughout the 
Council;

 Facilitate the review and update of the Strategic Risk Register (SRR), and regular integrated 
reporting of finance, performance and risk;

 Identify and address cross-cutting risks and risk management issues, through the RMG;
 Identifies the factors in the external environment that may affect the council.
 Support the development of the council’s service, programme, project and strategic risk 

registers;
 Provide the council with guidance, toolkits, advice and support on the application of risk 

management principles and, support the risk champions in delivering their role;
 Lead, co-ordinate and develop risk management activity across the council with the support of 

the risk champions, as part of the RMG;
 Facilitate training in Risk Management and risk assessment techniques for staff and Members;
 Moderate and challenge the application of risk management principles accordingly;
 Liaise with external consultants and risk management organisations and review national 

standards to identify, share and maintain best practice within the council; and
 Liaise with both internal and external audit with regard to risk management.

Page 91



12

Risk Management Group (RMG)
The group is accountable to CLT and reports to it at least once every six months through the Chair 
(the Director of Performance, Policy & Governance).

Members of the RMG include:

 Director of Policy, Performance & Governance
 Head of Planning, Performance & Improvement
 Senior Risk Management Advisor (SRMA)

 At least one representative from each directorate, as risk champion

 Special Advisors from the following areas:

 Civil Protection (including Business Continuity)
 Health & Safety
 Information Management Services (IMS)
 Insurance
 Internal Audit

The key aims of the group are to:

 Act as the main risk management contact/advisor for their service areas, ensuring that 
corporate information and requirements are communicated throughout the service areas and 
that key service risk information is escalated, to enable appropriate action to be taken by the 
appropriate body i.e., ‘top down – bottom up’ approach;

 Support the development and implementation of the council’s Risk Management Policy 
Statement and Strategy;

 Support the development of the Strategic Risk Register;
 Support the development of, and advise, on the adequacy of the service, programme, project 

and partnership risk registers;
 Identify and address cross cutting risks and risk management issues;
 Provide support on risk management to Directors, Service Heads and other managers within 

their service area;
 Promote the benefits of risk management across their service areas;
 Identify their service areas training needs and notify the SRMA, as required;
 Promote and share best practice/lessons learned across the service areas;
 Promote innovation and identification of opportunities, within the Council’s risk appetite and;
 Report on the progress and development of the risk management strategy within the council.

Internal Audit
The role of Internal Audit in respect of risk management is to:

 Provide an annual independent, objective assessment/opinion of the effectiveness of the risk 
management and control processes operating within the council which feeds into the council’s 
Annual Governance Statement;

 Regularly liaise with the SRMA, as appropriate, with regards to risk management generally; and
 Ensure that the Internal Audit activity is focused on the key risks facing the council.

Page 92



Risk Management Governance Structure

Support Functions

13

County Council

Cabinet

Cabinet/Corporate Leadership Team

Corporate Leadership Team

Engagement with, and challenge by, Support 
Services

Management Teams – Portfolio, Project, Programme 
Boards

Staff/Stakeholders

Civil Protection

Senior Risk Management 
Advisor

Risk Management Group

Planning, Performance & 
Change

Internal Audit

Audit & Governance 
Committee

Corporate Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

Scrutiny Committees

P
age 93



14

Risk Management
Performance, Planning & Change

Corporate Resources
Shire Hall 

Westgate Street
Gloucester 

Gloucestershire
GL1 2TG

December 2021
Page 94



Gloucestershire County Council

Risk Management Action Plan – 2022-2023

No Action List Proposed Actions to be taken By whom When Complete
1 Annual review of Gloucestershire 

County Council risk management 
against ISO 31000 (2018) guidance 
and IRM Standards.

Ensure continuing good 
practice.

SLC 30/05/2022

2 Risk Maturity Assessment. Ensure inclusion in AGS. DS/SLC/RA 31/01/2022
3 Benchmarking against other 

counties for best practice (for CLT 
annual SRR review).

To accommodate best practice. SLC 31/03/2022

4 CLT Annual Review of SRR Reviewing content, scorings, 
and controls.

SLC/DS/RA/CLT 31/03/2022

5 Ongoing annual requirement of 
compliance with the Risk 
Management Policy Statement & 
Strategy by Internal Audit.

Ensure incorporated into IA Plan 
2022/23.

SLC 01/04/2022

6 Provide Risk Management 
awareness and training for staff and 
members, as necessary/requested.

To continue to raise RM 
awareness within 
Gloucestershire County Council.

SLC Ongoing

7 Review of the RM Annual Action 
Plan for 2023-2024.

Ensuring annual actions are 
addressed.

SLC/DS 31/12/2022

8 Clearer communications of Risk 
strategy and policy.

Regular articles in TalkSmart, 
StaffNet panels and desktop 
items.

SLC/DS Ongoing

9 Working to achieve progress on the 
agreed recommendations from the 
RM Review.

Ensuring that Risk 
Management moves forward 
within the Council.

SLC/DS/RA Ongoing

P
age 95



Gloucestershire County Council

Risk Management Action Plan – 2023-2024

No Action List Proposed Actions to be taken By whom When Complete
1 Annual review of Gloucestershire 

County Council risk management 
against ISO 31000 (2018) guidance 
and IRM Standards.

Ensure continuing good practice. SLC 30/04/2023

2 Risk Maturity Assessment. Ensure inclusion in AGS. DS/SLC/RA 31/01/2023
3 Benchmarking against other 

counties for best practice (for CLT 
annual SRR review).

To accommodate best practice. SLC 31/03/2023

4 CLT Annual Review of SRR Reviewing content, scorings, and 
controls.

SLC/DS/RA/CLT 31/03/2023

5 Ongoing annual requirement of 
compliance with the Risk 
Management Policy Statement & 
Strategy by Internal Audit (IA).

Ensure incorporated into IA Plan 
2023/24.

SLC 01/04/2023

6 Provide Risk Management 
awareness and training for staff and 
members, as necessary/requested.

To continue to raise RM 
awareness within 
Gloucestershire County Council.

SLC Ongoing

7 Review of the RM Annual Action 
Plan for 2024-2025.

Ensuring annual actions are 
addressed.

SLC/DS 31/12/2023

8 Clearer communications of Risk 
Strategy and Policy.

Regular articles in TalkSmart, 
StaffNet panels and desktop 
items.

PB/SLC Ongoing

9 Working to achieve progress on the 
agreed recommendations from the 
RM Review.

Ensuring that Risk Management 
moves forward within the 
Council.

SLC/DS/RA Ongoing

P
age 96



Gloucestershire County Council

Risk Management Action Plan – 2024-2025

No Action List Proposed Actions to be taken By whom When Complete
1 Annual review of Gloucestershire 

County Council risk management 
against ISO 31000 (2018) guidance 
and IRM Standards.

Ensure continuing good practice. SLC 30/04/2024

2 Risk Maturity Assessment. Ensure inclusion in AGS. DS/SLC/RA 31/12/2023
3 Benchmarking against other 

counties for best practice (for CLT 
annual SRR review).

To accommodate best practice. SLC 31/03/2024

4 CLT Annual Review of SRR Reviewing content, scorings, and 
controls.

SLC/DS/RA/CLT 31/03/2024

5 Ongoing annual requirement of 
compliance with the Risk 
Management Policy Statement & 
Strategy by Internal Audit.

Ensure incorporated into IA Plan 
2024/25.

SLC 01/04/2024

6 Provide Risk Management 
awareness and training for staff and 
members, as necessary/requested.

To continue to raise RM 
awareness within 
Gloucestershire County Council.

SLC Ongoing

7 Working on the RM Action Plan for 
2026-2029, to sit with the refreshed 
RM Policy Statement & Strategy 
2026-2029

Ensure a three-year-rolling 
Action Plan.

SLC/DS/RA 31/03/2025

8 Working on a refreshed RM Policy 
Statement & Strategy 2026-2029

Ensure that the Council has an 
up-to-date RM Policy & Strategy.

SLC/DS/RA 31/03/2025

9 Clearer communications of Risk 
Strategy and Policy.

Articles in TalkSmart, StaffNet 
panels and desktop items.

PB/SLC Ongoing

P
age 97



Gloucestershire County Council

P
age 98



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 21st January 2022 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Internal Audit Activity Progress Report 2021/22

Purpose of Report: To inform Members of the progress of Internal Audit activity in 
relation to the approved 2021/22 Internal Audit Plan for activities 
delivered up to December 2021.

Recommendations: It is recommended that the Committee:

I. Notes the amendments to and progress against the current 
2021/22 Internal Audit Plan; and

II. Notes the assurance opinions provided in relation to the 
effectiveness of the Council’s control environment 
comprising risk management, control and governance 
arrangements as a result of the Internal Audit activity 
completed to date.

Officer (s) Contact: Piyush Fatania - Head of Audit Risk Assurance (ARA) and 
Insurance Services  
Tel: 01452 328883
piyush.fatania@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Paul Blacker - Director of Finance 
Tel: 01452 328999
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver an effective Internal Audit service will prevent an 
independent, objective assurance opinion to be provided to those 
charged with governance that the key risks associated with the 
achievement of the Council’s objectives are being adequately 
controlled. 

Page 99

Agenda Item 10

mailto:piyush.fatania@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Progress report on

2021-2022
Internal Audit Activity

Page 101



2

(1) Introduction

All Councils must make proper provision for Internal Audit in line with the 1972 Local 
Government Act (S151) and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The latter 
states that a relevant Council ‘must undertake an effective Internal Audit to evaluate 
the effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance processes, taking 
into account public sector internal auditing standards or guidance’. 

The Council’s Internal Audit service is provided by Audit Risk Assurance (ARA) 
under a Shared Service agreement between Gloucestershire County Council, 
Gloucester City Council and Stroud District Council. ARA carries out the work 
required to satisfy this legislative requirement and reports its findings and 
conclusions to management and to this Committee. 

The guidance accompanying the Regulations recognises the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards 2017 (PSIAS) as representing ‘proper Internal Audit practices’. The 
standards define the way in which the Internal Audit service should be established 
and undertake its operations.

The Internal Audit service is delivered in conformance with the International 
Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing.

(2) Responsibilities 

Management are responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate risk 
management processes, control systems (financial and non-financial) and 
governance arrangements. 

Internal Audit plays a key role in providing independent assurance and advising the 
Council that these arrangements are in place and operating effectively.

Internal Audit is not the only source of assurance for the Council. There are a range 
of External Audit and inspection agencies as well as management processes which 
also provide assurance. These are set out in the Council’s Code of Corporate 
Governance and its Annual Governance Statement.  

(3) Purpose of this Report

One of the key requirements of the standards is that the Head of ARA should provide 
progress reports on Internal Audit activity to those charged with governance. This 
report summarises:

I. The progress against the 2021/22 Internal Audit Plan, including the assurance 
opinions on the effectiveness of risk management and control processes;

II. The outcomes of the 2021/22 Internal Audit activity delivered during the period 
September 2021 to December 2021; and

III. Special investigations and counter fraud activity.

Page 102



3

(4) Progress against the 2021/22 Internal Audit Plan, including the 
assurance opinions on risk and control

The schedule provided at Appendix 1 provides the summary of 2021/22 audits 
which have not previously been reported to the Audit and Governance Committee.

The schedule provided at Appendix 2 contains a list of all of the 2021/22 Internal 
Audit activity undertaken during the financial year to date. This includes, where 
relevant, the assurance opinions on the effectiveness of risk management 
arrangements and control processes in place to manage those risks. Appendix 2 
also reflects the dates where a summary of the activity outcomes have been 
presented to the Audit and Governance Committee. 

Explanations of the meaning of the assurance opinions are shown below.

Assurance 
Levels

Risk Identification Maturity Control Environment

Substantial Risk Managed
Service area fully aware of the risks 
relating to the area under review and 
the impact that these may have on 
service delivery, other service areas, 
finance, reputation, legal, the 
environment, customers, partners, and 
staff.  All key risks are accurately 
reported and monitored in line with the 
Corporate Risk Management Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – 
Robust framework of 
controls ensures that 
there is a high 
likelihood of objectives 
being achieved.

 Control Application – 
Controls are applied 
continuously or with 
minor lapses.

Satisfactory Risk Aware
Service area has an awareness of the 
risks relating to the area under review 
and the impact that these may have on 
service delivery, other service areas, 
finance, reputation, legal, the 
environment, customers, partners, and 
staff. However, some key risks are not 
being accurately reported and 
monitored in line with the Corporate 
Risk Management Strategy.

 System Adequacy – 
Sufficient framework of 
key controls for 
objectives to be 
achieved but, control 
framework could be 
stronger.

 Control Application – 
Controls are applied 
but with some lapses.

Limited Risk Naïve 
Due to an absence of accurate and 
regular reporting and monitoring of the 
key risks in line with the Corporate Risk 
Management Strategy, the service area 
has not demonstrated a satisfactory 
awareness of the risks relating to the 
area under review and the impact that 
these may have on service delivery, 
other service areas, finance, reputation, 
legal, the environment, customers, 
partners, and staff.  

 System Adequacy – 
Risk of objectives not 
being achieved due to 
the absence of key 
internal controls.

 Control Application – 
Significant breakdown 
in the application of 
control.

Page 103



4

(4a) Summary of Internal Audit Assurance Opinions on Risk and Control

The below pie charts show the summary of the risk and control assurance opinions 
provided on the 2021/22 Internal Audit activity undertaken from April 2021 to 
December 2021. Five 2021/22 Internal Audit activities within this period have 
resulted in assurance opinions. 

It is noted that the majority of ARA activity delivered to December 2021 has not 
generated an assurance opinion, due to being a grant, consultancy or resource 
support activity. The outcomes from these areas are not included in the pie charts. 

Page 104



5

(4b) Limited Control Assurance Opinions 

Where audit activity records that a limited assurance opinion on control has been 
provided, the Audit and Governance Committee may request Senior Management 
attendance to the next meeting of the Committee to provide an update as to their 
actions taken to address the risks and associated recommendations identified by 
Internal Audit. 

(4c) Audit Activity where a Limited Assurance Opinion has been provided on 
Control

During the period September 2021 to December 2021, no limited assurance opinions 
on control have been provided on completed audits from the Internal Audit Plan. 

Where a limited assurance opinion is given, a follow up audit is undertaken to 
provide assurance that the agreed actions have been implemented by management. 

(4d) Satisfactory Control Assurance Opinions

Where audit activity records that a satisfactory assurance opinion on control has 
been provided, where recommendations have been made to reflect some 
improvements in control, the Committee can take assurance that improvement 
actions have been agreed with management to address these. 

(4e) Internal Audit Recommendations

During the 2021/22 period to December 2021 Internal Audit have made 29 
recommendations in total to improve the control environment. 12 of the 
recommendations are High priority recommendations and 17 are Medium priority 
recommendations. 

100% of Internal Audit recommendations have been accepted by management. 

The Committee can take assurance that all High priority recommendations will 
remain under review by Internal Audit, by obtaining regular management updates, 
until the required action has been fully completed. 

(4f) Risk Assurance Opinions

During the period September 2021 to December 2021, no limited assurance opinions 
on risk have been provided on completed audits from the Internal Audit Plan. 

Where a limited assurance opinion is given, the Council’s Senior Risk Management 
Advisor is provided with the Internal Audit report(s) to enable the prioritisation of risk 
management support. 

(4g) Activity Completion Rate

In line with prior year, the ARA target is to complete and achieve 85% of the Annual 
Internal Audit Plan. This target includes appropriate consideration of any Plan 
changes within the year. 

Page 105



6

During the 2021/22 period to December 2021 ARA has finalised 30 activities, which 
will increase as the year progresses. 

Appendix 2 details 23 activities as in progress or draft report issued as at December 
2021. In addition, Appendix 2 confirms that Terms of Reference have been issued 
proactively for a number of audit and consultancy activities due for delivery within 
quarter 4 2021/22. 

Appendix 2 items identified as ‘Planned’ remain a required ARA activity, based on 
up to date risk assessment and consultation as at December 2021. The target is for 
these activities to have commenced or progressed within year.

It is forecast that the 85% target will be achieved by the point of the Annual Report 
on Internal Audit Activity 2021/22.  

(5) ARA Activity Breadth – 2021/22 Internal Audit Plan and Other

Members approved the Internal Audit Plan 2021/22 at the 25th March 2021 Audit and 
Governance Committee meeting.

The approved Internal Audit Plan 2021/22 contains a breadth of ARA activity across 
the Council’s Department and Service areas. Activity types include:

i. Internal audit;

ii. Counter fraud activity and fraud or irregularity case review;

iii. Consultancy review or advice;

iv. Grant certification or review; 

v. Data analytics review; and

vi. Resource support for priority areas. 

All the above activity types generate an ARA outcome or conclusion, however only 
the internal audit activity stream will result in assurance opinions on risk and control.

When compared to prior years, the Internal Audit Plan 2021/22 includes a higher 
level of non-assurance opinion activity. This is due to the following factors:

i. An increased level of grants certification and review requirements, as a result 
of receipt of Covid-19 relevant grant funding streams by the Council;

ii. Roll out of the ARA Data Analytics Strategy, increasing the number of specific 
data analytics review activities;

iii. The changing risks and needs of the Council, evident through the Internal 
Audit Plan 2021/22 planning and consultation process. This has resulted in 
increased consultancy review and advice activities to enable agile and added 
value outcomes from ARA work; and

Page 106



7

iv. Appropriate application of PSIAS requirements, which supports consideration 
and delivery of consultancy review within Internal Audit Plans.

The above weighting of ARA activity will impact Internal Audit Progress Report 
section 4 and Appendix 2 contents. The quarterly profile of ARA activity (including 
consideration of grant certification deadlines) will also impact the volume of activity 
reported to Committee per Internal Audit Progress Report. 

Any update to the Internal Audit Plan 2021/22 content will be reported to Audit and 
Governance Committee through the Internal Audit Progress Reports. New activities 
to date within 2021/22 include four additional grants requiring Internal Audit 
certification by specified deadlines. The new grant activities are confirmed through 
Appendix 2.

Appendix 2 also reflects any wider non-Plan activities completed by ARA, to ensure 
Audit and Governance Committee awareness. As reported to Committee in 
September 2021, an example of this activity type is:

i. The ongoing work by ARA to build a commercial service offer to Academies, 
including the completion of an Academy pilot internal audit. The commercial 
offer will ensure appropriate consideration of income generation, service 
experience, resilience and capacity with the underlying understanding that the 
Academies activity should not negatively impact the level or quality of ARA 
service delivery to our current partners. 

Page 107



Appendix 1

8

Completed 2021/22 Internal Audit Activity delivered between 
September 2021 and December 2021
Summary of Satisfactory Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: Corporate Resources 
Audit Activity: Disposal of Assets (Vehicles) - Limited Assurance Follow Up
Background

The Disposal of Assets (Vehicles) Internal Audit report was issued on 29th July 
2020 and resulted in a limited assurance opinion for both risk and control. The 
report contained six audit recommendations (four High priority and two Medium 
priority), which were agreed by management for implementation. Due to the 
outcome of the original review, a limited assurance follow-up internal audit was 
required.

Scope

The scope of this follow up review was to extract the 2019/20 Disposal of Assets 
(Vehicles) Internal Audit report recommendations and agreed management 
actions, then undertake appropriate audit review and testing to verify their 
implementation.

The audit review considered all vehicles disposed of by the Council including those 
assigned to Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS), as all such 
disposals should be undertaken by the Council’s Integrated Transport Unit (ITU).

The review considered all vehicles disposed of between March 2020 and June 
2021.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory
Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key Findings

i. The asset disposal policy and asset disposal procedures were formally 
approved by the Director of Finance in March 2021, following evidenced 
consultation with relevant parties within GFRS and Economy, Environment 
and Infrastructure. Full roll out to officers was then completed on Staffnet 
and through subsequent Talksmart (all staff e-mail) updates. 

ii. Six vehicles were identified as potentially disposed of within the review 
period. Audit review confirmed:

o One of these had been the result of an accident and subsequent vehicle 
write off;

o One vehicle was highlighted as no longer required by the service and 
transferred within the Council in line with Council policy and following the 
recommendation from the previous audit review; and

Page 108



Appendix 1

9

o The four remaining vehicles were confirmed as true income generating 
disposals.

iii. From the four vehicles disposed of, reviewed and tested by Internal Audit:

o A signed disposal authorisation form was sighted for each;
o Refund of vehicle tax was only relevant for two vehicles within the 

population. Informing DVLA of the sale for one had been delayed, due to 
Covid restrictions and closure of the auction house (outside of the 
Council’s control);  

o Maintenance costs were reviewed for the disposal population. One 
vehicle had maintenance expenditure prior to disposal and audit trail was 
provided confirming appropriate rationale for the maintenance work (to 
enable the asset to be brought into a sellable condition);

o Offering the vehicle to other Council services prior to disposal was only 
relevant to two vehicles within the population. This action was confirmed 
as completed for one of the two vehicles; and

o Insurance Services had been made aware of all disposals. It is noted 
that for one disposal and due to notification timing and audit trail, the 
insurance end date was recorded as a few days prior to sale of the 
vehicle. This caused a minor gap in the vehicle’s insurance cover. It was 
confirmed that the vehicle was in the care of the contracted auction 
house for this period.

Conclusion

Due to the low number of vehicle disposals within the audit review period, the 
follow-up internal audit reviewed the entire sample population. However, the low 
disposal volume restricts the level of assurance that can be provided to confirm 
that the Internal Audit recommendations made have been implemented and fully 
embedded.

The 2019/20 Disposal of Assets (Vehicles) Internal Audit report made a total of six 
audit recommendations. Internal Audit follow-up review and testing has confirmed 
that positive progress has been made for all recommendations, with four 
recommendations fully implemented.

The recommendations relevant to offering vehicles to other services prior to 
disposal and ensuring Council vehicles remaining insured until ownership is 
transferred have been confirmed as partially implemented. Application of and 
compliance with the March 2021 asset disposal policy and procedures should 
ensure their full implementation.

Management Actions

There were no new recommendations made following this audit review. As referred 
to within the conclusion, compliance with the March 2021 asset disposal policy and 
procedures should ensure the full implementation of the two remaining partially 
implemented recommendations.

Page 109



Appendix 1

10

Service Area: Corporate Resources 
Audit Activity: Payroll Standing Data 
Background

Payroll is one of the main areas of expenditure for Gloucestershire County Council 
(GCC) with 4,600 staff employed as of March 2021 with an overall value of 
£133,424,501 for 2021. GCC have an obligation to maintain good governance of 
county resources and therefore need to ensure processes are in place to monitor 
and safeguard these assets. Ensuring that the standing data of employees is 
accurate and free of errors is essential to sound financial control of this area. 

Payroll for GCC staff is administered by the Business Service Centre (BSC) 
Payroll team. 

Scope

The audit reviewed the processes in place for changes to standing data within the 
payroll system. Specifically, to:

i. Review the adequacy of the current processes used by the BSC for 
changes to payroll standing data;

ii. Test to confirm that identified cases of changed standing data had been 
through the correct process and a valid authorisation; and

iii. Confirm any instances where data was changed outside of the prescribed 
process to identify the justified reasoning behind the change.

Internal Audit used data analytics to review GCC payroll data at a point in time to 
identify staff who had standing data changed. 

Outside of the audit scope were all other payrolls administered by BSC, this audit 
therefore excluded Teachers, and Police payrolls.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory
Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key Findings

There were two identified ways that standing data can be amended for a member 
of staff. This was either through an E-form accessible via SAP using their unique 
log in or via a manual process completed by the Payroll team. The manual process 
is divided into two categories of changes. The first is where the employee is 
advising that their details (bank or personal) require change. The second is where 
an advice is sent directly from a bank stating that their customer has changed their 
account, and which comes in the form of a compiled report to the Council. 

All staff with SAP access should use the E-form for bank and personal detail 
changes, with only staff unable to access SAP using the manual process for 
standing data changes. 

Page 110



Appendix 1

11

Internal Audit identified that there were approximately 4605 staff employed by 
GCC at the time of the audit with 3984 staff having a license to access SAP ESS. 
Testing found a total of 49 bank detail changes made via E-form and 56 completed 
manually by the Pay and Conditions team. For Personal Detail changes there were 
497 E-form changes and 90 manual changes completed. 

Payroll standing data changes via E-form were sample tested to confirm if there 
was evidence to substantiate that the individual had completed the E-form for bank 
detail and personal detail changes. Evidence was provided for all the instances 
selected and confirmed that the changes had been made through the E-form.
It was identified through the manual process that there was a hard copy form to be 
completed for bank detail changes, however there was no standardised form for 
staff without SAP access wishing to change other personal details. Instead, the 
individual would write a letter or send an email to the BSC Contact Us requesting 
that changes be made.

For hard copy changes made by the Pay and Conditions team a sample selected 
identified evidence of necessary bank details forms completed. However, for 
personal detail changes, it was just the information provided on an email that was 
used as no form exists. It was confirmed through this that there was no verification 
process implemented for manual changes being made for bank or personal details. 
However, in all sampled instances there was documentation provided to Internal 
Audit of requests to change details being received by the team to evidence the 
reason for a change to the standing data of an employee.

From the sample testing undertaken, there were no changes to payroll standing 
data made via E-form or manual process identified, that were outside of the 
prescribed processes that required follow up by Internal Audit.

Draft E-forms which had not been submitted were also reviewed by Internal Audit, 
this identified weaknesses in the process as there was a backlog of draft forms 
dating back to 2014. With no current process within the SAP team to identify these 
or remedy the cause for them they remain pending on the SAP system.

Conclusion 

There was a defined process for the amendment of payroll standing data for GCC 
and GFRS staff via SAP. The majority of staff have SAP access with their own 
unique login details allowing them to make individual amendments to their own 
personal details where required. However, for those staff without SAP access 
there are areas where the process did not have as strong control or standardised 
process. This included personal detail changes not having a standardised form for 
submission and no current verification process for manual changes which could 
allow for unauthorised changes to be made. Internal Audit was able to see 
supporting documentation for all changes to payroll standing data sampled 
provided by the SAP Team and Pay and Conditions Team.  

Management Actions

Management have responded positively to four recommendations made, including 
control improvement on verification of manual changes and follow up of completed 
draft E-forms. The target date for their full implementation is September 2022. 

Page 111



Appendix 1

12

Service Area: Children’s Services
Audit Activity: Recruitment, Retention and Development of Foster Carers
Background

As of 31st March 2021, Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) had a total of 204 
active fostering households who were caring for 71% (up from 69% in 2020) of 
children who are living in foster care. 

In the ‘Right Placement First Time’ Sufficiency Strategy 2018-2021 GCC stated 
‘we want to be in a position where 75% to 80% of children and young people are 
placed with our own GCC carers. We also want to be in a position whereby we 
have some vacant capacity in order to be able to have some choice and effectively 
match the needs of those children being referred with the right carer/s.’ 

The Strategy recognised that GCC struggles to place certain groups within the in-
house fostering service. The document states this is due to ‘a lack of capacity, and 
also the lack of skills required to meet specialist needs’. The Strategy listed those 
groups that GCC finds harder to place in-house and acknowledged that there is 
therefore a reliance placed on Independent Fostering Agencies (IFA). The 
provision of this service is subject to the Southwest Regional Framework.

Scope

The audit scope comprised the following elements:

i. Review of the strategy and overall plan to be employed to ensure there 
would be an increased number of in-house foster carers available to 
achieve the 80% target by 2021. This included an assessment of issues 
such as the suitability of the promotional activities performed and the 
associated resources allocated;

ii. Assessment of the adequacy of the monitoring of progress towards 
reaching the target;

iii. Review of the plan and activities employed to train and develop the existing 
in-house foster carers to meet the specialist service user groups identified in 
the Sufficiency Strategy, plus any actions taken to retain existing in-house 
foster carers; and

iv. Evaluation of the procedures and controls within the recruitment process to 
ensure that the capability of in-house foster carers will be in line with the 
current and forecast requirements of GCC. Recruitment processes should 
also be adequately designed in order to identify unsuitable applicants. In-
house foster carers are not employees of GCC and are thus not subject to 
the processes and controls operated by Human Resources.

Also, it should be noted that this audit was suspended for a period of six months 
from March 2020 to August 2020 due to the Covid-19 pandemic and from 
December 2020 to May 2021 as an external review of the foster care service was 
ongoing.

Page 112



Appendix 1

13

Risk Assurance – Substantial
Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key Findings

The Sufficiency Strategy 2018-2021 identified a clear strategy for foster care 
provision that involves a mid-term increase in in-house provision (to 80% in three 
years).  It is reasonable to conclude that the effectiveness of the strategy was 
materially impacted by Covid.

The GCC Fostering Outcomes and Action plan has 14 themes which now link to 
the strategies identified in the Fostering Strategic Plan. The Action plan now has 
specific targets, measures of success and progress to date. Recruitment also has 
its own action plan so the effectiveness of these specific measures can be 
assessed.

The marketing techniques and actions adopted are in line with the profile that this 
activity has within the context of the strategy and the allocated budget, namely 
circa 2% of total cost. An increase in the marketing budget would allow for specific 
markets to be targeted. It would also allow further development of innovative and 
digital marketing techniques and collaborations with local partners and employers 
both in the public and private sector.

Quarterly management information (MI) is produced detailing how long it takes for 
successful applicants to reach each milestone. This is sufficient to be able to 
confirm successful achievement of the statutory eight-month timescale for 
approving foster carers (suspended during Covid-19). There is an enquiry 
monitoring spreadsheet which records considerable detail including the reasons for 
any applicant withdrawing from the application process. There is also monthly 
marketing MI produced regarding detailed numbers at each contact stage and the 
key marketing activities undertaken.

There is a strategic plan for training and development that aligns to the goals of 
GCC that has an associated action plan with tangible outcomes and a record of 
progress. The training that carers receive is monitored with specific focus on the 
first year of training and fulfilment of the relevant statutory requirements. Only one 
of 24 carers reviewed had not completed the statutory training and extra support 
was being given to this person. Records of carers course bookings are also kept 
for completeness however in 20% of cases tested during the pandemic LiquidLogic 
(Children’s case management system) was not updated in a timely manner despite 
a monthly reminder being issued.

There is a detailed process map which shows the process for recruiting foster 
carers up to the allocation of an assessment date. This process includes a doctor’s 
and Employer references, Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) checks for all 
members of the household and six personal references prior to an assessment 
which must take place within four months of allocation of a date. Due to Covid-19 
the process map was revised to include a fast-track process. This revised process 
was also tested and was found to be followed. 

Page 113



Appendix 1

14

Internal Audit tested 24 of the 314 foster carers recruited between 2012 and 2021. 
All sampled cases had received DBS checks on appointment. The follow-up DBS 
checks required after three years were tested for six foster carers and two were 
found not to have a record of these follow-up DBS checks on LiquidLogic.

Conclusion

The strategy, systems, processes and controls used to recruit and train foster 
carers are, in the main, adequate.

Consideration should be given to extending the time for any future strategies to 
take effect to recognise the impact of Covid and also the inherent time taken to 
ensure all applications are processed in accordance with legal requirements. 

These factors continue to mean that the impact of the strategy will be felt for a 
number of months following the end of this current financial year.

Whilst significant efforts have been made to streamline the recruitment process 
and the performance of GCC in approving applicants is comparable to or above 
similar-sized councils, this cannot be regarded as a limiting factor in achieving the 
targets. The recruitment process is legally compliant and is being followed.

However, once recruited, processes should be introduced to ensure that 
LiquidLogic is regularly updated for training foster carers have received and to 
record any subsequent DBS checks required.

The biggest risk to the achievement of the targets for recruitment is the lack of 
resources employed to advertise and market foster caring for GCC as a career. 

Management Actions

Delivery of this ARA activity was completed over a longer term than originally 
planned, due to the impact of Covid-19. Internal Audit greatly appreciated the 
support from key contacts to appropriately conclude the Recruitment, Retention 
and Development of Foster Carers review.

The audit raised two high recommendations concerning increasing the marketing 
budget and ensuring follow up DBS checks are performed three years after 
recruitment. It also raised one medium rated recommendation concerning 
introducing a process to ensure training records on LiquidLogic are up to date. 

Management proactively ensured that the Internal Audit recommendations were 
implemented during the course of the review. The recommendations have now 
been closed as a result.

Page 114



Appendix 1

15

Summary of Consulting Activity, Grant Certification or Review and Support 
Delivered where no Opinions are provided

Service Area: Adult Services - Grant Certification
Audit Activity: Community Testing Grant 
Background

The Community Testing Grant is specifically to support Councils with costs 
incurred in providing Covid-19 testing within communities. The grant is allocated 
and monitored by the Department of Health and Social Care.

In February 2021 Gloucestershire County Council (the Council) successfully 
tendered for the provision of a Community Testing Funding Grant with expected 
total costs of £1,269,242.60. 

The initial grant covered eligible expenditure incurred between 1st January 2020 
and 31st March 2021. In total the Council received £304,624 from the Community 
Testing Funding Grant during this period, which was the value of total incurred 
costs.

Scope

The audit scope was to provide assurance that, in all significant respects, the 
conditions of the Grant Determination have been complied with. The period under 
audit review was 2020/21.

Key Findings

i. The review confirmed that the 2020/21 ‘Final True up payment: Community 
Testing Financial and Operational Template’ was in accordance with the 
Department of Health and Social Care grant determination offer letter;

ii. Audit trail provided confirmed that the sum of £304,624 had been received 
by the Council and ring fenced within the general ledger, through coding to 
the Community Testing Funding cost centre 305757; and

iii. Internal Audit reviewed a sample of transactions covering 15% of the 
2020/21 expenditure population and confirmed that the sampled 
expenditure was in accordance with the grant conditions.

Conclusion

Based on discussion with officers and a review of records maintained by the 
Council, Internal Audit has gained assurance that the conditions of the Grant 
Determination have been fulfilled. As such the 2020/21 declaration has been 
signed and submitted to the Department of Health and Social Care.

Management Actions

No management actions were required.

Page 115



Appendix 1

16

Service Area: Adult Services - Grant Certification
Audit Activity: Disabled Facilities Grant
Background

The Disabled Facilities Grant is for the provision of adaptations to disabled 
people’s homes to help them to live independently in their own homes for longer.

This funding is part of the Better Care Fund. It is allocated to County Councils by 
the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC), formally the 
Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG).

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) received an allocation of £6,842,353 in 
2020/21 from the Better Care Fund Disabled Facilities Capital Grant under the 
grant determination 2020/21 No 31/5267.

Scope

The audit scope was to provide assurance that, in all significant respects the 
conditions of the Grant Determination have been complied with. The period under 
audit review was 2020/21.

Key Findings

i. Audit trail confirmed the Council’s receipt of £6,842,353 in 2020/21 under 
the Disabled Facilities Capital Grant Determination No 31/5267. 

ii. GCC and the district councils agreed on the level of funding for each district 
alongside a pooled budget held by GCC to provide equipment for disabled 
service users across the county. This was formally agreed between the 
districts, GCC and Gloucestershire’s Clinical Commissioning Group through 
the Better Care Funding plan for Gloucestershire. 

iii. Total grant expenditure by districts and GCC for 2020/21 totalled 
£5,113,842.56.

iv. Funding spent by GCC in 2020/21 amounted to £2,739,166.20. 
£2,521,004.20 of this related to capitalised community equipment. Internal 
Audit tested 15 invoices from the capitalised community equipment spend 
(£132,145.06 – 5% of category expenditure) and confirmed that the 
expenditure was in accordance with capitalised expenditure requirements.

v. Unspent grant is ring fenced and carried forward into the next financial year. 
The total carry forward for the grant into 2021/22 was £5,309,942.73, when 
including the carry forwards and adjustments of the previous financial years.

Conclusion

Based on declarations provided by District Councils and having undertaken a 
review of records maintained by GCC, ARA have gained reasonable assurance 
that the conditions of the grant determination have been fulfilled. 

Page 116



Appendix 1

17

As such the 2020/21 declaration has been signed and submitted to the DLUHC.

Management Actions

No management actions were required.

Service Area: Children’s Services - Grant review
Audit Activity: Troubled Families (now Supporting Families) - review 1
Background

The Families First (payment-by-result) programme was introduced in a renewed 
drive to help improve the outcomes for troubled families. As of April 2021, the 
programme changed from the Troubled Families Programme to the Supporting 
Families Programme. 

Within the Supporting Families Programme there are six eligibility criteria areas: 
Education; Crime and anti-social behaviour; Worklessness or risk of financial 
exclusion; Children who need help; Domestic Abuse; and Health.

Families need to meet at least two of the above eligibility criteria areas to enable 
them to be included in the programme. For a payment-by-result (PBR) claim to be 
made, the family needs to have either met all the relevant outcomes that relate to 
each criteria area they were experiencing, or to have found and maintained paid 
employment. 

The former Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) 
issued updated guidance on the Supporting Families Programme in April 2021. 
This guidance indicates that Internal Audit should verify claims prior to them being 
submitted.

Scope

The audit scope was to provide assurance that:

i. Those families forming PBR claims during the review period met the criteria 
outlined by the claim type; and 

ii. There was sufficient evidence to support the outcomes recorded.

The period under review by Internal Audit was July to September 2021. 

Key Findings

i. As at 30th September 2021 there were 196 PBR claims. The claims related 
to the period July to September 2021 and had been assessed by the 
Supporting Families Team as having met the criteria outlined by the 
Supporting Families Grant. 

Page 117



Appendix 1

18

ii. Internal Audit selected 20 out of the 196 (10.2%) PBR claims to test 
compliance against the criteria. This covered all six possible eligible criteria 
categories and all six Council localities (Gloucester, Cheltenham, 
Tewkesbury, Forest of Dean, Stroud and Cotswolds). Internal Audit ensured 
that the sample testing was across the category criteria, as well as the 
continuous employment criteria.

iii. No issues were identified through the Internal Audit sample testing. 
Appropriate evidence was available for all sampled cases.

Conclusion

Based on discussion with officers and a review of records maintained by the 
Council, Internal Audit is satisfied that the process undertaken by the Supporting 
Families Team is in accordance with the requirements of the scheme for the period 
July to September 2021. The following processes were also found to be working 
effectively - assessing, collating and verifying families against the eligibility 
markers and related outcomes. 

Management Actions

No management actions were required.

Service Area: Economy, Environment and Infrastructure - Grant Certification
Audit Activity: Bus Subsidy (Revenue) Grant 
Background

On 30th April 2020 a letter was issued by the Department for Transport (DfT) 
confirming the payment of £458,365 to Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) as 
a grant to cover the period 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021. The purpose of the 
grant was to provide support to councils in England towards expenditure lawfully 
incurred or to be incurred by them.

The determination requires that councils report on how they have made use of the      
devolved funds and any decision-making processes that are followed. This is 
undertaken by completing and submitting a short survey issued by the DfT. This 
information should be published on the Council’s website.

Scope

The audit scope was to provide assurance that, in all significant respects the 
conditions of the relevant grant determinations have been complied with within the 
period. The period under review by Internal Audit was 2020/21.

Key Findings

Page 118



Appendix 1

19

i. The Council’s total eligible expenditure in 2020/21 for tendered bus services 
was £4,215,678.49. 

ii. Internal Audit sample tested 19 lines of expenditure totalling £130,440.78 
(equivalent to 28.5% of grant funding). It was found that the sampled 
expenditure was appropriate under the Bus Subsidy (Revenue) grant 
determination [31/5013] and the amounts recorded matched the supporting 
invoices.

iii. The grant determination requires a survey provided by the DfT to be 
completed and published on the Council’s web site. The survey link was not 
received by the Council until 15th October 2021 and contained an extended 
deadline of 31st October 2021. The Auditor confirmed that the survey had 
been completed by the Integrated Transport Unit (ITU) and uploaded to the 
Council website on the 27th October 2021 within the extended deadline.

Conclusion

Based on discussion with officers and a review of records maintained by the 
Council, Internal Audit has gained reasonable assurance that the 2020/21 
expenditure was in accordance with the requirements of the grant determination. 
Therefore, the declaration has been signed and submitted to the DfT.

Management Actions

No management actions were required.

Service Area: Economy, Environment and Infrastructure - Grant Certification
Audit Activity: Local Transport Capital Funding
Background

On 11th May 2020 Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) received a letter from 
the Department for Transport (DfT) to advise that capital funding was to be made 
available across three grant streams to support local transport in Gloucestershire. 

The combined grant allocation across the three grant streams was £20,200,000.
There was also a brought forward balance of £13,197,021.12 from 2019/20 which 
was included within this review of spend.

Scope

The audit scope was to provide assurance that, in all significant respects the 
conditions of the relevant grant determinations have been complied with within the 
period. The period under review by Internal Audit was 2020/21. 

Key Findings

Page 119



Appendix 1

20

i. £13,197,021.12 of grant funding was brought forward from the 2019/20 
Local Transport Capital Funding allocation. An additional £20,200,000 was 
received from the grant allocation in 2020/21, bringing the total grant 
balance under review to £33,397,021.12.

ii. None of the 2020/21 Local Transport Capital Funding grant allocation was 
used during the year. Strategic Finance provided evidence from SAP 
(GCC’s financial management system) confirming the £20,200,000 carry 
forward as identified in the general ledger.

iii. The expenditure for the Local Transport Capital Funding grant is monitored 
by the Capital Accountant who confirmed that in 2020/21, £5,721,728.68 of 
the carry forward from 2019/20 was expended. An additional £2,373,503.26 
was spent by the Council on transport capital projects during the period, but 
funded by other relevant time-limited sources.

iv. Internal Audit selected and reviewed a sample of 17 lines of expenditure 
with a total value of £967,375.66 (16.9%) of the £5,721,728.68 spent from 
the 2019/20 carry forward. All sampled expenditure was confirmed as in 
accordance with the relevant DfT grant conditions.

Conclusion

Based on discussion with officers and a review of records maintained by the 
Council, Internal Audit has gained appropriate assurance that the conditions of the 
grant determination have been met. Therefore, the declaration has been signed 
and submitted to the DfT. 

Internal Audit can confirm the remainder of the Local Transport Capital Funding 
(£27,675,292.44) has been carried forward into the 2021/22 financial year.

Management Actions

No management actions were required.

Page 120



Appendix 1

21

Service Area: Children’s Services
Audit Activity: Social Work Academy 
Background

Gloucestershire Children’s Services Social Work Academy (the Academy) opened 
in May 2019.  It is a professional development centre for qualified and unqualified 
staff working in children and families’ social work, from students and newly 
qualified social workers to Heads of Service.  The Academy also supports a range 
of entry routes into social work and related professions.

The Academy is for both new and existing staff and the aim is to ensure the 
standard of working practice is consistent across Gloucestershire Children’s 
Services.  To enable that, the Academy’s aim is to provide the tools, training and 
development needed.

The Academy also aims to promote and enable effective recruitment and retention 
of social work staff.  A career pathway is provided for individuals, which outlines 
the opportunities for progression within Children’s Social Care.  The individuals will 
be supported to progress through the pathway.

Scope

The scope of this review was to provide assurance over the effectiveness of the 
following four key areas within the Academy’s operations.  The review therefore 
sought to establish:

i. Whether the Academy is maximising its reach of potential users;

ii. The reasons for delays in completion of training programmes;

iii. The stability of the infrastructure (administration and ICT); and

iv. The effectiveness of the Academy’s electronic Learner Management 
System, Moodle.

The activity report was prepared on the basis of consultancy rather than audit and 
therefore no opinions were given.

Key Findings

The information which informed the findings of the audit was obtained through 
email and surveys completed by Academy staff and current students.

Maximising the reach of the Academy

i. Whilst there are a number of teams within Children’s Social Care who use 
the Academy, there are others who are unaware of the training 
opportunities it offers.  Email is the most common way that individuals hear 
about training opportunities, although not everyone receives them.

Page 121



Appendix 1

22

Completion of training programmes

i. The main reasons given for not attending training courses were work 
commitments and pressures put on other staff to cover the attending 
officer’s workload.  Managers should be aware of training that their staff are 
undertaking and this should enable them to arrange cover in advance of the 
training.  However, it is recognised that there will be circumstances where 
this is not always possible.  It is understood that any non-attendance is 
followed-up by the Academy with the individual and their line manager.

The stability of the Academy’s infrastructure

i. The quality of video and audio of the Academy’s Learner Management 
System, Moodle and Big Blue Button, can often be poor, which impacts on 
the delivery of the training; and

ii. Academy staff commented that they did not receive training on how to use 
the system, especially with regard to designing and delivering courses to 
others.  Students also said that a dedicated system administrator they could 
refer to or a helpline would be beneficial.

The effectiveness of Moodle and Big Blue Button, the Academy’s electronic 
Learner Management System

i. Some students occasionally had problems logging into Moodle and Big Blue 
Button and also had difficulty finding their way around the system; and

ii. Students commented that they would like bespoke training for particular 
areas, a wider variety of training courses to be on offer, easily accessible 
links to books and advance notice of a full year of programmes.

Conclusion

There are some individuals who do not receive details of courses available and are 
therefore missing out on training opportunities.

The lack of support on using the Learner Management System was highlighted as 
a concern, by both students and Academy staff.  Some form of helpline or ongoing 
support would be beneficial, together with training for staff from a trainer’s point of 
view.

Seven recommendations have been made, to provide solutions to the anomalies 
raised in the consultancy report. These include (but are not exclusive to) 
consideration of a communications and marketing strategy to ensure maximum 
exposure of the training offer; extending the advertising term for training; ensuring 
appropriate Moodle training for all relevant staff; and set up of more than one 
Moodle system administrator to enable service support resilience. 

Management Actions

Management has responded positively to the recommendations made.

Page 122



Appendix 1

23

Service Area: Community Safety 
Audit Activity: Business Fire Safety
Background

Business fire safety is covered by the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 
(the Order).  The Order applies to all non-domestic premises in England and 
Wales, including the common parts of blocks of flats and houses in multiple 
occupation (HMOs).

The role of the Fire Service is to ensure that the responsible person for the 
property has carried out their duties as required by the Order.  This requires them 
to complete a fire safety risk assessment and implement and maintain a fire 
management plan.  To confirm these are in place, an audit is undertaken by the 
fire safety team at Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS).

In June 2019 GFRS was subject to an inspection by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 
Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS).  The subsequent report 
issued by the HMICFRS inspectors judged that business fire safety was an area of 
concern, giving it an ‘inadequate’ rating.  This meant that the HMICFRS inspectors 
found serious critical failings of policy, practice or performance.

One area highlighted by the report was that the service had difficulty maintaining 
and interpreting its data, meaning GFRS may not be using it to effectively prioritise 
risk.

Scope

It was agreed with GFRS management that Internal Audit would undertake a 
consultancy review to establish whether fire safety risk processes had been 
reviewed and updated.

Key Findings

i. The details of non-domestic premises in the county are recorded by GFRS 
on a system called Community Fire Risk Management Information System 
(CFRMIS).  There is a nationally agreed standard form for all audits which 
aligns to the information required to be input to CFRMIS.  Following an 
audit, the GFRS regulator will input the information into the system and a 
reinspection time and risk level for the premises is automatically generated.  
Providing that the information being input into CFRMIS is correct, assurance 
can be provided that the premises are being risk assessed in line with the 
national standards.

ii. There is no overarching Business Fire Safety Strategy, although a policy is 
in place which explains how GFRS will work with businesses to ensure they 
meet their legal obligations.

iii. There are no documented process notes or procedures for undertaking the 
fire safety audits or for how to use the management information system.

Page 123



Appendix 1

24

iv. There is only one data-coordinator in the team who has responsibility for the 
day-to-day management of CFRMIS.  This poses a risk with regard to 
business continuity to cover sickness and leave.

v. The data in the system is not being reviewed, which means there is no 
certainty that the information is current and up to date.

vi. Management have recognised that the current situation is not ideal.  One 
solution being considered is to use a data management company to provide 
GFRS with a regular list of current non-domestic premises.

vii. A number of new regulators have been employed, although not all of them 
are fully trained yet, which limits the types of premises they can audit.

viii. As at 5th October 2021, there were 962 premises classified as high risk on 
CFRMIS.  Of these, 630 audits have been completed with 332 still to be 
undertaken.  It has been estimated by GFRS that it will take approximately 
six months to complete the outstanding audits.

ix. There are plans for each regulator to be evaluated every six months, on 
how they undertake the process and to ensure all of them follow a 
consistent approach.  Any learning points will be disseminated to all of the 
team.

Conclusion

There is no guarantee that the information in the management information system 
is up to date and correct.  Management understands that there are limitations with 
the current data and are pro-actively seeking a solution.

A number of new regulators have been employed and once they are all fully 
qualified the number of audits which can be undertaken will increase.

Documented processes for undertaking an audit, as well as for the use of CFRMIS 
should be produced.

There is a need for a second individual who has the same access rights to 
CFRMIS as the current data-coordinator, to provide cover for holidays and 
sickness.

Management Actions

The consultancy review did not raise formal audit recommendations. 

Page 124



Appendix 1

25

Service Area: Corporate Resources
Audit Activity: Procurement Sourcing Pools 
Background

Sourcing pools were introduced in Gloucestershire County Council in 2007. Their 
role is to: 

i. Provide guidance to shoppers about their product categories and general 
shopping procedures; 

ii. Challenge and confirm transactions in shopping carts and limit shopping 
carts; 

iii. Contribute to the approved vendor list; and 

iv. Approve or decline new vendor requests. 

The sourcing pool role is primarily one of challenge and approvals of shoppers 
spend. Therefore, the consultancy review will focus on their ability as currently 
constituted to fulfil this role. 

There are 13 sourcing pools in place. These accounted for £341,259,520 of total 
spend in 2020/21.

Scope

The purpose of the consultancy activity was to understand, assess and advise on 
the current use of sourcing pools, specifically:

i. To understand the current structure and reporting lines for sourcing pools 
and their relationship to product codes; 

ii. To understand the allocation of approved suppliers to the sourcing pools, 
the oversight of that allocation and the purpose of the approved list; 

iii. To assist with mapping all processes for sourcing pools in order to 
understand how they work in SAP (the Council’s financial system); 

iv. To ascertain what policies, procedures and guidance is provided to sourcing 
pools to define and assist them in carrying out their roles; and 

v. To investigate what specific training is available to sourcing pools staff to    
assist them to carry out their roles. 

Procurement that is not administered by the sourcing pools was outside the scope 
of this consultancy activity. 

Key Findings 

The following observations are based on the main themes of: 

Page 125



Appendix 1

26

i. Time spent on sourcing pool activity and activities performed; 

ii. Executive Ownership and Escalation Processes; 

iii. Empowerment and the ability to challenge spend; 

iv. Processes and Guidance; and 

v. Training. 

These were discussed in open online forums with all sourcing pools represented.

The challenges and issues experienced were found to be the same for all sourcing 
pools with the exception of ICT. ICT procurement is effectively managed ‘in house’ 
with a specific team completing the ‘end to end’ process of raising quotes, 
purchase orders and goods receipting requested from within the ICT team. 
Requests for IT equipment from the wider business are sent via the Service Now 
portal and are usually common IT stock items, so do not require bespoke 
purchasing procedures. 

The only other identified significant difference that is apparent across the Council 
is that shopping with GFRS is on the basis of licenses rather than being operated 
on an ‘open to all’ basis via SAP. 

The time spent on sourcing pool activity is normally between half a day and a 
whole day per week per person. Sourcing pool staff complete a number of key 
activities but spend a considerable portion of their time helping and advising 
budget holders and shoppers. There are a high number of retrospective orders and 
if these are raised correctly, they do not appear in sourcing pools. There is the 
possibility that these retrospective orders are being used to circumvent the 
purchasing process. A disproportionate amount of time is spent dealing with these. 

Individual sourcing pools seem to operate in silos to the point where feedback was 
received that there was no cover for individual staff members sourcing pool 
responsibilities if they are off sick. 

There is no clear, unambiguous executive ownership of ‘Sourcing Pools’ at 
Executive level. Neither is there a clear escalation process both within sourcing 
pools and to management. Sourcing pool staff do not believe they are 
appropriately empowered to challenge spend. 

From the feedback from sourcing pool staff there is a lack of knowledge of the 
correct process and specifically knowledge of the ‘Sourcing Pools’ role in the 
process.
 
This lack of knowledge of the process is particularly pertinent for budget holders. 
There also seems to be a wider lack of knowledge of the basics of the process by 
shoppers. Shoppers and budget holders tend to ring sourcing pools for advice 
rather than try Staffnet first, this may be because the information on Staffnet is not 
easy to find or understand. Consequently, sourcing pools often deal with queries 
that could be answered by reference to Staffnet.

Page 126



Appendix 1

27

There is no structured training of sourcing pool staff. Formal training seems to only 
exist when a new person starts as part of handover. Individual sourcing pools 
make their own arrangements which reinforce the perception of them operating in 
‘silos’. There are different levels of expertise, response times which coupled with 
the ‘handing down’ of different working practices due to a lack of formal training, 
cause further inconsistencies between sourcing pools and ‘silo working’. 

Conclusion

The key decision to be made first is what role sourcing pools should perform. 

If their role is one of offering advice, guidance and processing, then the current 
process is adequate. The challenges that sourcing pools face can be largely 
overcome through a better structure to avoid silo working. Also, a better 
understanding of the process by budget holders and shoppers as well as improved 
communication to both of these groups.

If the sourcing pool role is one of a control mechanism, then the process will 
require redesign to remove budget holder approval prior to sourcing pool 
involvement. This will enable them to be sufficiently empowered to challenge all 
spend (including retrospective orders). 

Management Actions

The consultancy review did not raise formal audit recommendations. It is noted 
that management have responded positively to the consultancy report.

Service Area: Corporate Resources
Audit Activity: The Whistleblowing Framework
Background

Gloucestershire County Council (the Council) is committed to operating in the best 
way possible with honesty and integrity and has a zero-tolerance stance to all 
forms of fraud, danger, corruption, malpractice or maladministration. 

The Council’s Whistleblowing Policy applies to all employees, Members, 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service, apprentices, consultants, contractors, 
volunteers, interns, casual workers, partners and agency workers, whether full-
time or part-time. Schools should have their own whistleblowing policy.

The Whistleblowing Policy sets out the arrangements for expressing and reporting 
any concerns, how this will be managed, confidentiality and external contacts.
The whistleblowing charity Protect has developed a benchmark framework to help 
entities reach best practice when it comes to whistleblowing standards. 

Page 127



Appendix 1

28

Currently, the benchmark framework has 34 standards consisting of around 200 
benchmarking questions across the key areas of Governance, Engagement and 
Operations. 

In 2017 Protect reviewed and assessed the Council’s whistleblowing arrangements 
and issued a report that utilised a red, amber or green (RAG) formula, resulting in 
six green ratings, five amber ratings and three red ratings.

The Director of Policy, Performance and Governance is the Council’s Monitoring 
Officer and responsible for the Whistleblowing Policy and procedures.

Scope

To support a review and assessment of the operation of the Council’s current 
whistleblowing framework against Protect’s Benchmark framework. The aim was to 
improve on the 2017 assessment scores documented in the Protect report, and 
eliminate all red RAG rated concerns.

Key Findings

i. Internal Audit met with Protect’s Business Development Director to discuss 
their benchmark framework and Standards. 

ii. Internal Audit developed a Whistleblowing Toolkit in Microsoft Excel that 
would allow the Council to self-measure itself against the 34 Standards of 
Protect’s benchmark framework. 

iii. The Monitoring Officer has been given the Whistleblowing Toolkit by 
Internal Audit as well as a demonstration on how to use it. 

iv. The Whistleblowing Policy states for concerns ‘we hope you will feel able to 
raise it first with your manager or team leader’. ContactUs provided Internal 
Audit with a list of 465 line managers with licenses on the SAP Portal (these 
are line managers that approve leave). Internal Audit conducted a survey of 
these line managers to gauge their understanding of the Council’s 
Whistleblowing procedures.

v. The full survey responses have been shared with the Monitoring Officer. 

vi. Although the majority of line managers indicated they knew what 
information to record, it was clear that the Whistleblowing Policy should:

o Clarify what and how information should be recorded to ensure 
consistency and security of information;

o State when whistleblowing information can be deleted, in line with 
document retentions schedules;

o Include a flowchart clearly showing the whistleblowing process for staff 
and managers; and

o Support potential Whistleblowers by providing examples of what would 
be classed as whistleblowing versus a grievance.

vii. Through discussions with the Monitoring Officer Internal Audit noted that:

Page 128



Appendix 1

29

o There is no oversight of all whistleblowing allegations when the 
Monitoring Officer is not notified. This could be resolved by the 
implementation of a secure and confidential Whistleblowing System for 
the documentation of all allegations whether founded or unfounded; and

o When the Monitoring Officer is unavailable there is no deputy who feels 
confident in managing the Council’s whistleblowing procedures.

viii. Internal Audit met with the Council’s Counter Fraud Team as they have a 
Whistleblowing Data Management System (Opus). The Counter Fraud 
Team have advised that they can provide a ‘webform’ on the Council’s staff 
intranet which would allow line managers and staff to ‘log’ whistleblowing 
allegations onto Opus. Opus will then create a unique reference number for 
each ‘log’ and reports can be generated that would provide the Monitoring 
Officer oversight of all whistleblowing allegations.

Conclusion

Following the ARA consultancy work, the Director of Policy, Performance and 
Governance now has:

i. The tools to measure the Council’s whistleblowing procedures against 
Protect’s Benchmarking standards;

ii. An understanding of the procedures required to be in place to avoid any red 
RAG rated concerns by a Protect assessment; 

iii. An understanding of the current issues faced by line managers when 
managing a whistleblowing allegation; and

iv. Awareness of the Opus Data Management System. 

Management Actions

The consultancy review did not raise formal audit recommendations. 

Page 129



Appendix 1

30

Summary of Special Investigations and Counter Fraud Activities

Current Status 

The ARA Counter Fraud Team (CFT) has received fourteen new referrals in 2021/22 
to date and continued to work on eight cases brought forward from previous years.

The service areas of the cases referred to Internal Audit within 2021/22 to date are 
categorised as follows: Adults (5); Children’s (2); Corporate (1); County Wide (1); 
Community Safety (2); and Economy, Environment and Infrastructure (3).

Eight of the fourteen in year referrals have been closed. Four of those closed cases 
have previously been reported to the Audit and Governance Committee. The four 
recently closed referrals are as follows:

i. The first case related to allegations that a retained fire fighter was not 
accurately recording their call out times with their secondary employer and 
GFRS. Audit trail of the individual’s shifts together with the hours recorded 
was reviewed. It was found that GFRS internal controls for call out recording 
and monitoring were accurate and there was no case to answer on this 
occasion. The secondary employer has confirmed they will look to improve 
their record keeping process;

ii. In the second case a routine annual Financial Assessments and Benefits 
(FAB) assessment by the FAB team identified that an individual, in receipt of 
services funded by the Council via a Direct Payment, had failed to declare all 
of their savings. Individuals with savings exceeding the capital threshold of 
£23,250, as in this case, are considered to be self-funding and therefore not 
eligible to claim Council funded services. The individual has repaid in full the 
£22,240 claimed in error;

iii. The third closed case was a referral in respect of a Direct Payment (DP). The 
DP was to cover the costs of a Personal Assistant (PA). Concerns were raised 
suggesting that the DP was being paid to family members living at the same 
address as the claimant (which is against the DP agreement) and that the 
agreed hours were not being provided. Adult Services reviewed the details of 
the support being provided and following discussions with the family found 
that there was insufficient evidence to withhold any payments. Based on the 
outcome and Adult Services confirmation, the case was closed; and

iv. The final case was linked to the receipt of potential safeguarding concerns in 
respect of a service provider. The CFT passed on the concerns received to 
the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH). It was subsequently established 
that the Monitoring Officer had also received the allegations and had been in 
touch with the Council’s Commissioning and Brokerage teams to investigate 
the concerns. At this time there is no requirement for any CFT involvement, 
but the Council will continue to look into the concerns raised to ensure that no 
individuals are at risk.  

In respect of the eight prior year cases, five have been previously reported to Audit 
and Governance Committee. Of the three remaining prior year cases, two have now 
been closed:  

Page 130



Appendix 1

31

i. The first closed case was the result of a whistleblowing allegation. It was 
alleged that staff within a specific service area were regularly not present on 
site on a Friday afternoon. An investigation by the CFT confirmed this to be 
the case, although there were a number of mitigating factors to take into 
account - some of which were the result of confusion around the Covid-19 
guidance at that time. A further independent review was undertaken, following 
which a number of changes to working practices have been introduced; and

ii. The second case was the result of a complaint. The complainant alleged that 
there had been non-compliance with Council Policy in respect of contract 
procurement. As a result of the investigation, a number of recommendations 
were raised with the aim of strengthening the Council’s existing internal 
controls. In addition, further work around the Council’s contract procurement, 
recording and management will be undertaken, to raise awareness of 
Contract Standing Orders and Procurement policies and reiterate the 
requirement for compliance with these policies.

The outstanding open cases will be reported to the Audit and Governance 
Committee on their conclusion.

Many of the cases referred to Internal Audit involve intricate detail and Police 
referral. This invariably results in a delay before the investigation can be classed as 
closed and reported to the Audit and Governance Committee.

Any fraud alerts received by Internal Audit from the National Anti-Fraud Network 
(NAFN) and other credible entities are passed onto the relevant service areas within 
the Council, to alert staff to the potential fraud.

Gloucestershire County Council is a supporter of International Fraud Awareness 
Week (IFAW) which this year took place between 14th and 20th November. During 
this week there were log in screen pop ups together with articles on Staffnet 
providing counter fraud awareness including fun quizzes and articles on how to stay 
safe and avoid becoming a victim of the fraudster.

National Fraud Initiative (NFI)

Internal Audit continues to support the NFI which is a biennial data matching 
exercise administered by the Cabinet Office. The data collections for the 2021/22 
exercise were uploaded to the Cabinet Office between October and December 2020. 
The data matching reports resulting from the data upload were released from mid-
January 2021 onwards. 

The full NFI timetable can be found using the link available on GOV.UK – 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-fraud-initiative-timetables

Examples of data sets produced include insurance, payroll, creditors, pensions, blue 
badges and concessionary bus passes. Not all matches are investigated but where 
possible all recommended matches are reviewed by either the appropriate service 
area or in some cases Internal Audit. Any irregularities identified will be reviewed by 
the CFT. 

Page 131

https://www.nfi.gov.uk/r/34AA62E5BC1349DFA38F24BE5DCADC53
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-fraud-initiative-timetables


Appendix 1

32

To date and of the total 12,215 matches, 2,498 matches have been reviewed and 29 
are being investigated. However, it should be noted that some teams may be 
reviewing the matches offline and have yet to update the NFI site. The areas 
reviewed so far include pensions, payroll to payroll and duplicate creditors. No 
specific issues have been reported as identified.

Page 132



Appendix 2

Audit and Governance Committee 

21st January 2022

Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion
Reported to Audit 

Committee
Comments

Council Wide The Assurance Framework 1 Planned Brought forward from 20/21 plan. Consultancy. 

Council Wide Cyber Security 1 Planned Brought forward from 20/21 plan. Draft Terms of 

Reference issued. Scope to be confirmed. 

Council Wide Technology Procurement 1 Planned Brought forward from 20/21 plan. Terms of Reference 

issued.

Council Wide Procurement - Over Threshold 1 Planned Data Analytics Strategy - data analytics review. 

Council Wide Procurement - Off Contract Spend 1 Planned Data Analytics Strategy - data analytics review. 

Council Wide Duplicate Vendor Payments 1 Planned Data Analytics Strategy - data analytics review. Terms 

of Reference issued.

Council Wide Change to Supplier Bank Accounts 1 Planned Data Analytics Strategy - data analytics review. 

Council Wide Companies' House Check 1 Planned Data Analytics Strategy - data analytics review. Terms 

of Reference issued.

Council Wide VAT Registration Number 1 Planned Data Analytics Strategy - data analytics review. 

Council Wide Covid emergency funding grant 20/21 2 Audit in Progress Grant review. 

Council Wide Covid emergency funding grant 21/22 2 Planned Grant review. 

Corporate Resources General Corporate Complaints Process 2 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 28/09/2021 Brought forward from 20/21 plan.

Corporate Resources Grievance Process 1 Draft Report Issued Original draft report issued Sept 21. Report to be 

finalised with Director - People and Digital Services in 

Jan 22. 

Corporate Resources GCC usage of CCTV in compliance with legislation - Limited Assurance 

Follow Up

1 Planned

Corporate Resources Payroll Standing Data 2 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 21/01/2022 Brought forward from 20/21 plan.

Corporate Resources Sopra Steria Exit Strategy 1 Cancelled Brought forward from 20/21 plan. Audit activity 

cancelled based on level of senior management 

review/assurance delivery and the updated position. 

New Digital and ICT Service launched in April 2021, 

alongside the new enterprise support partner 

(Cantium). 
Corporate Resources Procurement Toolkit Internal Controls Advice 2 Review in Progress Brought forward from 20/21 plan. Consultancy advice 

across 21/22. 

Corporate Resources Lost Sales, Fees and Charges 20/21 - Claim Three 2 Draft Report Issued Grant review. 

Corporate Resources Lost Sales, Fees and Charges 21/22 2 Planned Grant review. 

Corporate Resources HR Consultancy 2 Planned Consultancy.

Corporate Resources Mapping The Procurement Sourcing Pools 2 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 21/01/2022 Consultancy.

Corporate Resources The Risk Management Framework 1 Review in Progress Consultancy.

Corporate Resources The Debt Collection Process (Adult Social Care) 1 Planned Quarter 4 21/22 activity.

Corporate Resources The Procurement Model and Transformation Plan 1 Planned Consultancy.

Corporate Resources The Whistleblowing Framework 2 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 21/01/2022 Consultancy.

Corporate Resources White Slips Payment Process 1 Draft Report Issued

Corporate Resources BT Network Upgrade 1 Audit in Progress ICT Audit Needs Assessment 21/22 outcome. Agreed 

at the Sept 21 Digital and ICT Senior Management 

Team meeting. 

Corporate Resources End User Device Management 1 Planned
ICT Audit Needs Assessment 21/22 outcome. Agreed 

at the Sept 21 Digital and ICT Senior Management 

Team meeting. Terms of Reference issued. 

Corporate Resources PSN accreditation 1 Audit in Progress ICT Audit Needs Assessment 21/22 outcome. Agreed 

at the Sept 21 Digital and ICT Senior Management 

Team meeting. 

Corporate Resources Project Management 1 Planned
Part of the draft ICT Audit Needs Assessment 21/22 

reviewed by the Sept 21 Digital and ICT Senior 

Management Team meeting. Potential for review to 

be deferred to 22/23, based on risk assessment. 

Page 1 of 4

P
age 133



Appendix 2

Audit and Governance Committee 

21st January 2022

Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion
Reported to Audit 

Committee
Comments

Corporate Resources Service Desk 1 Planned
Part of the draft ICT Audit Needs Assessment 21/22 

reviewed by the Sept 21 Digital and ICT Senior 

Management Team meeting. Potential for review to 

be deferred to 22/23, based on risk assessment. 

Corporate Resources Change Management 1 Planned ICT Audit Needs Assessment 21/22 outcome. Agreed 

at the Sept 21 Digital and ICT Senior Management 

Team meeting. Terms of Reference issued. Audit to 

be completed in Mar 22.

Corporate Resources Supplier Management 1 Planned
Part of the draft ICT Audit Needs Assessment 21/22 

reviewed by the Sept 21 Digital and ICT Senior 

Management Team meeting. Potential for review to 

be deferred to 22/23, based on risk assessment.  

Corporate Resources Disposal of Assets (Vehicles) - Limited Assurance Follow Up 1 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 21/01/2022

Corporate Resources ITDR - Limited Assurance Follow Up 1 Planned Brought forward from 20/21 plan. Terms of Reference 

issued.

Corporate Resources Asset Replacement Programme-Windows 10 upgrade – roll out of new 

devices 

1 Audit in Progress Brought forward from 20/21 plan.

Corporate Resources Asset Replacement Programme-Windows 10 upgrade – collection and 

disposal of end of life devices 

1 Audit in Progress Brought forward from 20/21 plan.

Corporate Resources JADU eforms 1 Audit in Progress Brought forward from 20/21 plan.

Adult Services GIS - Establishment audit 1 Planned Brought forward from 20/21 plan. Activity held in 

21/22 plan and risk assessment to be updated in 

21/22 to confirm up to date position and assurance 

need. 

Adult Services Out of County - cross charging for sexual health 2 Audit in Progress Brought forward from 20/21 plan.

Adult Services Premium for Care Providers 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 28/09/2021
Brought forward from 20/21 plan. Resource support.

Adult Services Carer Assessments 2 Planned

Adult Services Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 2 Planned

Adult Services Investment in OSJ Homes 2 Planned Brought forward from 20/21 plan. 

Adult Services Section 117 placements 2 Planned

Adult Services Use of LiquidLogic 2 Planned

Adult Services Covid 19 Test and Trace Service Support 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 28/09/2021 Grant certification. 

Adult Services Disabled Facilities Grant 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 21/01/2022 Grant certification. 

Adult Services Blue Badge Grant 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 28/09/2021 Grant certification. 

Adult Services Community Capacity Grant 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 28/09/2021 Grant certification. 

Adult Services Community Testing Funding - Grant 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 21/01/2022 New Activity. Grant certification. 

Adult Services Client Affairs - Limited Assurance Follow Up 1 Planned

Adult Services LiquidLogic - ICT security review (ERIC replacement) 1 Planned Brought forward from 20/21 plan.

Children's Services High Needs 2 Cancelled Risk consultation completed with the new Director of 

Education in quarter 3 21/22. Risk themes to be 

considered within 22/23 risk based audit planning.

Children's Services No Recourse to Public Funds 2 Audit in Progress Brought forward from 20/21 plan.

Children's Services Independent Reviewing Officers 2 Planned Brought forward from 20/21 plan.

Children's Services Social Work Academy 2 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 21/01/2022 Brought forward from 20/21 plan.

Children's Services Foster Carer Bandings and Payments 2 Planned

Children's Services Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) 2 Planned

Children's Services PACE Protocol 1 Audit in Progress Brought forward from 20/21 plan.

Children's Services Panel Arrangements 2 Planned Terms of Reference issued.

Children's Services Quality Assurance Framework - Education 2 Planned Consultancy.

Children's Services School Admissions 2 Audit in Progress

Children's Services Troubled Families - first review 2 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 21/01/2022 Grant review. 

Children's Services Troubled Families - second review 2 Planned Grant review. 

Children's Services Adoption Support Fund Assurance Statement 2 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 28/09/2021 Grant review. 

Page 2 of 4

P
age 134



Appendix 2

Audit and Governance Committee 

21st January 2022

Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion
Reported to Audit 

Committee
Comments

Children's Services European Union Settlement Scheme (EUSS) 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 28/09/2021 New Activity. Grant certification. 

Children's Services Youth Offending Service 2 Planned

Children's Services Schools internal audit 21/22 (Local Authority Maintained Schools) 1 Audit in Progress Schools audit outcomes to be reported in the 21/22 

Internal Audit Annual Report.

Children's Services Section 17 spend including No Recourse to Public Funds - Limited 

Assurance Follow Up

1 Draft Report Issued Original draft report issued in August 21. Report to be 

finalised via Children's SLT in Jan 22. 

Children's Services Direct Payments - Limited Assurance Follow Up 1 Planned

Children's Services Recruitment, Development and Retention of Foster Carers 2 Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 21/01/2022 Brought forward from 20/21 plan.

Children's Services Transition from Children’s to Adults Services 2 Planned Brought forward from 20/21 plan.

Children's Services Discretionary Payments to Foster Carers - Limited Assurance Follow Up 1 Planned Terms of Reference issued.

Children's Services Unregulated Placements and Packages of Support - Limited Assurance 

Follow Up

1 Draft Report Issued Original draft report issued Nov 21. Goal for report to 

be finalised via Children's SLT in Jan 22.

Children's Services Unregulated Placements and Packages of Support (Commissioning) - 

Limited Assurance Follow Up

1 Audit in Progress

Children's Services Pilot - Academy internal audit 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 28/09/2021

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure

West Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme (WCTIS) 1 Audit in Progress Brought forward from 20/21 plan.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure

Library Management System 1 Audit in Progress Brought forward from 20/21 plan.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure

Delivery of the Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 2 Planned Consultancy.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure

Energy from Waste Contract 1 Planned Brought forward from 20/21 plan.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure

Fleet Management 1 Planned Brought forward from 20/21 plan.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure

Local Transport Capital Funding 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 21/01/2022 Grant certification. 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure

Local Transport Capital Block Funding Pothole and Challenge Fund 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 28/09/2021 Grant certification. 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure

National Productivity Investment Fund 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 28/09/2021 Grant certification. 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure

Additional Highways Maintenance 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 28/09/2021 Grant certification. 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure

Bus subsidy ring-fenced (revenue) grant 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 21/01/2022 Grant certification. 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure

Growth Hub 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 28/09/2021 Grant certification. 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure

EU Transition Business Readiness 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 28/09/2021 Grant certification. 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure

Emergency Active Travel - Claim Two 2 Cancelled Audit cancelled. Confirmation obtained that audit 

certification not required for claim two. 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure

Supplemental Growth Hub 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 28/09/2021 New Activity. Grant certification. 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure

A46 Coopers Hill Repairs Grant 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 28/09/2021 New Activity. Grant certification. 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure

Transport Infrastructure Project Cost Reporting – M5J10 1 Planned Brought forward from 20/21 plan.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure

Procurement of Short Term Transport Arrangements for Social Care Users - 

Limited Assurance Follow Up

1 Audit in Progress Brought forward from 20/21 plan. Audit delivery within 

quarters 2 and 3 21/22. 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure

Traffic Signals – Asset Management and Replacement 2 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 28/09/2021 Brought forward from 20/21 plan.

Community Safety Business Fire Safety 2 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 21/01/2022 Brought forward from 20/21 plan.

Community Safety Cultural Review 1 Planned Brought forward from 20/21 plan.

Community Safety Competency and Training Record retention within GFRS 1 Deferred Audit deferred, due to the updated timing of the 

HMICFRS review in 21/22. Area to be considered in 

the 22/23 risk based audit planning exercise.

Page 3 of 4

P
age 135



Appendix 2

Audit and Governance Committee 

21st January 2022

Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion
Reported to Audit 

Committee
Comments

Community Safety Achievement of the Communities Business Continuity Improvement Plan by 

GFRS

2 Planned Consultancy.

Community Safety Operational Policy Review Process 2 Deferred Audit deferred, due to the updated timing of the 

HMICFRS review in 21/22. Area to be considered in 

the 22/23 risk based audit planning exercise.

Community Safety Fire and Rescue Authorities grant 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 28/09/2021 Grant certification. 

Community Safety GFRS Action Plan Follow Up Internal Audits 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 21/01/2022 All GFRS follow up audit activity is reported to the 

Audit and Governance Committee separately. The 

final update report is included in the January 22 

Committee agenda.

Pensions Pensions Information and Cyber Security 1 Planned Brought forward from 20/21 plan. Terms of Reference 

issued. Agreed for delivery in Feb 22. 

Pensions Ghost Pensioners 1 Planned Brought forward from 20/21 plan. Planning in 

progress. For delivery in quarter 4 21/22.

Pensions Hyman’s Employer Asset Tracking (HEAT) process 1 Audit in Progress

Pensions Pensions contingency 1 Planned ARA resource held for one further area of pensions 

review. To be confirmed following outcome of 

independent pension governance review. 

Pensions Management of the LGPS (Annual Governance Statement 21/22) 1 Planned

Page 4 of 4

P
age 136



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 21st January 2022 Agenda No: 12

Title of Report: Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Services (GFRS) Internal Audit 
Follow Up – Final Progress Report 2021/22

Purpose of Report: The purpose of this report is to:

 Provide assurance to the Audit and Governance Committee that 
the Internal Audit recommendations made in relation to the 
independent investigation of GFRS have been / are being 
addressed; and

 Inform Members of the progress of GFRS Internal Audit Follow 
Up activity undertaken up to January 2022.  

Recommendations: It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee reviews 
and considers the actions taken to address the recommendations made 
and progress to date.

Officer (s) Contact: Piyush Fatania – Head of Audit Risk Assurance (ARA) and Insurance 
Services 
Tel: 01452 328883
piyush.fatania@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Paul Blacker - Director of Finance 
Tel: 01452 328999
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver an effective Internal Audit Service will prevent an 
independent, objective assurance opinion to be provided to those 
charged with governance that the key risks associated with the 
achievement of the Council’s objectives are being adequately 
controlled. 

Failure to deliver an effective corporate governance framework 
prevents GFRS and the Council in directing and controlling its 
resources effectively and efficiently, to enable their priorities and 
objectives to be met.

Page 137

Agenda Item 11

mailto:piyush.fatania@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – 
Final Progress Report

January 2022

Page 139



Gloucestershire County Council 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Final Progress Report v1.0

Distribution

Co
nt

ents
1. Introduction................................................................................................................................1

2. GFRS Improvement Board........................................................................................................1

3. Audit Scope ...............................................................................................................................3

4. Key Findings as at January 2022 ..............................................................................................4

5. Conclusion as at January 2022 .................................................................................................6

Appendix 1 – Original GFRS Internal Audit recommendations .....................................................7

Appendix 2 – Internal Audit assurance opinion and recommendation definitions .......................10

Appendix 3 – Recommendations confirmed as in progress as at January 2022 ........................11

Important

Gloucestershire County Council’s Internal Audit service conforms to the International 
Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing.

The information contained within this Internal Audit report is confidential and personal data 
herein is subject to data protection legislation.

This report has been prepared solely for the use of Gloucestershire County Council’s auditors 
and those officers and Members named on the distribution list.  Its contents, either in part or in 
its entirety, must not be reproduced or distributed to anyone other than its intended recipients 
without the written permission of the Council’s Head of Audit, Risk and Assurance (ARA).
Gloucestershire County Council accepts no liability to any third party for any loss or expense 
arising from their reliance on any part of this report.

To: 

 

Gloucestershire County Council Audit and Governance Committee 

Chief Fire Officer

Page 140



Gloucestershire County Council

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Final Progress Report v1.0 1

1. Introduction
On 15th June 2018 a letter of complaint was sent by email to the Leader of the Council.  There 
were three strands to the complaint. One concerned the sale of a Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service (GFRS) owned vehicle and the Chief Fire Officer (CFO) in post at June 2018’s 
involvement in the process (it is noted that post turnover has subsequently occurred). The other 
two concerns were regarding staffing issues.  It was agreed that Internal Audit would investigate 
the sale of the vehicle and Human Resources (HR) would review the remaining two concerns.

Shortly after commencing the investigation, numerous whistleblowing allegations and Freedom 
of Information Requests (FOIs) in respect of other concerns relating to GFRS governance 
arrangements, procedures, systems and processes were received. As a result, following review, 
research, analysis and interviews with key stakeholders including relevant GFRS Officers, 
Internal Audit co-ordinated the findings and made a number of GFRS-specific and council-wide 
(cross-cutting) recommendations to undertake detailed reviews and audits within each area to 
determine the level of risk.  These reviews and audits were outlined in the Action Plan 
presented to the Audit and Governance Committee on 12th October 2018 and the last of the 
audit outcomes being presented on 11th October 2019.
 
Each published Internal Audit report contained an action plan detailing audit recommendations, 
agreed by management, for implementation. A total of 18 audits were undertaken which 
generated 118 individual audit recommendations (High Priority and Medium Priority).  Eleven of 
the audits were given Limited Assurance opinions either for risk management, the control 
environment or both.

A summary of the 18 audits are included at Appendix 1. Definitions for Internal Audit assurance 
opinions and recommendation priorities are detailed at Appendix 2.  

2. GFRS Improvement Board 
Following discussions between the CFO, Assistant Chief Fire Officer (ACFO) and 
Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) Human Resources (HR) at the beginning of August 
2019 the GFRS Improvement Board was established.  

The remit of the Board included the GFRS Internal Audit Action Plan outcomes and actions 
required from Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services 
(HMICFRS) inspection 2019/20. In addition, the Board’s goal was to consider the wider picture 
of collective improvement for GFRS.

The main purpose, role and expectation of the Board as per the Board terms of reference was 
to:

i. Maintain oversight to ensure that all the required improvements and quality assurances 
are achieved by Area Leads in a timely manner;  

ii. Add weight and rigour towards achieving the required outcomes; 

iii. Take an overview of Area Leads’ actions (highlights and exceptions) and to address the 
findings;

Page 141



Gloucestershire County Council

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Final Progress Report v1.0 2

iv. Support Area Leads by removing barriers where progress is hampered by elements 
outside of their control;

v. Review the evidence, by way of Ratification Reports and supporting information supplied 
by Area Leads, which demonstrates that improvements are embedded through the 
implementation of robust systems, processes, policies and procedures.  This will all be 
reported and monitored through the development of a tracker system that both GFRS 
and GCC staff (including Internal Audit) will have access to; and

vi. Be answerable to and to report progress or otherwise to, the following committees for 
consideration, Scrutiny and ultimately, for final ratification: Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service Senior Leadership Team; and Audit and Governance Committee.

The GFRS Improvement Board membership was as follows:

i. Cabinet Member for Public Protection, Parking and Libraries;

ii. Chief Fire Officer (Chair);

iii. Commissioning Director (GCC);

iv. Assistant Chief Fire Officers; 

v. Head of Planning, Performance and Improvement (GCC);

vi. GFRS Performance and Communications Manager;

vii. Interim Area Manager; 

viii.Project Manager (GCC Planning, Performance and Improvement); 

ix. GFRS Planning, Strategy and Performance Team members; and

x. Additional attendees as called to the meetings (including Internal Audit, HMICFRS and 
wider GFRS representation). 

GFRS Improvement Board meetings were completed monthly between September 2019 and 
May 2021. The GFRS Improvement Board activity concluded in May 2021, following Board 
confirmation that all ARA audit recommendations had been actioned and/or were being 
appropriately progressed. 

The future route for improvement plan and audit findings is currently in discussion between the 
GFRS Board membership contacts, with the GFRS Project Management Office (PMO) being 
considered as a potential option.  

Page 142



Gloucestershire County Council

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Final Progress Report v1.0 3

3. Audit Scope  
ARA GFRS Action Plan follow up activity captures actions against Internal Audit 
recommendations only. HMICFRS recommendation review is excluded from the ARA work and 
will by monitored by GFRS with oversight from HMICFRS. 

The Internal Audit follow-up activity will review all High Priority recommendations from non-
limited assurance reports and all High Priority and Medium Priority recommendations from 
limited assurance reports to ensure timely implementation of the agreed recommendations.

The audit follow-up approach has been agreed with GFRS to provide the necessary assurances 
to the GFRS Improvement Board, Gloucestershire County Council’s Head of ARA and the Audit 
and Governance Committee. This includes:

i. To enable efficiency and avoid duplication, ARA will place reliance, where possible, on 
the GFRS tracker system that is being used by the GFRS Improvement Board to monitor 
the implementation of the Internal Audit and HMICFRS recommendations;

ii. ARA will attend relevant GFRS Improvement Board meetings where progress updates in 
terms of implementation of recommendations will be presented by GFRS Area Leads.  
Following additional audit testing and review of evidence, ARA will update the GFRS 
tracker system within the agreed areas until such time as all the recommendations have 
been verified as implemented; and

iii. If new recommendations are made as part of the follow-up activity, these will be added to 
the tracker system in consultation with GFRS senior management and the same process 
will be applied to follow up the implementation of those recommendations.

To ensure consistency and management of expectations, ARA has ensured that the original 
GFRS Action Plan lead Auditors have been allocated to deliver the Internal Audit follow up 
activity.

The CFO and the Head of ARA agreed for progress updates to be presented to the Audit and 
Governance Committee twice a year (as a minimum) until all actions are confirmed by GFRS 
Improvement Board as implemented and the position has been appropriately verified (through 
review and testing) by Internal Audit. 
 
This is the fifth and final GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up Progress Report to Audit and 
Governance Committee. 

The first report was presented to Audit and Governance Committee on 30th October 2020 
(October 2020 position); the second on 22nd January 2021 (December 2020 position); the third 
on 25th March 2021 (February 2021 position); and the fourth on 30th July 2021 (June 2021 
position). 

Page 143



Gloucestershire County Council

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Final Progress Report v1.0 4

4. Key Findings as at January 2022  
Follow up process development

The ARA team have worked directly with the GFRS Performance and Improvement Manager 
and GFRS Planning, Strategy and Performance Team from quarter 4 2019/20 to ensure an 
appropriate process with accessible audit trail to enable Internal Audit follow up delivery. 

The GFRS audit trail is accessed via Microsoft Teams. This includes Board papers, the GFRS 
recommendation tracker and ratification reports with supporting documentation as per Internal 
Audit recommendation. 

The Board was attended by ARA initially in May 2020, to enable understanding of the agenda 
content and approach. 

From June 2020 up to May 2021, ARA attended Board meetings on a monthly basis and were 
able to engage in discussions, challenge as appropriate and raise relevant queries. Internal 
Audit follow up activity on an individual recommendation basis commenced from June 2020.

Each Board meeting attended by ARA was chaired by the CFO and followed a set agenda 
including updates from GFRS Area Leads regards specific audit recommendations. It was 
evident through the meetings that Board members actively challenged the position on each 
presented recommendation, to ensure assurance provided by the GFRS Area Lead was 
appropriately evidenced to enable Board formal sign off. 

GFRS Improvement Board Recommendations Position Statement

As at the final GFRS Improvement Board meeting in May 2021, the Board signed off all (100%) 
of the 124 actions (from 118 audit recommendations) total as implemented and/or as being 
progressed through an appropriate route. Further update was then provided directly by the CFO 
up to January 2022. 

The position is detailed in the below table:

GFRS Improvement Board / CFO 
confirmed position as at January 2022

Total audit recommendations / actions 118 audit recommendations.

Six recommendations were split out by GFRS 
into an interim action and a medium term 
action, totalling 124 actions within the GFRS 
Improvement Board tracker. 

The six split recommendations were relevant 
to budget monitoring, budget setting, income 
and cash handling, disposals and 
procurement cards. 

Actions confirmed as implemented by the 
Board / CFO

123

Page 144



Gloucestershire County Council

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Final Progress Report v1.0 5

GFRS Improvement Board / CFO 
confirmed position as at January 2022

Actions in progress with the PMO Not applicable
Actions in progress and being delivered 
with/by the wider organisation (GCC)

One - GFRS Procurement recommendation 4

 
Internal Audit’s Recommendations Position Statement

As at 5th January 2022, Internal Audit can confirm that in total:

i. The 123 actions signed off by Board or the CFO as implemented are relevant to 117 
(99%) Internal Audit recommendations out of the 118 recommendation total.

ii. 12 (10%) recommendations do not require Internal Audit follow up due to being Medium 
Priority recommendations from non Limited assurance opinion GFRS Action Plan internal 
audit reports. The includes all recommendations relevant to the GFRS Capital 
Programme internal audit. 

iii. 91 (77%) recommendations (previously 57 recommendations as at June 2021) have 
been verified by Internal Audit as implemented, with no further action required by GFRS 
Improvement Board. This includes all recommendations relevant to the following GFRS 
internal audits:

o Budget Monitoring;
o Budget Setting; 
o Fleet – Commissioning of new vehicles;
o Fleet – Disposal of vehicle;
o Fleet – Maintenance and Stores;
o Fleet management – use of pool cars, personal and leased cars and fuel 

schemes;
o Gifts and Hospitality and Declarations of Interest;
o Governance; 
o HR and Payroll – Absence Reporting Procedures;
o HR and Payroll – Recruitment; 
o HR and Payroll – Retirement; 
o HR and Payroll – Staff Promotion, Progression and Movement;
o Income and cash handling; and
o Procurement Cards. 

iv. As previously reported to Committee, one recommendation (GFRS Procurement 
recommendation 4) requires no further GFRS Improvement Board or CFO action. This is 
due to the area being a GCC corporate recommendation to be reviewed by ARA directly 
with the confirmed GCC lead officer and reported separately to Committee. This action is 
in progress and outcomes will be separately reported to Committee through delivery of 
the Internal Audit Plan 2021/22. See Appendix 3. 

v. One recommendation (Syrian Refugee Grant recommendation 1) has been identified by 
Internal Audit as in progress and due for full implementation, (through the signing and 
sealing of a contract) in quarter 4 2021/22. 

Page 145



Gloucestershire County Council

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Final Progress Report v1.0 6

Verification of recommendation implementation will be provided through the next Internal 
Audit Progress Report to Audit and Governance Committee. See Appendix 3.

vi. 13 audit recommendations from the GFRS HR and Payroll – Expenses and service 
benefits original internal audit have not been verified by ARA as implemented as at 
January 2022. The Internal Audit position is based on the findings from 2021/22 audit 
sample testing, which are summarised at Appendix 3. All identified anomalies have been 
reported to GFRS senior management. ARA is working with GFRS to clarify the areas 
further and ensure appropriate treatment.

Based on the above position, ARA propose that a GFRS Expenses internal audit is 
included within the Gloucestershire County Council Internal Audit Plan 2022/23. The 
review scope will ensure up to date risk assessment and consideration of the original 
recommendation themes, to provide assurance to Committee that they have been 
actioned and fully embedded. 

Appendix 1 includes a summary of the GFRS audits and confirmation of the number of 
recommendations verified as implemented by Internal Audit to date. 

Appendix 3 confirms the remaining unverified/in progress recommendations as at January 
2022. 

5. Conclusion as at January 2022  
Covid 19 has placed significant pressures on public services and has impacted (and continues 
to impact) the Council’s and GFRS’s priorities, objectives and risk environment. Even during this 
very challenging period, GFRS has made positive progress and applied a strong drive to 
complete the implementation of the Internal Audit recommendations.

Internal Audit recognises the hard work that GFRS has placed in addressing the 
recommendations, particularly prioritising and focusing on these actions during the pandemic, 
which has not been an easy task and demonstrates a strong commitment to driving good 
governance within GFRS.

As at January 2022, Internal Audit can provide satisfactory assurance that audit 
recommendations have been fully implemented for 15 of the original 18 GFRS Action Plan 
internal audit reports. This is a commendable achievement. There has also been positive 
progression on the remaining three internal audit reports. 

Based on ARA review and as detailed in Appendix 3, 15 recommendations remain unverified 
by Internal Audit and therefore are marked as in progress. The outcomes from the remaining 
recommendations will be reported to Audit and Governance Committee through:

i. 2021/22 Internal Audit Progress Reports; and

ii. Inclusion of a GFRS Expenses internal audit within the 2022/23 Internal Audit Plan and 
reporting of the specific activity outcomes to Committee within 2022/23. 

Page 146



Gloucestershire County Council

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Final Progress Report v1.0 7

Appendix 1 – Original GFRS Internal Audit recommendations

Assurance Opinions*** Internal Audit recommendations raised*** 
(including the total number requiring Internal 
Audit follow up (N) and the number verified by 
Internal Audit (N) as at January 2022) 

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audits 

Risk 
Identification 
Maturity

Control 
Environment

High Priority Medium 
Priority

Total 

Date audit findings 
were reported to 
Audit and 
Governance 
Committee

GFRS - Gifts and 
Hospitality and 
Declarations of 
Interest

Limited Limited 3 (3) (3) 2 (2) (2) 5 (5) (5) – audit 
verification 
complete

25th April 2019

GFRS Budget 
Monitoring 

Substantial Satisfactory 4 (4) (4) 0 (0) (0) 4 (4) (4) – audit 
verification 
complete

25th April 2019

GFRS Budget Setting Substantial Satisfactory 1 (1) (1) 1 (0) (0) 2 (1) (1) – audit 
verification 
complete

25th April 2019

GFRS Capital 
programme

Satisfactory Satisfactory 0 (0) (0) 4 (0) (0) 4 (0) (0) – audit 
verification not 
required

26th July 2019

GFRS Fleet – 
Commissioning of new 
vehicles

Limited (with a 
few Satisfactory 
aspects)

Limited 4 (4) (4) 3 (3) (3) 7 (7) (7) – audit 
verification 
complete

26th July 2019

GFRS Fleet – 
Disposal of vehicles

Limited Limited 12 (12) (12) 2 (2) (2) 14 (14) (14) – 
audit 
verification 
complete

26th July 2019

P
age 147



Gloucestershire County Council

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Final Progress Report v1.0 8

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audits 

Assurance Opinions*** Internal Audit recommendations raised*** 
(including the total number requiring Internal 
Audit follow up (N) and the number verified by 
Internal Audit (N) as at January 2022) 

Date audit findings 
were reported to 
Audit and 
Governance 
CommitteeRisk 

Identification 
Maturity

Control 
Environment

High Priority Medium 
Priority

Total 

GFRS Fleet – 
Maintenance and 
Stores

Satisfactory Limited 8 (8) (8) 6 (6) (6) 14 (14) (14) – 
audit 
verification 
complete

25th April 2019

GFRS Fleet 
management – use of 
pool cars, personal 
and leased cars and 
fuel schemes 

Limited Limited 5 (5) (5) 0 (0) (0) 5 (5) (5) – audit 
verification 
complete

11th October 2019

GFRS Governance Not Applicable Not Applicable 3 (3) (3) 1 (0) (0) 4 (3) (3) – audit 
verification 
complete

25th January 2019

GFRS HR and Payroll 
– Absence reporting 
procedures

Satisfactory Satisfactory 3 (3) (3) 0 (0) (0) 3 (3) (3) – audit 
verification 
complete

26th July 2019

GFRS HR and Payroll 
– Expenses and 
service benefits

Limited Limited 11 (11) (0) 4 (4) (2) 15 (15) (2) – 
January 2022 
position

11th October 2019

GFRS HR and Payroll 
– Staff Promotion, 
Progression and 
Movement

Limited Limited 5 (5) (5) 1 (1) (1) 6 (6) (6) – audit 
verification 
complete

25th April 2019

GFRS HR and Payroll 
– Recruitment

Satisfactory Limited 3 (3) (3) 0 (0) (0) 3 (3) (3) – audit 
verification 
complete

25th April 2019

P
age 148



Gloucestershire County Council

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Final Progress Report v1.0 9

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audits 

Assurance Opinions*** Internal Audit recommendations raised*** 
(including the total number requiring Internal 
Audit follow up (N) and the number verified by 
Internal Audit (N) as at January 2022) 

Date audit findings 
were reported to 
Audit and 
Governance 
CommitteeRisk 

Identification 
Maturity

Control 
Environment

High Priority Medium 
Priority

Total 

GFRS HR and Payroll 
– Retirement

Satisfactory Satisfactory 2 (2) (2) 1 (0) (0) 3 (2) (2) – audit 
verification 
complete

25th April 2019

GFRS Income and 
cash handling

Satisfactory Satisfactory 3 (3) (3) 5 (0) (0) 8 (3) (3) – audit 
verification 
complete

26th July 2019

GFRS Procurement Limited Limited 7 (7) (6) 1 (1) (1) 8 (8) (7) – 
January 2022 
position

26th July 2019

GFRS Procurement 
Cards

Limited Limited 7 (7) (7) 1 (1) (1) 8 (8) (8) – audit 
verification 
complete

25th April 2019

Syrian Refugee Grant Satisfactory Limited 4 (4) (3) 1 (1) (1) 5 (5) (4) – 
January 2022 
position

11th October 2019

Total 85 (85) (72) 33 (21) (19) 118 (106) (91)

***See Appendix 2 for the internal audit assurance opinion and recommendation definitions. 

P
age 149



               Gloucestershire County Council

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Final Progress Report v1.0 10

Appendix 2 – Internal Audit assurance opinion and 
recommendation definitions 
ARA Internal Audit assurance opinion definitions: 

Assurance 
Levels Risk Identification Maturity Control Environment
Substantial Risk Managed

Service area fully aware of the risks relating 
to the area under review and the impact that 
these may have on service delivery, other 
services, finance, reputation, legal, the 
environment, customer, partners, and staff. 
All key risks are accurately reported and 
monitored in line with the Corporate Risk 
Management Strategy.

 System Adequacy – 
Robust framework of 
controls ensures that there 
is a high likelihood of 
objectives being achieved

 Control Application – 
Controls are applied 
continuously or with minor 
lapses

Satisfactory Risk Aware
Service area have an awareness of the risks 
relating to the area under review and the 
impact that these may have on service 
delivery, other services, finance, reputation, 
legal, the environment, customer, partners, 
and staff. However some key risks are not 
being accurately reported and monitored in 
line with the Corporate Risk Management 
Strategy.

 System Adequacy – 
Sufficient framework of key 
controls for objectives to be 
achieved but, control 
framework could be 
stronger

 Control Application – 
Controls are applied but 
with some lapses

Limited Risk Naïve 
Due to an absence of accurate and regular 
reporting and monitoring of the key risks in 
line with the Corporate Risk Management 
Strategy, the Service area has not 
demonstrated an adequate awareness of the 
risks relating to the area under review and the 
impact that these may have on service 
delivery, other services, finance, reputation, 
legal, the environment, customer, partners 
and staff.  

 System Adequacy – Risk 
of objectives not being 
achieved due to the 
absence of key internal 
controls

 Control Application – 
Significant breakdown in 
the application of control

ARA Internal Audit recommendation priority definitions: 

Priority Description
High Critical or Major risk exposure which materially impact on the assets, 

reputation, service delivery and objectives of the Council. 
Medium Moderate risk exposure that impacts on the assets, reputation, service 

delivery and objectives of the Council.

Page 150



Gloucestershire County Council

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Final Progress Report v1.0 11

Appendix 3 – Recommendations confirmed as in progress as at January 2022
Two individual recommendations have been identified as in progress through an appropriate route. The below table details the 
recommendations, their progression route and the position as at January 2022.  

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audit

Recommendation reference and 
priority

Management’s response Position as at January 2022

Limited Assurance

GFRS Procurement

High priority

4. A review of the second line of 
defence role and responsibilities should 
be undertaken to establish whether the 
Council’s current procurement 
oversight, challenge, support and 
monitoring function(s) is adequate to 
achieve the principles and application 
of an effective and robust three lines of 
defence model. The results of this 
review should then be implemented.

For below OJEU threshold, a review 
will be undertaken and 
recommendations made on improving 
controls. Discussions have already 
taken place between Finance, 
Commercial and BSC on this. The 
sourcing pool principle will be reviewed 
and updated and appropriate training 
given to staff.

Recommendation progressed and 
escalated by GFRS Improvement 
Board, due to being a GCC corporate 
action.  Recommendation action 
ownership re-allocated to the GCC 
Assistant Director of Strategic 
Procurement as at December 2020.  

The area will be reviewed by ARA 
directly with the confirmed GCC lead 
officer, monitored and reported 
separately to Audit and Governance 
Committee.

This has been initiated through the 
approved 2021/22 Internal Audit Plan 
and progression of a number of activity 
streams. Such as the Procurement 
Sourcing Pools consultancy review, 
with outcomes due to be reported to 
the 21st January 2022 Audit and 
Governance Committee. 

P
age 151



Gloucestershire County Council

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Final Progress Report v1.0 12

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audit

Recommendation reference and 
priority

Management’s response Position as at January 2022

Limited Assurance

Syrian Refugee 
Grant 

High priority

1. A formal contract is put in place for 
GARAS, this contact should then be 
entered on the Contracts Register held 
by GCC.

Work is well underway with GCC 
commissioning to ensure that the 
support services provided for Syrian 
Refugee Resettlement are procured 
through a compliant framework. It is 
currently waiting for Commercial 
Services to complete their enquiries. 
We aim to have this in place by 
December 2019.

A co-ordinated effort was applied by 
GFRS, Strategic Finance, Legal and 
Strategic Procurement to complete an 
EU compliant competitive tender 
process for the Gloucestershire 
Refugee Resettlement Programme. 
The outcome was the contract award to 
GARAS Ltd from April 2021 for a period 
of three years (with the option to extend 
for up to two years). 

Audit trail supports the tender process 
and the outcome, including decision for 
the contract award being finalised 
through ‘Executive Decision Making by 
an Officer with Delegated Powers’. 

As at December 2021, confirmation has 
been received from both GFRS and 
Legal Services that the formal final 
contract is not sealed. Legal Services is 
progressing the contract for update, 
signature then sealing within January 
2022. 

The audit recommendation should be 
fully actioned in quarter 4 2021/22. The 
outcome will be reported to Committee 
through the Internal Audit Progress 
Report 2021/22.

P
age 152



Gloucestershire County Council

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Final Progress Report v1.0 13

In addition, 13 audit recommendations from the GFRS HR and Payroll – Expenses and service benefits original internal audit have not been 
verified as implemented by Internal Audit as at January 2022. The rationale on recommendation position and confirmation of future assurance 
actions are confirmed below.  

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audit

Recommendation reference and 
priority

Management’s response Position as at January 2022

Limited Assurance

GFRS HR and 
Payroll – Expenses 
and service benefits 

13 audit recommendations (11 High 
priority and 2 Medium priority) have 
been marked by ARA as ‘Further 
Action or Information Required’ to 
enable Internal Audit verification.  

The recommendations relate to:

i. Policy and procedure update;
ii. Improvement to internal controls 

(including management review 
and authorisation); and

iii. Management oversight and 
review to ensure compliance 
with requirements and 
investigation of anomaly areas.

The above recommendation themes 
included the need to ensure 
compliance with relevant HMRC tax 
requirements.
 

Management confirmed agreement to 
all GFRS HR and Payroll – Expenses 
and service benefits audit 
recommendations.

GFRS Improvement Board confirmed 
implementation of all GFRS HR and 
Payroll – Expenses and service 
benefits audit recommendations as at 
May 2021. 

Audit trail was provided to ARA to 
evidence the achieved position. 

Management responses, GFRS 
Improvement Board updates and wider 
audit trail has been reviewed by ARA. 
In addition, GFRS expenses audit 
sample testing has been completed in 
2021 to ensure there is evidenced 
compliance with the recommendation 
requirements. 

Material anomalies have been 
identified within audit sample testing 
specific to the treatment of home to 
work mileage; and audit trail for 
completed journeys. This position has 
prevented Internal Audit verification of 
the 13 recommendations, due to the 
level of non-compliance identified. 

All identified anomalies have been 
reported to GFRS senior management. 
ARA is working with GFRS to clarify the 
areas and ensure appropriate 
treatment.

Based on the above position, ARA propose that a GFRS Expenses internal audit is included within the Internal Audit Plan 2022/23. The review 
scope will ensure consideration of the original recommendation themes and provide assurance to Committee that they have been actioned. 

P
age 153



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report to Audit and Governance Committee 21st January on actions 
taken in relation to key recommendations made in the audit report 
relating to the audit of Traffic Signal Asset Management

Lead Officer: Philip Williams (Lead Commissioner Community 
Infrastructure)

Presenting officer (if different to above)

Summary of Audit Area 
The Council has 184 signalised junctions and 200 signalised crossings 
incorporating thousands of individual signal units across the County. As 
roads get busier and people need to move around the county efficiently and 
effectively, there is a need to ensure that the traffic signals provide for this by 
being well maintained and replaced when necessary.

There are also non-signalled junctions that may be better managed if they 
have a traffic signal and also infrastructure developments within the County 
that may require signalling to be installed.

The above requires a robust approach to existing asset maintenance and 
also the need to be aware of all developments in advance. There has been 
an increase in signals in the last few years and signals are not normally, if 
ever, decommissioned. This results in an ever-increasing traffic signal asset 
infrastructure to be managed.

Austerity budgets in previous years has resulted in underinvestment in 
assets which are now ageing and also reduced management and staffing 
capacity.

Page 155

Agenda Item 12



Summary Terms of Reference of the Audit
This audit reviewed and evaluated the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
asset management and replacement programme put in place by the Council 
to ensure this critical part of the Highways infrastructure remains fit for 
purpose. 

The audit specifically examined and evaluated the following:

Objective One – Traffic signal assets are documented, locations known, and 
condition surveys of existing stock are regularly undertaken;

Objective Two – An inspection, maintenance and replacement programme / 
plan is in place and being adhered to with resources adequate to undertake 
the tasks;

Objective Three – Traffic signal maintenance (revenue) budgets and capital 
funding are maintained and adequate;

Objective Four – There are adequate and appropriate staff resources and IT 
systems to support the operation and overall management of the traffic 
signals infrastructure. Third party expertise is obtained as required.

Risks
 Lack of management information results in unknown positions, faults 

extending beyond acceptable timescales and progress not being 
adequately monitored.

 Potential for assets to be held on the Council’s balance sheet and a 
write down charge being applied after they have been disposed of. 

 Increased signal failures causing motor and pedestrian disruption;
 potential accident risk;
 additional emergency repair costs; and
 Increased costs of parts when maintaining older equipment.
 Financial waste and inefficient use of assets causing: -

o Assets to be replaced unnecessarily;
o Capital expenditure that is not properly justified;
o Increasing maintenance (revenue expenditure) cost.

Page 156



Key Findings

There is a well understood and properly operating system of financial 
management and control for both capital and revenue expenditure; these budgets 
and spend to date, along with out-turn projections are reported and closely 
monitored. However, the capital budget is being reported internally as inadequate 
to meet end of life replacement expectations but there is no evidence of the 
extent of the real problem. Replacing traffic signal assets that are working well 
simply because they are at, approaching, or beyond a theoretical end of life, may 
be inappropriate. There is also a disparity in respect of the expected or assumed 
asset life between Finance and the operational area.

Staff resources within GCC and the IT systems used to administer the activity in-
house are reasonable. External specialists have been appointed to provide the 
field expertise as required, both for repairs and for inspections. From our testing 
and the evidence provided, it is considered that the processes in place for fault 
reporting and remediation are adequate and working as intended and within the 
parameters of the KPIs.
 
The inspection process was not operating as expected at the time of the audit, 
although the position improved during the course of our work. It was not clear 
from evidence provided whether or how the performance of the contractor is being 
challenged, what remedial actions were being taken, or whether any performance 
penalties were appropriate and had been imposed. Formal management reporting 
to the Lead Commissioner that would provide a clear picture of the issues and 
with progress from period to period is absent.

The issues around the inspection programme (as at the audit field work date) may 
hinder the accurate assessment of the current condition of traffic signals. The lack 
of formal management reporting could result in poor decision making around 
asset replacement, repair, and end of life.

Page 157



Action taken as at the 17th December 2021
The Internal Audit report raised five recommendations as follows:

Recommendation 1 (High Priority):
A more formal and challenging contractor management process should be 
implemented. This should include assessment against the contracted service 
levels and documenting the contractor’s responses to performance failures and 
their proposals for remedial action.

- The current position on inspections against targets and likely out turn 
position against expected;

- Movements in-period on inspections (improvement or deterioration since 
last report);

- Commentary on position including contractor performance & resourcing;
- barriers to service delivery and outlines corrective actions being taken;
- Successes or failures to meet KPIs on fault repairs;

Actions being taken or proposed to correct the position where it is failing.

Original management response:

Restart four monthly progress meetings (stopped due to covid). A new engineer 
has recently started covering Gloucestershire, this has improved the Periodic 
Inspections (he used to work in this area before). 
Periodic Inspections from 1st April to be entered on Imtrac and emailed to Traffic 
Signals as they are completed – this will ensure all issues are addressed as soon 
as they are found.  Prior to this, Engineers email/call when they find issues on site 
following an inspection.
Chargeable works - once a chargeable call has been logged on Tramms, Telent 
have 10 days to carry out the repairs unless a specific programme of works has 
been agreed with GCC.  Once the work is complete the Tramms call will be 
closed and invoiced. Monthly report to show which chargeable works have not 
been completed. 
 All periodic inspections to take place annually. The results from the inspection 
are to be entered onto the Imtrac system from site after completion.
Telent will provide a schedule of when each site is to be inspected during the 
year.  Quarterly reports stating how many periodic inspections have been 
completed and show how many are outstanding.

This action was completed during the course of the audit.

Recommendation 2 (High Priority):
The life expectancy of the traffic signals assets should be aligned so that both 
Highways and Finance are working to the same time-span.

Original management response:

We will inform Finance of the correct life span.

Management update as at December 2021

Finance has been informed via email of the correct life span.

Page 158



Recommendation 3 (High Priority):
The current situation in respect of the level of life expired signal equipment and 
the capital cost of replacement (in full and over a reasonable period) should be re-
evaluated. This is in light of the asset expected life discrepancy and the additional 
data required (as suggested in recommendation 4 below). This should be brought 
to the attention of the Senior Leadership Team and the Cabinet as soon as 
possible and an equitable funding solution identified and agreed.

Original management response:

Asset Management Information to be brought to the attention of the Senior 
Leadership Team.

This action was completed during the audit as part of ‘state of nation’ review.

Recommendation 4 (High Priority):
Detailed investigation and analyses should be undertaken (or database extracts if 
the information is now available) that clearly shows the following: -
 the threshold by asset type above which it is uneconomical to maintain;
 increases in maintenance costs of life expired assets year on year and the 

cost/benefit of maintenance against replacement;
 age of all assets;
 years beyond life cycle expectation;
 maintenance spend per asset type;
 ongoing viability and expected total life of asset;
 number of emergency repairs per asset type – and in particular those that are 

currently life expired; and
 asset failures (by number) and also where there has been aby incident or 

accident caused by a failed asset that is life expired.

Which then leads to quality management information provision such as how long 
an asset’s life can actually be extended (known as asset sweating) to increase 
value for money and return on investment.

Original management response:

The data is now contained within Imtrac, we are working with the provider to 
extract the information and analyse it.

Management update as at December 2021

Work on this continues and we expect to complete this action in line with the end 
of March deadline.

Page 159



Recommendation 5 (High Priority):
Introduce a formal management report for the Lead Commissioner which 
summarises the monthly performance position of the contractor(s) against the 
contracts service criteria. This report should be at least quarterly but whilst 
problems are being managed, then monthly would be more appropriate given the 
contractor performance issues.

Original management response:

Monthly KPIs to be sent to Lead Commissioner summarising monthly 
performance against Telent.

Completed during the course of the audit.
 

Page 160



Audit and Governance Committee
Date:  r Agenda No:

Title of Report: Anti Money Laundering Regulations & Guidance

Context Under the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (amended by the Criminal 
Finances Act 2017), Money Laundering Regulations 2017 and 
Terrorism Act 2000 the Council is required to establish internal 
procedures to prevent money laundering. 

Internal Audit and Strategic Finance have worked together to produce 
an Anti Money Laundering Policy to raise awareness within the 
organisation of the responsibilities of all employees as well as providing 
guidance on how concerns should be raised (see appendix A attached). 

The policy was updated to take account of the Criminal Finances Act 
2017 and the Money Laundering Regulations 2017 and approved by 
Audit & Governance Committee on 6th April 2018.

Purpose of Report: To remind the Audit and Governance Committee of the Council’s 
responsibility with regards to Money Laundering as well as inform the 
Committee on the procedures that have been put in place to meet 
legislative requirements.

To report on any disclosures to the Council’s Money Laundering 
Reporting Officer in the past 2 years.

Recommendations: It is recommended that the Committee:

 notes that there have been no disclosures to the Council’s 
Money Laundering Reporting Officer in last 24 months.

 Notes that the Anti Money Laundering Policy (attached) was 
reviewed but no changes were required to the policy approved 
in April 2018.

 agrees that a report outlining any disclosures and any changes 
to the Policy is considered by the Audit and Governance 
Committee at least every two years.

Officer Contact: Paul Blacker; Director of Finance. Tel: 01452 328999
Paul.Blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks  Potential for criminal proceedings against individuals if they are 
aware of money laundering activity and fail to disclose. 

 Financial and reputational risk to Council if money laundering 
activities occur. 

Page 161

Agenda Item 13

mailto:Paul.Blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Page 162



1

Anti-Money Laundering Policy January 2018

Introduction
The Proceeds of Crime Act (POCA) 2002  (amended by the Criminal Finances Act 2017), 
Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information of the Payer) 
Regulations 2017 and the Terrorism Act 2000 place obligations on the Council and its 
employees with respect to suspected money laundering. These obligations impact on certain 
areas of local authority business and require local authorities to establish internal procedures 
to prevent the use of their services for money laundering. This Policy sets out how any 
concerns should be raised.

Whilst the majority of money laundering activity in the UK falls outside of the public sector, 
vigilance by employees of the Council can help identify those who are or may be perpetrating 
crimes relating to the financing of terrorism and money laundering.

Scope of the Policy
This Policy applies to all employees of the Council and aims to maintain the high standards 
of conduct which currently exist within the Council by preventing criminal activity through 
money laundering. The Policy sets out the procedures which must be followed (for example 
the reporting of suspicions of money laundering activity) to enable the Council to comply with 
its legal obligations.

Failure by a member of staff to comply with the procedures set out in this Policy may lead to 
disciplinary action being taken against them. Any disciplinary action will be dealt with in 
accordance with the County Council's Disciplinary Policy and Procedure.

What is Money Laundering?
Money laundering is the generic term used to describe the process by which criminals 
disguise the original ownership and control of the proceeds of criminal conduct by making 
such proceeds appear to have derived from a legitimate source. In other words, the process 
of changing ‘bad’ money into ‘good’ money in order to hide the fact that the money originated 
from criminal activity. Formally, the following acts constitute money laundering:
 Concealing, disguising, converting, transferring criminal property or removing it from the 

UK (section 327 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002); or
 Entering into or becoming concerned in an arrangement which you know or suspect 

facilitates the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property by or on behalf of 
another person (section 328);

 Acquiring, using or possessing criminal property (section 329); or
 Becoming concerned in an arrangement facilitating concealment, removal from the 

jurisdiction, transfer to nominees or any other retention or control of terrorist property 
(section 18 of the Terrorism Act 2000).

These are the primary money laundering offences and thus prohibited acts under the 
legislation. There are also two secondary offences: failure to disclose any of the primary 
offences and tipping off. Tipping off is where someone informs a person or people who are, 
or are suspected of being involved in money laundering, in such a way as to reduce the 
likelihood of their being investigated or prejudicing an investigation.

Page 163



2

Potentially any member of staff could be implicated by the money laundering provisions if 
they suspect money laundering and either become involved with it in some way and/or do 
nothing about it.

Failure to disclose (section 330)
A person commits an offence if each of the following three conditions are satisfied;
 they know or have reasonable grounds to suspect that another person is engaged in 

money laundering;
 the information or knowledge in which they have grounds for suspicion is received in the 

course of business in the regulated sector; and
 the required disclosure is not made as soon as is practicable after the information 

comes to them.

A person does not commit an offence under this section if:
 there is a reasonable excuse for not disclosing this information or other matter;
 they provide professional legal advice and the information came to them in privileged 

circumstances; and
 they do not know or suspect money laundering, or have not been provided with such 

training as specified by the Secretary of State.

Whilst the risk to the Council of contravening the legislation is Iow, it is extremely important 
that all employees are familiar with their legal responsibilities: serious criminal 
sanctions may be imposed for breaches of the legislation.

What are the Obligations on the Council?
Organisations conducting "relevant business" must:
 appoint a Money Laundering Reporting Officer ("MLRO") to receive disclosures from 

employees of money laundering activity (their own or anyone else's);
 implement a procedure to enable the reporting of suspicions of money laundering;
 maintain client identification procedures in certain circumstances; and
 maintain record keeping procedures.

Not all of the council's business is "relevant" for the purposes of the legislation. It is mainly 
the accountancy and audit services carried out by the financial service functions within the 
council and the financial, company and property transactions undertaken by Legal Services. 
However, the safest way to ensure compliance with the law is to apply it to all areas of work 
undertaken by the Council; therefore, all staff are required to comply with the reporting 
procedure set out in the Disclosure Procedure section below.

Page 164



3

The Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO)
The officer nominated to receive disclosures about money laundering activity within the 
council is the Head of Financial Management. Contact details are provided below:

Paul Blacker, Head of Financial Management 
Shire Hall
Westgate Street 
Gloucester
GL1 2TG

Email: paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01452 328999 (direct line)

In the absence of the MLRO, any member of the Strategic Finance Management Team is 
authorised to deputise.

Disclosure Procedure
Cash Payments:
No payment to the council will be accepted in cash (including notes, coins or travellers 
cheques in any currency) if it exceeds £5,000. Cash payments in excess of £10,000 received 
in more than one transaction within a twelve month period must also be treated as 
suspicious.

Even if the cash value is less than £5,000 and there is suspicion that the monies are from 
proceeds of crime then it should still be reported to the MLRO.

Any officer involved in a transaction of this kind should ensure that the person(s) provide 
satisfactory evidence of their personal identity.

Reporting to the Money Laundering Reporting Officer

Where you know or suspect that money laundering activity is taking/has taken place, or 
become concerned that your involvement in a matter may amount to a prohibited act under 
the legislation, you must disclose this as soon as practicable to the MLRO.

Your disclosure should be made to the MLRO using the pro-forma report form on Staffnet 
Money Laundering page. The report must include as much detail as possible.

The employee must follow any subsequent directions from the MLRO or deputy and must not 
make any further enquiries themselves into the matter. Additionally, they must not take any 
further steps in the transaction without authorisation from the MLRO or deputy.

The employee must not disclose or otherwise indicate their suspicions to the person(s) 
suspected of money laundering otherwise you may commit a criminal offence of "tipping off”. 
They must not discuss the matter with others or note on a file that a report has been made to 
the MLRO in case this results in the suspect becoming aware of the suspicion, through a 
request to see their file. The MLRO will keep the appropriate records in a confidential 
manner.

Page 165

mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


20

Full details of the people involved (including you, if relevant), e.g. name, date of birth, 
address, company names, directorships, phone numbers, etc. will be required. If you are 
concerned that your involvement in the transaction would amount to a prohibited act under 
sections 327 - 329 of the 2002 Act1, then your report must include all relevant details, as you 
will need consent from the National Crime Agency (NCA) via the MLRO, to take any further 
part in the transaction - this is the case even if the client gives instructions for the matter to 
proceed before such consent is given.

You should therefore make it clear in the report if such consent is required and clarify 
whether there are any deadlines for giving such consent e.g. a completion date or court 
deadline;

Once you have reported the matter to the MLRO you must follow any directions he may give 
you. You must not make any further enquiries into the matter yourself: any necessary 
investigation will be undertaken by the NCA. Simply report your suspicions to the MLRO who 
will refer the matter on to the Serious Organised Crime Agency (SOCA) if appropriate. All 
members of staff will be required to co-operate with the MLRO and the authorities during any 
subsequent money laundering investigation.

Client Identification Procedure (Customer Due Diligence)
Where the Council is carrying out relevant business (e.g. accountancy, audit and certain 
legal services) it must apply customer due diligence measures:

a) when you establish a business relationship
b) when you carry out an ‘occasional transaction’ worth €15,000 (approximately

£10,000) or more
c) when you suspect money laundering or terrorist financing
d) when you have doubts about a customer’s identification information that you 

obtained previously

e) when it’s necessary for existing customers - for example if their circumstances 
change

A business relationship is one that you enter into with a customer where both of you expect 
that the relationship will be ongoing. It can be a formal or an informal arrangement.

When a new business relationship is established the Council needs to obtain information on:

 the purpose of the relationship

 the intended nature of the relationship - for example where funds will come 
from, the purpose of transactions, and so on.

The type of information that you need to obtain may include:

 details of your customer’s business or employment

 the  source  and  origin  of  funds  that  the  customer  will  be  using  in  the 
relationship

 copies of recent and current financial statements

 details of the relationships between signatories and any underlying beneficial 
owners

 the expected level and type of activity that will take place in the relationship.

1 

Page 166



21

Please note that unlike the reporting procedure, the client identification procedure is 
restricted to those operating relevant business, i.e. Financial Services and Legal 
Services.

In the above circumstances, staff in the relevant unit of the Council must obtain satisfactory 
evidence of the identity of the prospective client, as soon as practicable after instructions are 
received (unless evidence of the client has already been obtained). This applies to existing 
clients, as well as new ones, but identification evidence is not required for matters entered 
into prior to 1 March 2004.

Once instructions to provide relevant business have been received, and it has been 
established that any of paragraphs (a) to (e) apply, evidence of identity should be obtained.

With instructions from new clients, or further instructions from a client not well known to you, 
you may wish to seek additional evidence of the identity of key individuals in the organisation 
and of the organisation itself.

In all cases, the evidence should be retained for at least five years from the end of the 
business relationship or transaction(s).

If satisfactory evidence of identity is not obtained at the outset of the matter then the 
business relationship or one off transaction(s) cannot proceed any further.

Record Keeping Procedures
The MLRO should retain records of all referrals made to them and of any action taken. The 
precise nature of these records is not set out in law but should be capable of providing an 
audit trail during any subsequent investigation.

All records should be retained for at least five years. This is so that they may be used as 
evidence in any subsequent investigation by the authorities into money laundering.

Guidance and Training
In support of this policy, the council will:
 make staff aware of the requirements and obligations under the anti-money laundering 

policy legislation; and
 provide training to those most likely to encounter money laundering.

Conclusion
The legislative requirements concerning anti-money laundering procedures are lengthy and 
complex. This Policy has been written to support the Council to meet the legal requirements 
in a way which is proportionate to the very low risk to the Council of contravening the 
legislation.

Should you have any concerns whatsoever regarding any transactions then you should 
contact the MLRO.

Page 167



22

Further Information
Further information relating to the anti-money laundering policy can be found at the following 
links:
 National Crime Agency (NCA)
 Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information of the Payer) 

Regulations 2017 
 Terrorism Act 2002 
 CIPFA Guidance on Money Laundering
 Proceeds of Crime Act 2002
 Criminal Finance Act 2017 Act 2017
 Money Laundering Disclosure Form – (Staffnet)
 Guidance for MLRO – (Staffnet)

Page 168

http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/crime-threats/money-laundering
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/692/pdfs/uksi_20170692_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/692/pdfs/uksi_20170692_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/11/pdfs/ukpga_20000011_en.pdf
http://www.cipfa.org/members/members-in-practice/anti-money-laundering
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/29/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/22/pdfs/ukpga_20170022_en.pdf
https://staffnet.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/219002/money-laundering-appendix-1.pdf
http://staffnet/
https://staffnet.gloucestershire.gov.uk/policies-procedures-and-forms/financial-guides-and-manuals/finance-guide/general-finance-guide/money-laundering/
http://staffnet/


1

Audit and Governance Committee 

Overview of Complaints Process / Service

Date: 21 January 2022 Agenda No:

Title of Report Overview of Complaints Process / Service

Purpose of Report To provide a brief overview of the Council’s 
arrangements for handling complaints and to assure 
Members that appropriate processes are in place

Recommendations: That the Audit & Governance Committee considers 
the Council’s arrangements for handling complaints 
and considers whether it wishes to make and 
comments or recommendations on those 
arrangements.

Officer(s) Contact: Rob Ayliffe, Monitoring Officer and Director of Policy, 
Performance & Governance
(01452) 328506

Key Risks: Strategic Risks:

Failure to administrate robust process to complaints 
across the council could result in findings of fault by the 
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman.

Page 169

Agenda Item 14



2

Background and Legislation

1. The Complaints Team sits within Corporate Resources.   It was brought 
together from April 2013 to provide a cross council complaints service dealing 
with the co-ordination of, and advice related to, all customer complaints made 
against the council, including those related to Adult and Children’s Social 
Care. The team also gathers data related to complaints and compliments to 
produce regular performance reports.

2. The team consists of,
 1 FTE Complaints Manager
 4 FTE Complaints and Feedback Officers
 1 Temporary Administrative Officer

3. The team administers 3 separate complaint procedures. Adult and Childrens’ 
social care complaints must be responded to according to relevant statutory 
processes within the specified timescales.  All other non statutory complaints 
are responded to as per the Council’s Corporate Complaints Policy.   
Relevant legislation / policy for each service are,

 Adult Social Care - The Local Authority Social Services and National 
Health Service Complaints (England) Regulations 2009 - Adult Social Care 
Complaints Policy

 Children’s Social Care - The Children Act  1989 Representations 
Procedure (England) Regulations 2006 (Getting the Bests from 
Complaints) – Children’s Social Care Complaints Policy

 All other non statutory services - Corporate Complaints Policy - Corporate 
Complaints Policy

Please see Appendix 1 for further detail of each procedure.

Roles and Responsibilities

4. The responsibility for investigating and determining complaints rests with the 
service against which the complaint is brought.  The complaints team’s role is 
to administer the process, to ensure consistency, to provide advice and 
constructive challenge and to promote a culture where complaints and 
feedback are welcomed and used to drive improvement.

5. The team’s aims are to,
 Make the complaints procedure accessible to all and to make sure 

complainants feel listened to, taken seriously and that they feel they have 
been treated fairly.

Page 170

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2110488/asc-complaints-policy-oct-2021.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2110488/asc-complaints-policy-oct-2021.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2106820/childrens-social-care-complaints-policy.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2106819/corporate-complaints-policy.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2106819/corporate-complaints-policy.pdf


3

 Wherever possible identify if complaints can be immediately resolved 
without recourse to the complaints process or signposted elsewhere, and 
to act on contacts in a prompt way where any work can be undertaken to 
remedy the situation immediately rather than waiting for the complaints 
process to be completed

 Ensure complaints are dealt with fairly and proportionately within 
prescribed timescales 

 Collate, analyse and report on complaints received in order to ensure that 
feedback drives service change and improvement where necessary

 Work with and support service area staff who undertake the initial 
responses to complaints and to provide appropriate and applicable training 
where necessary

 Ensure complaint responses are of a high quality, clear and written in plain 
English, offering a critical eye to complaint responses before they are sent

 Develop and maintain robust systems to identify recommendations or 
learning points, ensure these are cascaded to service areas to implement

 Support the use of the council’s Unacceptable Customer Behaviour Policy 
across all service areas - 
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/18823/unacceptable-customer-
behaviour-policy.pdf 

 Help services avoid the numbers of referrals to the Ombudsman and 
findings of fault and maladministration 

 In coordination with Legal Services, prepare appropriate responses to 
Ombudsman enquiries and investigations.

6. The complaints team are well established within the Council (with 4 members 
of the team having 8 years + experience within the team) and this has 
enabled solid links to be formed with service areas over the years so that the 
culture of complaints management is consistent and robust. This also helps 
with the positive challenge the Complaints team need to provide on occasion 
directly to service areas on their approach and rationale, and this is an 
important part of the overall culture within the Council in responding to 
customer complaints.

Numbers of Contacts / Complaints Received over the 5 previous years

7. Where possible, the Complaints Team and relevant service area try to find 
ways to resolve concerns quickly, outside of the formal complaints process. 

Page 171

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/18823/unacceptable-customer-behaviour-policy.pdf
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/18823/unacceptable-customer-behaviour-policy.pdf


4

8. It is an approach that requires active support and input from service 
managers, with prompt responses being provided to the queries and concerns 
raised. It may be the case that they:

 offer an apology if it is recognised that there has been fault on their 
service’s part

 arrange a meeting with the complainant(s), so their views can be heard 
and their concerns discussed 

 simply provide an explanation for what has happened, and outline the 
actions which will be taken as a result / the timescale in which these 
actions will happen

9. Where it is not possible to achieve resolution in this way, the Council can still 
take concerns forward under the statutory complaints process or its own 
complaints process, as appropriate.

10.For the last 5 years the following table shows both the number of customer 
contacts received and resolved for all services without recourse to formal 
complaint procedures, and also the number of formal complaints received and 
how many of those escalated to further stages of the relevant complaints 
procedure.

Number of contacts and formal 
complaints received : 

During 
2016/17

During 
2017/18

During 
2018/19

During 
2019/20

During 
2020/21

Contacts dealt with without recourse 
to the formal process

1055 768 874 863 627

Stage 1 660 545 439 458 414

Stage 2 23 19 17 22 26

Stage 3 (Childrens’ social care 
procedure only)

1 1 1 2 1

Escalated to LG&SCO (Ombudsman) 70 67 67 83 53

Fault / Injustice found by LG&SCO 5 8 6 12 11

11.The table shows that the service areas are able to resolve a large number of 
customer contacts without recourse to the formal complaints procedures. 

12.Over the last few years the Complaints Team and the service areas have 
made good progress in working together to proactively resolve issues at the 
earliest point possible. Moving forward, a priority for the Complaints Team is 

Page 172



5

to continue to work with the service areas to enhance this approach.  It is 
hoped that this will result in a sustained increase in the number of contacts 
resolved outside of the formal complaints processes and therefore lead to 
more satisfied customers. 

13. It also shows that the service areas can resolve the majority of issues at stage 
1 of the procedure, with only a small percentage that escalates past the first 
formal stage, which is a positive position to be in. This positive trend is against 
a backdrop of increasing complexity of complaints and the increasingly 
challenging nature of complainants and their expectations. 

14.The table also indicates that of those complaints that are escalated to the 
Ombudsman, there are very few findings of fault.  Again this is a positive 
indication that the responses provided with the Council’s local complaints 
arrangements are robust and withstand the scrutiny and challenge by the 
Ombudsman.

15. In general, whilst ensuring that customers are listened to, and the relevant 
complaint procedure is followed, by checking responses, the team also act as 
a check point or voice of reasonableness for the service responding to a 
complaint. This ensures that all points of complaint are answered and any 
decisions or suggestions that are made by the service within their complaint 
responses can be quality assured, and positively challenged by the 
Complaints Team where necessary, to avoid further escalation of the issue.

Conclusions

16. Paradoxically, it is often said that we do most of our learning through our 
failures, rather than our successes. It is for that reason the complaints are an 
integral part of our quality assurance arrangements and an important 
contributor towards organisational learning. In every case we strive to ensure 
that the complainant’s views have been listened to and, when appropriate, 
that action has been taken to address those concerns, including changing our 
practice or processes. 

17. We aim to address complaints at the earliest and most appropriate level 
through informal dialogue whenever possible. We also recognise that some 
complainants will want to exercise their right for independent review and 
referral to the Local Government Ombudsman when they feel their concerns 
have not been addressed. 

18. The complaints team work closely with colleagues in the service areas across 
the Council to ensure we are timely and robust in our responses, in 
accordance with our complaints policies. 

Page 173



6

19. Currently and looking forward the Complaints team are always seeking ways 
to improve the offer we provide to customers and also the support to service 
areas. A number of initiatives are underway, including better customer 
engagement and feedback on the complaints process and also working 
closely with Legal Services to improve how the Council respond to all 
Ombudsman enquiries, including identifying earlier opportunities to resolve 
matters before a full Ombudsman investigation happens. 

Page 174



Appendix 1

Stages of the 3 Complaint Procedures

Adult Social Care

The Adult Social Care process comprises of one overall stage in order to comply with 
legislative requirements:

Stage 1 : Local Resolution, in Adult Care the philosophy of the procedure is flexibility in 
responding to issues. Engagement with the complainants is crucial, and working with them 
to resolve issues forms part of this process. Generally, in applying this philosophy the vast 
majority of complaints can be responded to and resolved at the first time of asking, with only 
a small number that need to be escalated to the Head of Locality or the Head of Adult Care 
for further consideration and response.

External contractors providing services on the Council’s behalf are expected to 
resolve as many complaints as possible in this way, with oversight and professional 
challenge of responses to the contractors made by the Complaints Team.

If the Council cannot resolve the matters in this way then complainants have 
recourse to the LG&SCO.

Childrens’ Social Care

The statutory complaints procedure has three stages: 

Stage 1: This is the most important stage of the complaints procedure, and the one 
at which service areas / external contractors providing services on our behalf are 
expected to resolve as many complaints as possible. 

Stage 2: This stage is implemented when the complainant is dissatisfied with the 
findings from Stage 1. Stage 2 of the statutory complaints procedure involves an 
investigation being conducted by an Investigating Officer, with oversight being 
provided by an Independent Person. Both of these people are external and 
independent, and an internal senior manager adjudicates on their findings and 
recommendations. 

For non-statutory Childrens complaints, under the Corporate Complaints Policy, an 
internal senior manager reinvestigates the complaint, taking into account the 
response already provided. Arrangements might be made for an independent person 
to review and investigate the complaint instead, if this is considered necessary. 

Stage 3: There is no Stage 3 under the Corporate Complaints Policy. The third stage 
of the statutory complaints procedure, however, is consideration by a Review Panel 
made up of three independent people. It is not within the Panel’s remit to 
reinvestigate complaints, but to review the stage 1 and Stage 2 investigations and 
make recommendations as to their appropriateness.

Page 175



The Panel makes recommendations to the Director of Children’s Services, who then 
sets out what action will be taken in response. 

The complaint has recourse to the Ombudsman if they remain unhappy.

Non Statutory Corporate Complaints

There are two stages to the Corporate Complaints Procedure. The two stages are:

Stage 1: Local Resolution, like both statutory processes, this is where the Council 
attempt to resolve as many issues as possible, using engagement with the 
complainant as the key to understanding the issues and to agree resolution where 
possible.

Stage 2: Independent Review, A complainant can request a review of their complaint 
at Stage 2 of the complaints process if they are dissatisfied with their Stage 1 
response. Customers are asked to give the reasons why they are dissatisfied with 
the outcome to their complaint. Once this is received, the request is passed to the 
Complaints Manager and Service Manager who will meet and decide whether a 
Stage 2 response will give the customer clarity in relation to the outcome they are 
seeking. A Senior Manager who has not been previously involved in the complaint 
will investigate at Stage 2.  

If a complainant is still dissatisfied following a Stage 2 independent investigation, it is 
possible for them to seek redress with the Social Care & Local Government 
Ombudsman.

It should be noted that an independent audit of this process was completed in 2021, 
the review identified there are appropriate arrangements in place for the Corporate 
Complaints process.

Page 176



1

Audit and Governance Committee

Local Government Ombudsman’s Annual Review Letter 2021 

Date: 21 January 2022 Agenda No:

Title of Report Local Government Ombudsman’s Annual Review Letter 
2021

Purpose of Report To review the Council’s arrangements for handling 
complaints and investigations by the Local Government 
Ombudsman.

Recommendations: To note the Local Government Ombudsman’s Annual 
Review Letter 2021

Officer(s) Contact: Rob Ayliffe, Monitoring Officer and Head of Strategic 
Planning, Performance & Change
(01452) 328506

Key Risks: Strategic Risks SR 1.1:   

Failure in corporate governance, which leads to service, 
financial or reputational damage or failure.

Page 177

Agenda Item 15



2

Local Government Ombudsman’s Review of Local Government Complaints 
2021

1. Responding to and learning from complaints is an important element of 
the corporate governance of an organisation and the Local Government 
& Soc ia l  Care Ombudsman’s (LGSCO) annual review letter is a 
helpful indicator of the quality of the Council’s governance arrangements. 
The Audit and Governance Committee is responsible for formulating and 
keeping under review the Council’s arrangements for handling complaints 
and investigations by the LGSCO.

2. The Local Government Ombudsman produces an annual summary of 
statistics on complaints made to them about all councils. The report for 
Gloucestershire for the year ended 31 March 2021 is attached at Appendix 
1.

3. In 2020/21 the LGSCO recorded 56 complaints about Gloucestershire 
County Council. This compares to 83 last year, 67 in 2018/19, 67 in 
2017/18 and 70 in 2016/17.  The decrease in complaint numbers for 
2020/21 can partly be attributable to the LGSCO’s temporary suspension 
of investigatory work between March and June 2020 as a result of the 
pandemic.

4. Out of the 56 complaints, there were 20 detailed investigations carried out.  
Of the 20 detailed investigations, 9 were not upheld and 11 were upheld.  
This compares to 12 cases upheld in 2019/20.

5. The Council’s own data records can be different to those referred to the 
Ombudsman. The LGSCO only provides the number of complaints 
received and not the detailed data which sits behind it so the Council’s 
data means it is not always possible to reconcile the two sets of data. The 
number of LGSCO complaints and enquiries will include some which were 
not pursued. It is also the case that some complaints are concluded in a 
different financial year to them being received.

Page 178



3

Local data on complaints

6. The majority of complaints were in relation to education and 
children’s services. However, regardless of service area, local 
resolutions have been achieved in all of the complaints that were 
upheld.  

7. A breakdown of the complaints in relation to service area is as 
follows:

2020 - 2021

Service area Up-
held

Not up- 
held

Closed after 
initial enquires

Incomplete/ 
invalid 

Referred back for 
local resolution – 

Premature complaint

Total

Adults 4 4 3 1 4 16

Corporate and 0 0 0 0 0 0
other

Education and 5 5 5 2 8 25
Children
Services

Environmental 1 0 0 0 0 1

Highways and 12
Transport

Planning and 
Development

1

0

0

0

10

1

0

0

1

1 2

Total 11 9 19 3 14 56

8. A summary of each of the 11 upheld complaints, together with the remedial 
recommendations is attached at Appendix 2.

Review and follow-up

9. Each report received is carefully considered by the relevant service area. In 
addition, the cases are reviewed on a regular basis by the Chief Executive, 
the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer). 
They are particularly looking at the broader organisational risks and 

Page 179



4

governance issues.

8. Members receive information on complaints, including Ombudsman findings, 
as part of the quarterly strategic reviews of performance. This is in addition to 
the formal annual report, here today.

9. Both Adults Social Care and Children’s Social Care have separate statutory 
complaints procedures. They are both required to produce annual reports 
which will be considered by the relevant scrutiny committee.

10. Any comments or suggestions on how reporting could be improved are 
welcome.

Conclusion

11. The LGSCO’s Annual Review Letter for 2021 gives a summary of statistics 
on the complaints made about Gloucestershire County Council. Of the 20 
complaints which they investigated, 11 were upheld, all of which were 
resolved locally. 

Page 180



 

 

 

 

21 July 2021 
 
By email 
 
Mr Bungard 
Chief Executive 
Gloucestershire County Council 
 
Dear Mr Bungard 
 
Annual Review letter 2021 
 
I write to you with our annual summary of statistics on the decisions made by the Local 

Government and Social Care Ombudsman about your authority for the year ending                      

31 March 2021. At the end of a challenging year, we maintain that good public administration is 

more important than ever and I hope this feedback provides you with both the opportunity to reflect 

on your Council’s performance and plan for the future.  

You will be aware that, at the end of March 2020 we took the unprecedented step of temporarily 

stopping our casework, in the wider public interest, to allow authorities to concentrate efforts on 

vital frontline services during the first wave of the Covid-19 outbreak. We restarted casework in 

late June 2020, after a three month pause.  

We listened to your feedback and decided it was unnecessary to pause our casework again during 

further waves of the pandemic. Instead, we have encouraged authorities to talk to us on an 

individual basis about difficulties responding to any stage of an investigation, including 

implementing our recommendations. We continue this approach and urge you to maintain clear 

communication with us. 

Complaint statistics 

This year, we continue to focus on the outcomes of complaints and what can be learned from 

them. We want to provide you with the most insightful information we can and have focused 

statistics on three key areas: 

Complaints upheld - We uphold complaints when we find some form of fault in an authority’s 

actions, including where the authority accepted fault before we investigated.  

Compliance with recommendations - We recommend ways for authorities to put things right 

when faults have caused injustice and monitor their compliance with our recommendations. 

Failure to comply is rare and a compliance rate below 100% is a cause for concern.  

Page 181



Satisfactory remedy provided by the authority - In these cases, the authority upheld the 

complaint and we agreed with how it offered to put things right. We encourage the early resolution 

of complaints and credit authorities that accept fault and find appropriate ways to put things right.  

Finally, we compare the three key annual statistics for your authority with similar types of 

authorities to work out an average level of performance. We do this for County Councils, District 

Councils, Metropolitan Boroughs, Unitary Councils, and London Boroughs. 

Your annual data will be uploaded to our interactive map, Your council’s performance, along with a 

copy of this letter on 28 July 2021. This useful tool places all our data and information about 

councils in one place. You can find the decisions we have made about your Council, public reports 

we have issued, and the service improvements your Council has agreed to make as a result of our 

investigations, as well as previous annual review letters.  

I would encourage you to share the resource with colleagues and elected members; the 

information can provide valuable insights into service areas, early warning signs of problems and 

is a key source of information for governance, audit, risk and scrutiny functions. 

As you would expect, data has been impacted by the pause to casework in the first quarter of the 

year. This should be considered when making comparisons with previous year’s data. 

Supporting complaint and service improvement  

I am increasingly concerned about the evidence I see of the erosion of effective complaint 

functions in local authorities. While no doubt the result of considerable and prolonged budget and 

demand pressures, the Covid-19 pandemic appears to have amplified the problems and my 

concerns. With much greater frequency, we find poor local complaint handling practices when 

investigating substantive service issues and see evidence of reductions in the overall capacity, 

status and visibility of local redress systems.  

With this context in mind, we are developing a new programme of work that will utilise complaints 

to drive improvements in both local complaint systems and services. We want to use the rich 

evidence of our casework to better identify authorities that need support to improve their complaint 

handling and target specific support to them. We are at the start of this ambitious work and there 

will be opportunities for local authorities to shape it over the coming months and years.  

An already established tool we have for supporting improvements in local complaint handling is 

our successful training programme. During the year, we successfully adapted our  

face-to-face courses for online delivery. We provided 79 online workshops during the year, 

reaching more than 1,100 people. To find out more visit www.lgo.org.uk/training. 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 
Michael King 

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

Chair, Commission for Local Administration in England

Page 182

https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance
http://www.lgo.org.uk/training


Gloucestershire County Council 

For the period ending: 31/03/21  

                                                             

 

 

 

 

 

NOTE: To allow authorities to respond to the Covid-19 pandemic, we did not accept new complaints and stopped 

investigating existing cases between March and June 2020. This reduced the number of complaints we received 

and decided in the 20-21 year. Please consider this when comparing data from previous years. 

Complaints upheld 

  

55% of complaints we 
investigated were upheld. 

This compares to an average of 
71% in similar authorities. 

 
 

11                          
upheld decisions 

 
Statistics are based on a total of 20 

detailed investigations for the 
period between 1 April 2020 to 31 

March 2021 

Compliance with Ombudsman recommendations 

  

In 100% of cases we were 
satisfied the authority had 
successfully implemented our 
recommendations. 

This compares to an average of 
100% in similar authorities. 

 

 

Statistics are based on a total of 14 
compliance outcomes for the period 
between 1 April 2020 to 31 March 

2021 

• Failure to comply with our recommendations is rare. An authority with a compliance rate below 100% should 
scrutinise those complaints where it failed to comply and identify any learning. 
 

Satisfactory remedy provided by the authority 

  

In 9% of upheld cases we found 
the authority had provided a 
satisfactory remedy before the 
complaint reached the 
Ombudsman.  

This compares to an average of 
8% in similar authorities. 

 

1                      
satisfactory remedy decision 

 

Statistics are based on a total of 20 
detailed investigations for the 

period between 1 April 2020 to 31 
March 2021 

 

55% 

100% 

9% 

Page 183



This page is intentionally left blank



Summary of upheld Cases & Recommendations 

COMPLAINT RECOMMENDATIONS

EDUCATION AND CHILDRENS SERVICES

1. Complaint ID: 19004305.

Ms X complained that the Council failed to provide suitable education for her son who has an 
Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) after she withdrew him from school because of bullying. 
The Council failed to deal properly with reviews of his EHCP and failed to take sufficient action to 
ensure he received education. This resulted in a loss of opportunity for Ms X to appeal about the 
placement and lack of education for her son. The Council has agreed a remedy including an apology 
and a payment for loss of opportunity to appeal and loss of education.

 Apology
 £500 Compensation – 

Avoidable distress and/or 
time and trouble

 £1,800 Compensation – 
Service failure

 Procedure or policy change 
or review

2. Complaint ID: 19006227.

Mrs X complains the Council wrongly carried out a child protection investigation concerning her 
daughters. She says this has besmirched her good name. There was no fault by the Council in taking 
child protection action, but it failed to communicate properly with Mrs X, for which its apologies are 
sufficient remedy.

 Apology

3. Complaint ID: 19009003.

Miss X complains of fault in the way the Council responded to a disclosure by her daughter, Z about 
the child’s father. She says this led to her having to move and being unable to work. There were 
some faults in procedure, which the Council accepts. It has already apologised for most of these, but 
it will also apologise for failing to send on minutes of core group meetings.

 Apology

P
age 185



4. Complaint ID: 20004771.

Mr X complains about the care of his daughter in foster care, about the Council’s unjustified 
restrictions on his contact with her and about the Council’s poor communications and complaints 
handling. The Council is only at fault in its communications. It had already remedied its fault with an 
apology to Mr X before he approached us.

No recommendations made -
GCC had already remedied 
with an apology before 
complainant approached 
LGSCO

5. Complaint ID: 20006700.

The Ombudsman has found procedural fault in the way the school admissions panel considered Mrs 
B’s admissions appeal. This caused Mrs B an injustice and so we have recommended the Council 
hold a new appeal.

GCC was originally required to 
hold a new appeal but parent 
secured a placement at a new 
school so indicated they did not 
want the appeal.   LGSCO 
confirmed GCC consequently 
no longer required to hold 
appeal

ADULTS

6. Complaint ID: 19004990.

Ms C says the Council wrongly stopped making payments to her for her social care and delayed in 
carrying out a fresh needs assessment for adult social care. She says this has caused her injustice 
as she does not have an adequate care plan in place and cannot afford the care she needs. The 
Council was at fault for delay in assessing Ms C’s eligible needs.

 Apology
 £500 Compensation – 

Avoidable distress and/or 
time and trouble

 Procedure or policy change 
or review 

7. Complaint ID: 19019069.

Ms X complained, on behalf of her brother Mr Z, that the Council failed to complete his care needs 
assessment and failed to take action regarding the suitability of his current accommodation. The 
Council put the assessment on hold in November 2018 until alternative accommodation was found. 
The issue has drifted since then with no decision on his care needs or alternative accommodation 
found. This delay is fault and a suitable remedy is proposed.

 Apology
 £200 Compensation – 

Avoidable distress and/or 
time and trouble

 To provide the complainant 
with details of timescales for 
completing an assessment 

P
age 186



and holding a stakeholders 
meeting.

8. Complaint ID: 19019309.

Mr X complained the Council should not have accepted his son into a care home as it was not able to 
meet his needs. We found the care home care was a suitable placement. However, there was fault 
as the Council failed to conduct a needs assessment to properly determine Y’s needs. We 
recommended an apology, and a review of the Council’s procedures.

 Apology
 Procedure or policy change 

or review

9. Complaint ID: 20000225.

Mr X complained the Council failed to inform him or his brother’s Care Home that his brother, Mr Z 
was a self-funder. The Council provided both Mr X and the Care Home with timely information about 
Mr Z’s status as a self-funder. It was at fault when it continued to pay Mr Z’s fees to the Care Home, 
but this did not cause an injustice.

No recommendations made - 
GCC had continued to pay 
care home fees for two months 
in error.  Whilst there was fault, 
there was no injustice so no 
remedy required.

ENVIRONMENTAL

10. Complaint ID: 19002811.

Mr X complained the Council failed to properly consider his reports about a blocked highway 
drainage gully. We found there was fault by the Council which warranted a remedy. 

 Apology
 £300 Compensation – 

Avoidable distress and/or 
time and trouble

 To write to the complainants 
inviting them to make a 
claim against GCC insurers 
for costs incurred as a 
result of the highway 
drainage issue.

 To take account of the 
complaint when considering 
the prioritisation of works 
under the 2021/2022 

P
age 187



budget.

HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORT

11. Complaint ID: 19017413.

Mr F says the Council wrongly refused to consider his informal challenge to a penalty charge notice 
(PCN) for a parking violation and did not tell him that it had done so. He says this caused him 
injustice in that he lost the chance to appeal the penalty through the courts. The Council was at fault. 
In the interests of fairness, it should have used its discretion to consider the informal challenge. It has 
agreed to refund Mr F’s money and apologise. It has also agreed to consider informal challenges to 
PCNs in future.

 Apology
 £35 Compensation – 

Refund
 Procedure or policy change 

or review

P
age 188



Audit and Governance Committee

Annual Review of Whistleblowing Policy

Date:  21 January 2022 Agenda Item:  19

Title of Report Annual Review of Whistleblowing Policy and activity

Purpose of Report To review activity under the Council’s Whistleblowing 
Policy

Recommendations That Audit and Governance Committee notes the 
information provided in this report and supports the 
development priorities for 2022

Officer Contact Rob Ayliffe
Monitoring Officer
Tel: 01452 328506

Key Risks Failure in corporate governance which could lead to 
service, financial or reputational damage to the council

Page 189

Agenda Item 16



Introduction

1. The Council’s Whistleblowing Policy was introduced in its current form in 
2017.  It applies to all of the Council’s workforce, including those who are 
employed by external agencies with whom the Council contracts.   It sets out 
the arrangements by which employees  can raise concerns about something 
which affects other people including issues of health and safety, fraud, 
corruption, malpractice or maladministration.  It is incorporated into the 
Employee Code of Conduct and the Council’s Constitution.

2. The policy follows best practice, and is informed by advice and guidance from 
Protect – an independent Whistleblowing charity with whom GCC maintains a 
subscription through which staff can access advice, support and training.

3. The whistleblowing policy allows concerns to be raised at 3 levels:

- Level 1- In the first instance, employees are encouraged to raise 
concerns with their line manager or team leader

- Level 2 - If they feel unable to do this, they can raise the matter with 
any of the following:  their Head of Service, Assistant Director, Director 
or Executive Director; the Chief Internal Auditor; the Head of Human 
Resources; the Assistant Director of Legal Services; (in the case of 
schools) the Director of Education.

- Level 3 - If concerns remain, or are so serious that the individual does 
not want to discuss them with any of the above, they can be raised 
directly with the Monitoring Officer.

4. Whistleblowing concerns can be raised face-to-face, by email or anonymously 
via a form on the Council’s website.

5. The Monitoring Officer also has overall responsibility for the Whistleblowing 
policy and its implementation.  This Committee has responsibility for reviewing 
it annually.  

Whistleblowing Activity during 2021

6. Whistleblowing activity increased slightly during 2021.  In all, 27 
whistleblowing allegations were received at level 3 compared to 22 during 
2021.   

Page 190



7. Of these cases, 11 were investigated but found to be without substance.  
Reasons for this include

- There was no evidence to support the allegation;
- The allegations did not amount to wrongdoing or a breach of policy or 

the Employee Code of Conduct.  In some cases, the Whistleblowing 
disclosure was made in good faith, but the whistleblower did not have 
full view of the facts.

8. In one case, the disclosure was not sufficiently clear to enable it to be 
investigated.  Since the disclosure was made anonymously via the web-form, 
it was not possible to go back to the whistleblower to request further 
information.

9. In one case, an investigation was commenced, but the individual about whom 
the disclosure was made left their post before it could be concluded, and the 
nature of the allegation meant that further action was unnecessary.

10. In four cases, the allegation related to bullying behaviour by a manager.  
These issues were investigated, and although there was some evidence of 
poor management style, it fell short of requiring formal action so was dealt 
with by providing advice and training to the manager concerned.

11. In one case, the allegations related to a matter that had already been dealt 
with and resolved through a disciplinary process.

12. In one case, the allegations resulted in a full investigation and formal 
disciplinary action being taken for bullying and inappropriate behaviour.

13. In two cases, the disclosure resulted in an investigation that found no 
wrongdoing on the part of managers, but did identify weaknesses in 
governance arrangements.  Remedial actions have been agreed and are 
reflected in and monitored through the Annual Governance Statement.

14.6 matters are not yet concluded and are subject to ongoing investigation, one 
of which has been commissioned externally.  

15.As was the case last year, the majority of allegations were made 
anonymously.  19 out of 27 whistleblowers did not disclose their identity, 
choosing to make a disclosure through the council’s web-form.  While it is 
best practice to provide for anonymous disclosures, these are often very 
difficult to follow up, particularly when the information provided is vague or 
incomplete.  There are also a small number of cases where it is possible that 
individuals who have exhausted the Council’s grievance procedure for 

Page 191



employees have made an anonymous disclosure to try to reopen the matter 
as a Whistleblowing concern.

16.Whistleblowing activity is reported, analysed and reviewed on a monthly basis 
by Statutory Officers to ensure that cases are progressing and being 
managed appropriately, and to identify emerging patterns and concerns.

Communications, confidence building and awareness raising amongst staff

17.Articles on Whistleblowing have been included in TalkSmart at various points 
throughout the year, including during Anti-Fraud week.  However, with fewer 
staff working from Shire Hall and other offices, some of the other means we 
have used, such as poster-based campaigns, are less effective.  Instead, we 
intend to develop a communications plan that includes themed messages 
about Whistleblowing at least every 2 months.  

18.As well as regular communications, Whistleblowing is also included in staff 
induction sessions, which have been taking place virtually throughout 2021.

19.Despite the increased challenges of getting messages out to all staff, staff 
survey results are still positive, with 85% of staff responding to say that they 
feel confident raising a concern and that it will be dealt with. (Protect suggest 
a benchmark of 71% for this indicator).

Survey of Line Managers

20.During the year, Internal Audit were commissioned to undertake an internal 
review of the Whistleblowing arrangements.  This review focussed on line 
managers’ awareness of the Whistleblowing policy and arrangements.  At 
time of writing, the final report is nearing completion, but the initial findings 
have already been shared.

21.A total of 143 managers completed the survey out of 465 to whom it was sent.  

22.The vast majority (136) were aware of the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy 
and knew where to find it.

23.When asked what they would do in response to a Whistleblowing disclosure:
- 15 gave full and thorough answers
- A further 55 gave brief or partial answers that were nevertheless 

correct 
- 39 said they would refer to the Whistleblowing policy

Page 192



- 27 said they would escalate the matter to their line manager
- 4 provided incorrect answers. 

24.81 (57%) were confident or very confident in handling whistleblowing 
allegations.

25.This indicates that, while the majority of managers know how to respond to a 
disclosure, we need to do more to train and equip managers and to build their 
confidence in dealing with whistleblowing concerns, perhaps reflecting the 
relative infrequency with which they occur.  

26.Alongside the survey results, the Audit review has made a number of 
recommendations that will be actioned during 2022.

Development Priorities for 2022

27.Having assessed and analysed the effectiveness of these arrangements 
against Whistleblowing Best Practice, the development priorities for 2022 are:

- To form a Whistleblowing Steering Group to provide better collective 
oversight of Whistleblowing Activity.  Although a number of senior 
officers are involved in supporting Whistleblowing Activity, establishing 
a formal steering group will help to maintain a focus on whistleblowing 
activity, identify training needs, ensure more consistent practice and 
co-ordinate communications.

- To establish a method for collating and monitoring whistleblowing at all 
levels.  At the moment, no central record is kept of concerns disclosed 
to line managers at level 1.  We will establish a method for collecting 
that data to provide more complete corporate oversight of 
Whistleblowing Activity.

- To provide training for line managers.  We will be using the survey 
results to roll out basic training for all line managers, to ensure they 
understand and are able to apply the Whistleblowing policy.

- To continue to raise awareness and confidence in Whistleblowing 
through a more systematic, planned approach to communications.

28.Audit and Governance Committee are asked to approve and support these as 
the priorities to underpin Whistleblowing activity during 2022.

ENDS

Page 193



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee

Annual Review of Member Code of Conduct

Date:  21 January 2022 Agenda Item:  20

Title of Report Annual Review of Member Code of Conduct 

Purpose of Report To review the statutory arrangements governing the 
conduct of elected members

Recommendations That the committee:
 Notes the report and identifies any areas for 

development.
 Notes the council’s position with regard to the 

recommendations from the Committee on 
Standards in Public Life and the next steps being 
taken.

 Continues to support the development of a 
common Member Code of Conduct for 
Gloucestershire

Officer Contact Rob Ayliffe
Monitoring Officer
Tel: 01452 328506

Key Risks Failure in corporate governance which could lead to 
service, financial or reputational damage to the council

Page 195

Agenda Item 17



Introduction

1. The Localism Act 2011 significantly amended the statutory arrangements 
governing the conduct of elected members. The County Council adopted a 
new regime in 2012. 

2. One of the roles of this committee is to monitor the operation of the Code of 
Conduct and to promote, monitor and assist the achievement of high 
standards of conduct.  This report is intended to assist the committee fulfil this 
role.

Standards Regime

3. The standards regime remains unchanged since the May 2017 county council 
elections, but was subject to a review by the Committee on Standards in 
Public Life in January 2019.  This resulted in a number of recommendations 
for Government, the LGA and for local authorities themselves.  A summary is 
provided at Appendix 1 that sets out this Council’s position in relation to those 
recommendations.  Government has yet to formally respond to the 
recommendations.  

4. The only significant outstanding action for Gloucestershire County Council is 
to incorporate clauses on bullying and harassment within our Code of 
Conduct.  This is awaiting the development of a common Code with 
Gloucestershire’s Districts, as set out in more detail below.

Gloucestershire Member Code of Conduct

5. In March 2021, this committee agreed that we should work with 
Gloucestershire’s District Councils towards the development of a common 
Code of Conduct for Gloucestershire, based on the Model Code produced by 
the Local Government Association (LGA).

6. Progress on this has been stalled by a number of factors, most notably, an 
extremely high level of turnover amongst Monitoring Officers at District level.  
Only in Tewkesbury is the same Monitoring Officer in post as in January 2021, 
and in three of our districts, the post is currently being filled with an interim 
appointment.  This inevitably makes it difficult to secure commitment and 
continuity.  Nevertheless, in December, we agreed a way forward and I am 
optimistic that we will make significant progress towards developing a draft 
Code by March 2022 which can then form the basis of consultation with our 
respective Councils and with local Parish and Town Councils.

Page 196



7. In the meantime, I remain of the view that while a more detailed code would 
be preferable, our existing Code of Conduct remains sufficiently fit for purpose 
until such a time as a new code is developed.

Induction of new Members and Register of Interests

8. Following the May elections, all 53 County Councillors have completed their 
Register of Interests, and these have been published on the Council’s 
website.  

9. The induction programme for new members included sessions on Member 
Standards, the Code of Conduct and the process for dealing with allegations 
of member misconduct.  These were well attended and well received, and a 
number of members (both new and returning) have since sought my advice 
on specific issues as they have arisen.  In particular, my advice is frequently 
sought on specific issues relating to the declaration of pecuniary and other 
interests.  This is an area on which the LGA Model Code of Conduct provides 
more detail than our current code of conduct, and I anticipate that any 
Gloucestershire code is likely to follow that pattern.

10.Having sought advice and compared Gloucestershire’s approach with that of 
neighbouring authorities, members have been advised to include details of 
any land in which they have an interest, including their home address, within 
the register of interests.  Previously, these had been withheld in all cases, with 
the register simply noting “Address provided to the Monitoring Officer”.  It is 
recognised that members may justifiably have concerns about their home 
addresses being publicly available, but this has to be balanced against the 
need for transparency over potential conflicts of interest.  As a result, I 
concluded that the previous approach was difficult to justify.  However, the 
relevant legislation does allow for sensitive information to be with-held on a 
case by case basis when there is a genuine concern about the safety or 
security of an individual member.  As a result, I have agreed to individually 
withhold sensitive information in a number of cases and will consider each 
case on its merits. 

11.The rules allow councils in certain circumstances to grant dispensations to 
permit a member to take part in the business of the authority even if the 
member has a disclosable pecuniary interest relating to that business. This 
committee has the facility to grant such dispensations but to date no requests 
have been made.

Page 197



Appointment and Induction of Independent Persons

12.A recruitment process was undertaken during March 2021 which resulted in 
the appointment of two new Independent Persons at County Council in May 
2021 – Bernard Barton-Ancliffe and Stephen Pearman.

13.Both have been provided with a full induction into the member code of 
conduct and have already assisted me in advising on complaints received.  I 
am confident that they will fulfil their role diligently and will support me with 
sound judgement and wisdom. 

Complaints under the Code of Conduct during 2021

14.When complaints are received, it is the Monitoring Officer’s role to review the 
substance and decide if it warrants a full investigation. This is done against a 
set of relevant questions in consultation with one of the Independent Persons.

15.Four complaints were made under the Code of Conduct during 2021: two prior 
to the May elections and two since.

16.Of these, only one progressed to a full investigation.  That investigation 
concluded that no breach of the Code had occurred.

17.The remaining four complaints did not meet the criteria for full investigation as 
the substance of the complaint was not a matter that, if substantiated, would 
amount to a breach of the code.

18. In addition to these formal complaints, I have also responded to one further 
matter which was able to be resolved informally to the satisfaction of the 
member of the public concerned.

19. It would be inappropriate to disclose details of individual complaints as none 
of those received have been found to amount to a breach of the code.  
However, in terms of the trends, an increasing number of complaints relate to 
comments made by Councillors on social media, including those made from 
accounts that identify them as a Councillor and those made from personal 
accounts.  

ENDS

Page 198



Appendix 1:  
Review of Recommendations by the Committee on Standards in Public Life

Best Practice 
Recommendation

Current position Next steps

1: Local authorities should 
include prohibitions on 
bullying and harassment in 
codes of conduct. These 
should include a definition of 
bullying and harassment, 
supplemented with a list of 
examples of the sort of 
behaviour covered by such a 
definition. 
2: Councils should include 
provisions in their code of 
conduct requiring councillors 
to comply with any formal 
standards investigation, and 
prohibiting trivial or malicious 
allegations by councillors. 

Not included explicitly in 
GCC Code of Conduct but 
these are covered in the new 
Model Code created by the 
Local Government 
Association.

Continue to work with District 
Councils towards developing 
a common Gloucestershire 
Code which incorporates 
these elements.

3: Principal authorities 
should review their code of 
conduct each year and 
regularly seek, where 
possible, the views of the 
public, community 
organisations and 
neighbouring authorities. 

This report forms our annual 
review and seeks members 
views as to how and whether 
to seek engagement. 

No further action, unless 
members feel that we should 
pro-actively seek 
engagement in this review.

4: An authority’s code should 
be readily accessible to both 
councillors and the public, in 
a prominent position on a 
council’s website and 
available in council premises. 

Code of conduct on Council 
Website
Searching under “Code of 
Conduct” or “Complaints” or 
“Complaints about 
Councillors” brings up a link

No further action 

5: Local authorities should 
update their gifts and 
hospitality register at least 
once per quarter, and publish 
it in an accessible format, 
such as CSV. 

Provided on website against 
each councillor’s details in 
PDF format and updated as 
received from members.
Reminders are issued 
periodically by email and via 
Members Matter.

No further action 

6: Councils should publish a 
clear and straightforward 
public interest test against 
which allegations are filtered. 

Included on Council Website No further action required

7: Local authorities should 
have access to at least two 
Independent Persons. 

Two Independent Persons 
recruited and appointed in 
May 2021.  Term of office 
ends May 2025.

No further action 

8: An Independent Person 
should be consulted as to 
whether to undertake a 

This process in place No further action 

Page 199

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/complaints-and-feedback/complaints-about-councillors/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/complaints-and-feedback/complaints-about-councillors/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2599/complaints_procedure-53988.pdf


formal investigation on an 
allegation, and should be 
given the option to review 
and comment on allegations 
which the responsible officer 
is minded to dismiss as 
being without merit, 
vexatious, or trivial. 
9: Where a local authority 
makes a decision on an 
allegation of misconduct 
following a formal 
investigation, a decision 
notice should be published 
as soon as possible on its 
website, including a brief 
statement of facts, the 
provisions of the code 
engaged by the allegations, 
the view of the Independent 
Person, the reasoning of the 
decision-maker, and any 
sanction applied. 

This is GCC’s process, 
should it be required

No further action 

10: A local authority should 
have straightforward and 
accessible guidance on its 
website on how to make a 
complaint under the code of 
conduct, the process for 
handling complaints, and 
estimated timescales for 
investigations and outcomes. 

See Council Website No further action 

11: Formal standards 
complaints about the conduct 
of a parish councillor towards 
a clerk should be made by 
the chair or by the parish 
council as a whole, rather 
than the clerk in all but 
exceptional circumstances. 
12: Monitoring Officers’ roles 
should include providing 
advice, support and 
management of 
investigations and 
adjudications on alleged 
breaches to parish councils 
within the remit of the 
principal authority. They 
should be provided with 
adequate training, corporate 
support and resources to 
undertake this work. 

Not applicable.  In 2-tier 
areas, complaints about 
parish councillors are the 
responsibility of the relevant 
District Council

No further action 

13: A local authority should The Council has appointed 2 No further action

Page 200

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/complaints-and-feedback/complaints-about-councillors/


have procedures in place to 
address any conflicts of 
interest when undertaking a 
standards investigation. 
Possible steps should 
include asking the Monitoring 
Officer from a different 
authority to undertake the 
investigation. 

Deputies who would deal 
with any complaints where 
the MO has a conflict of 
interests.  

14: Councils should report on 
separate bodies they have 
set up or which they own as 
part of their annual 
governance statement 
(AGS), and give a full picture 
of their relationship with 
those bodies. Separate 
bodies created by local 
authorities should abide by 
the Nolan principle of 
openness, and publish their 
board agendas and minutes 
and annual reports in an 
accessible place. 

The Council has 2 such 
bodies:

- UBICO
- Adoption West

UBICO Board does follow 
the Nolan principles – the 
new Chair of the Board 
devoted the first meeting to 
the Nolan principles. The 
Annual Report is published 
on the website but not 
minutes of board meetings. 
There is also an Audit and 
Governance sub Committee 
and a Renumeration / Policy 
Sub Committee.

Both Ubico and Adoption 
West provided evidence for 
this year’s Annual 
Governance Statement

No further action 

15: Senior officers should 
meet regularly with political 
group leaders or group whips 
to discuss standards issues. 

Quarterly meetings 
established with MO and 
group leaders

No further action 

Page 201



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Agenda Item:

Audit and Governance Committee

21st January 2022

Title of Report Appointment of External Auditors for Statement of 
Accounts 

Purpose of Report To outline options for the appointment of the Council’s external 
audits for a five year period commencing with the 2023/24 
Statement of Accounts and allow the Committee to recommend 
to Council the preferred appointment process.

Recommendations That the Committee recommends to Full Council for 
consideration at its meeting scheduled for 16th February 2022 
acceptance of the Public Sector Audit Appointments’ invitation 
to opt into the sector-led option for the appointment of external 
auditors to principal local government and police bodies for five 
financial years from 1 April 2023.

Contacts Steve Mawson, Executive Director of Corporate Resources 
(01452) 425557 

steve.mawson@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Paul Blacker, Director of Finance (01452) 328999 

Paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Jayne Fuller, Corporate Finance Manager (01452) 328926

jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Page 203

Agenda Item 18

mailto:steve.mawson@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2

Background and summary

1. The current auditor appointment arrangements cover the period up to and including the 
audit of the 2022/23 accounts. The Council opted into the ‘appointing person’ national 
auditor appointment arrangements established by Public Sector Audit Appointments 
(PSAA) for the period covering the accounts for 2018/19 to 2022/23.  The Council’s 
current external auditor is Grant Thornton and have undertaken this role since 2012/13.

2. During Autumn 2021 all local government bodies need to make important decisions about 
their external audit arrangements from 2023/24. They have options to arrange their own 
procurement and make the appointment themselves or in conjunction with other bodies, 
or they can join the national collective scheme administered by PSAA.

3. The report concludes that the sector-wide procurement conducted by PSAA will produce 
better outcomes and will be less burdensome for the Council than a procurement 
undertaken locally because:

 collective procurement reduces costs for the sector and for individual authorities 
compared to a multiplicity of smaller local procurements;

 if it does not use the national appointment arrangements, the Council will need 
to establish its own auditor panel with an independent chair and independent 
members to oversee a local auditor procurement and ongoing management of 
an audit contract;

 it is the best opportunity to secure the appointment of a qualified, registered 
auditor - there are only nine accredited local audit firms, and a local 
procurement would be drawing from the same limited supply of auditor 
resources as PSAA’s national procurement; and

 supporting the sector-led body offers the best way of ensuring there is a 
continuing and sustainable public audit market into the medium and long term.

4. If the Council wishes to opt in to the national auditor appointment arrangements, it is 
required under the local audit regulations to make the decision at full Council. The opt-in 
period starts on 22 September 2021 and closes on 11 March 2022. To opt into the 
national scheme from 2023/24, the Council needs to return completed opt-in documents 
to PSAA by 11 March 2022.

Recommendation

5. That the Council accepts Public Sector Audit Appointments’ invitation to opt into the 
sector-led option for the appointment of external auditors for the five financial years from 1 
April 2023.

Page 204



3

Procurement of External Audit for the period 2023/24 to 2027/28

6. Under the Local Government Audit & Accountability Act 2014 (“the Act”), the council is 
required to appoint an auditor to audit its accounts for each financial year.  The council 
has three options; 

 To appoint its own auditor, which requires it to follow the procedure set out in 
the Act. 

 To act jointly with other authorities to procure an auditor following the 
procedures in the Act. 

 To opt in to the national auditor appointment scheme administered by a body 
designated by the Secretary of State as the ‘appointing person’.  The body 
currently designated for this role is Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited 
(PSAA). 

7. In order to opt in to the national scheme, a council must make a decision at a meeting of 
the Full Council.  

The Appointed Auditor 

8. The auditor appointed at the end of the procurement process will undertake the statutory 
audit of accounts and Best Value assessment of the council in each financial year, in 
accordance with all relevant codes of practice and guidance.  The appointed auditor is 
also responsible for investigating questions raised by electors and has powers and 
responsibilities in relation to Public Interest Reports and statutory recommendations.  

9. The auditor must act independently of the council and the main purpose of the 
procurement legislation is to ensure that the appointed auditor is sufficiently qualified and 
independent. 

10. The auditor must be registered to undertake local audits by the Financial Reporting 
Council (FRC) and employ authorised Key Audit Partners to oversee the work. As the 
report below sets out there is a currently a shortage of registered firms and Key Audit 
Partners. 

11. Auditors are regulated by the FRC, which will be replaced by a new body with wider 
powers, the Audit, Reporting and Governance Authority (ARGA) during the course of the 
next audit contract.
 

12. Councils therefore have very limited influence over the audit services they are procuring - 
the nature and quality of which are determined or overseen by third parties.  

13. The final decision on the audit firm appointed rests with PSAA. Councils can’t stipulate 
that any particular firm must or must not be appointed however on receiving our opt in 
notification PSAA will ask if there are any shared or joint working arrangements that exist 
which would benefit from the appointment of the same audit firm. For example we work 
closely with Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) and have a number 

Page 205



4

of joint funding arrangements so it makes sense for both organisations to have the same 
auditor. This is the current arrangement. Therefore if Council and GCCG both opt in to the 
PSAA arrangement it is proposed that we request the same auditor as the GCCG.  

14. PSAA would also ask if there are any conflicts of interest or other reasons which should 
be taken into consideration when deciding on the allocation of an audit firm.

15. PSAA would take these issues into consideration when making the appointment but it 
must be stressed that the final decision is deliberately delegated to PSAA to ensure that 
the appointment process is independent of the Council.

16. One of the objectives of the process is to provide continuity of audit firm where 
appropriate. The general policy of PSAA is that audit firm appointments to an individual 
body are not expected to exceed a term of 20 years – although they do favour shorter 
terms. Grant Thornton have been our auditors since 2012/13 – so for a period of 11 years 
by the time the current contract expires and 16 years if they are appointed under this 
procurement round. This is well within the 20 year maximum term recommended by 
PSAA. Therefore it is not proposed to make a request to exclude Grant Thornton from 
being appointed as our auditors. 

Appointment by the Council itself or jointly 

17. The Council may elect to appoint its own external auditor under the Act, which would 
require the council to; 

 Establish an independent auditor panel to make a stand-alone appointment. The 
auditor panel would need to be set up by the Council itself, and the members of 
the panel must be wholly or a majority of independent members as defined by 
the Act. Independent members for this purpose are independent appointees, 
excluding current and former elected members (or officers) and their close 
families and friends. This means that elected members will not have a majority 
input to assessing bids and choosing to which audit firm to award a contract for 
the Council’s external audit. 

 Manage the contract for its duration, overseen by the Auditor Panel.  

18. Alternatively, the Act enables the Council to join with other authorities to establish a joint 
auditor panel. Again, this will need to be constituted of wholly or a majority of independent 
appointees. Further legal advice would be required on the exact constitution of such a 
panel having regard to the obligations of each Council under the Act and the Council 
would need to liaise with other local authorities to assess the appetite for such an 
arrangement.

The national auditor appointment scheme

19. PSAA is specified as the ‘appointing person’ for principal local government under the 
provisions of the Act and the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015. PSAA let 
five-year audit services contracts in 2017 for the first appointing period, covering audits of 

Page 206



5

the accounts from 2018/19 to 2022/23. It is now undertaking the work needed to invite 
eligible bodies to opt in for the next appointing period, from the 2023/24 audit onwards, 
and to complete a procurement for audit services. PSAA is a not-for-profit organisation 
whose costs are around 4% of the scheme with any surplus distributed back to scheme 
members.  

20. In summary the national opt-in scheme provides the following:

 the appointment of a suitably qualified audit firm to conduct audits for each of 
the five financial years commencing 1 April 2023;

 appointing the same auditor to other opted-in bodies that are involved in formal 
collaboration or joint working initiatives to the extent this is possible with other 
constraints;

 managing the procurement process to ensure both quality and price criteria are 
satisfied. PSAA has sought views from the sector to help inform its detailed 
procurement strategy;

 ensuring suitable independence of the auditors from the bodies they audit and 
managing any potential conflicts as they arise during the appointment period;

 minimising the scheme management costs and returning any surpluses to 
scheme members;

 consulting with authorities on auditor appointments, giving the Council/Authority 
the opportunity to influence which auditor is appointed;

 consulting with authorities on the scale of audit fees and ensuring these reflect 
scale, complexity, and audit risk; and

 ongoing contract and performance management of the contracts once these 
have been let.

Pressures in the current local audit market and delays in issuing opinions 

21. Much has changed in the local audit market since audit contracts were last awarded in 
2017. At that time the audit market was relatively stable, there had been few changes in 
audit requirements, and local audit fees had been reducing over a long period. 98% of 
those bodies eligible opted into the national scheme and attracted very competitive bids 
from audit firms. The resulting audit contracts took effect from 1 April 2018.

22. During 2018 a series of financial crises and failures in the private sector year led to 
questioning about the role of auditors and the focus and value of their work. Four 
independent reviews were commissioned by Government: Sir John Kingman’s review of 
the Financial Reporting Council (FRC), the audit regulator; the Competition and Markets 
Authority review of the audit market; Sir Donald Brydon’s review of the quality and 
effectiveness of audit; and Sir Tony Redmond’s review of local authority financial 
reporting and external audit. The recommendations are now under consideration by 

Page 207



6

Government, with the clear implication that significant reforms will follow. A new audit 
regulator (ARGA) is to be established, and arrangements for system leadership in local 
audit are to be introduced. Further change will follow as other recommendations are 
implemented.

23. The Kingman review has led to an urgent drive for the FRC to deliver rapid, measurable 
improvements in audit quality. This has created a major pressure for audit firms to ensure 
full compliance with regulatory requirements and expectations in every audit they 
undertake. By the time firms were conducting 2018/19 local audits during 2019, the 
measures they were putting in place to respond to a more focused regulator were clearly 
visible. To deliver the necessary improvements in audit quality, firms were requiring their 
audit teams to undertake additional work to gain deeper levels of assurance. However, 
additional work requires more time, posing a threat to the firms’ ability to complete all their 
audits by the target date for publication of audited accounts. Delayed opinions are not the 
only consequence of the FRC’s drive to improve audit quality. Additional audit work must 
also be paid for. As a result, many more fee variation claims have been needed than in 
prior years. 

24. This situation has been accentuated by growing auditor recruitment and retention 
challenges, the complexity of local government financial statements and increasing levels 
of technical challenges as bodies explore innovative ways of developing new or enhanced 
income streams to help fund services for local people. These challenges have increased 
in subsequent audit years, with Covid-19 creating further significant pressure for finance 
and audit teams. 

25. None of these problems is unique to local government audit. Similar challenges have 
played out in other sectors, where increased fees and disappointing responses to tender 
invitations have been experienced during the past two years.

The invitation

26. PSAA is now inviting the Council to opt in for the second appointing period, for 2023/24 to 
2027/28, along with all other eligible authorities. Based on the level of opt-ins it will enter 
into contracts with appropriately qualified audit firms and appoint a suitable firm to be the 
Council’s auditor. Details relating to PSAA’s invitation are provided in Annex 1 to this 
report. 

The next audit procurement

27. The prices submitted by bidders through the procurement will be the key determinant of 
the value of audit fees paid by opted-in bodies. PSAA will:

 seek to encourage realistic fee levels and to benefit from the economies of scale 
associated with procuring on behalf of a significant number of bodies;

Page 208



7

 continue to pool scheme costs and charge fees to opted-in bodies in 
accordance with the published fee scale as amended following consultations 
with scheme members and other interested parties (pooling means that 
everyone within the scheme will benefit from the prices secured via a 
competitive procurement process – a key tenet of the national collective 
scheme);

 continue to minimise its own costs, around 4% of scheme costs, and as a not-
for-profit company will return any surplus funds to scheme members. In 2019 it 
returned a total £3.5million to relevant bodies and in 2021 a further £5.6million 
was returned. 

28. PSAA will seek to encourage market sustainability in its procurement. Firms will be able to 
bid for a variety of differently sized contracts so that they can match their available 
resources and risk appetite to the contract for which they bid. They will be required to 
meet appropriate quality standards and to reflect realistic market prices in their tenders, 
informed by the scale fees and the supporting information provided about each audit. 
Where regulatory changes are in train which affect the amount of audit work suppliers 
must undertake, firms will be informed as to which developments should be priced into 
their bids. 

29. The scope of a local audit is fixed. It is determined by the Code of Audit Practice 
(currently published by the National Audit Office)1, the format of the financial statements 
(specified by CIPFA/LASAAC) and the application of auditing standards regulated by the 
FRC. These factors apply to all local audits irrespective of whether an eligible body 
decides to opt into PSAA’s national scheme or chooses to make its own separate 
arrangements. The requirements are mandatory; they shape the work auditors undertake 
and have a bearing on the actual fees required.

30. There are currently nine audit providers eligible to audit local authorities and other 
relevant bodies under local audit legislation. This means that a local procurement 
exercise would seek tenders from the same firms as the national procurement exercise, 
subject to the need to manage any local independence issues. Local firms cannot be 
invited to bid. Local procurements must deliver the same audit scope and requirements as 
a national procurement, reflecting the auditor’s statutory responsibilities.

Assessment of options and officer recommendation 

31. If the Council did not opt in there would be a need to establish an independent auditor 
panel to make a stand-alone appointment. The auditor panel would need to be set up by 
the Council itself, and the members of the panel must be wholly or a majority of 
independent members as defined by the Act. Independent members for this purpose are 
independent appointees, excluding current and former elected members (or officers) and 
their close families and friends. This means that elected members will not have a majority 
input to assessing bids and choosing to which audit firm to award a contract for the 
Council’s external audit. 

1 MHCLG’s Spring statement proposes that overarching responsibility for Code will in due course transfer to the system leader, namely 
ARGA, the new regulator being established to replace the FRC.

Page 209



8

32. Alternatively, the Act enables the Council to join with other authorities to establish a joint 
auditor panel. Again, this will need to be constituted of wholly or a majority of independent 
appointees. Further legal advice would be required on the exact constitution of such a 
panel having regard to the obligations of each Council under the Act and the Council 
would need to liaise with other local authorities to assess the appetite for such an 
arrangement.

33. These would be more resource-intensive processes to implement for the Council, and 
without the bulk buying power of the sector-led procurement would be likely to result in a 
more costly service. It would also be more difficult to manage quality and independence 
requirements through a local appointment process. The Council is unable to influence the 
scope of the audit and the regulatory regime inhibits the Council’s ability to affect quality. 

34. The Council and its auditor panel would need to maintain ongoing oversight of the 
contract. Local contract management cannot, however, influence the scope or delivery of 
an audit.

35. The national offer provides the appointment of an independent auditor with limited 
administrative cost to the Council. By joining the scheme, the Council would be acting 
with other Councils to optimise the opportunity to influence the market that a national 
procurement provides.   

36. The recommended approach is therefore to opt in to the national auditor appointment 
scheme.  

The way forward

37. Regulation 19 of the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 requires that a 
decision to opt in must be made by a meeting of the Council (meeting as a whole), except 
where the authority is a corporation sole. 

38. The Council then needs to respond formally to PSAA’s invitation in the form specified by 
PSAA by the close of the opt-in period (11 March 2022). 

39. PSAA will commence the formal procurement process in early February 2022. It expects 
to award contracts in August 2022 and will then consult with authorities on the 
appointment of auditors so that it can make appointments by the statutory deadline of 31 
December 2022. 

Risk Management 

40. The principal risks are that the Council:

 fails to appoint an auditor in accordance with the requirements and timing 
specified in local audit legislation; or

 does not achieve value for money in the appointment process. 

Page 210



9

41. These risks are considered best mitigated by opting into the sector-led approach through 
PSAA.

Legal implications

42. Section 7 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires a relevant Council to 
appoint a local auditor to audit its accounts for a financial year not later than 31 December 
in the preceding year. 

43. Section 8 governs the procedure for appointment including that the Council must consult 
and take account of the advice of its auditor panel on the selection and appointment of a 
local auditor. Section 8 provides that where a relevant Council is a local Council operating 
executive arrangements, the function of appointing a local auditor to audit its accounts is 
not the responsibility of an executive of the Council under those arrangements.

44. Section 12 makes provision for the failure to appoint a local auditor. The Council must 
immediately inform the Secretary of State, who may direct the Council to appoint the 
auditor named in the direction or appoint a local auditor on behalf of the Council. 

45. Section 17 gives the Secretary of State the power to make regulations in relation to an 
‘appointing person’ specified by the Secretary of State.  This power has been exercised in 
the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 (SI 192) and this gives the 
Secretary of State the ability to enable a sector-led body to become the appointing 
person. In July 2016 the Secretary of State specified PSAA as the appointing person.

Financial Implications

46. There is a risk that current external audit fee levels could increase when the current 
contracts end. It is clear that the scope of audit has increased, requiring more audit work. 
There are also concerns about capacity and sustainability in the local audit market.

47. Opting into a national scheme provides maximum opportunity to ensure fees are as 
realistic as possible, while ensuring the quality of audit is maintained, by entering into a 
large scale collective procurement arrangement.

48. If the national scheme is not used some additional resource may be needed to establish 
an auditor panel and conduct a local procurement. Until a procurement exercise is 
completed it is not possible to state what, if any, additional resource may be required for 
audit fees from 2023/24. 

Page 211



10

Annex 1

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ

22 September 2021

To: Mr Bungard, Chief Executive 
Gloucestershire County Council

Copied to: Mr Mawson, S151 Officer
Councillor Hay, Chair of Audit Committee or equivalent

Page 212



11

Dear Mr Bungard,

Invitation to opt into the national scheme for auditor appointments from April 2023

I want to ensure that you are aware the external auditor for the audit of your accounts for 
2023/24 has to be appointed before the end of December 2022. That may seem a long way 
away but, as your organisation has a choice about how to make that appointment, your 
decision-making process needs to begin soon.

We are pleased that the Secretary of State has confirmed PSAA in the role of the appointing 
person for eligible principal bodies for the period commencing April 2023. Joining PSAA’s 
national scheme for auditor appointments is one of the choices available to your organisation.

In June 2021 we issued a draft prospectus and invited your views and comments on our early 
thinking on the development of the national scheme for the next period. Feedback from the 
sector has been extremely helpful and has enabled us to refine our proposals which are now 
set out in the scheme prospectus and our procurement strategy. Both documents can be 
downloaded from our website which also contains a range of useful information that you may 
find helpful.

The national scheme timetable for appointing auditors from 2023/24 means we now need to 
issue a formal invitation to you to opt into these arrangements. In order to meet the 
requirements of the relevant regulations, we also attach a form of acceptance of our invitation 
which you must use if your organisation decides to join the national scheme. We have 
specified the five consecutive financial years beginning 1 April 2023 as the compulsory 
appointing period for the purposes of the regulations which govern the national scheme.

Given the very challenging local audit market, we believe that eligible bodies will be best 
served by opting to join the scheme and have attached a short summary of why we believe 
that is the best solution both for individual bodies and the sector as a whole.

I would like to highlight three matters to you:

1. if you opt to join the national scheme, we need to receive your formal acceptance of this 
invitation by Friday 11 March 2022;

2. the relevant regulations require that, except for a body that is a corporation sole (e.g. a 
police and crime commissioner), the decision to accept our invitation and to opt in must 
be made by the members of the authority meeting as a whole e.g. Full Council or 
equivalent. We appreciate this will need to be built into your decision-making timetable. 
We have deliberately set a generous timescale for bodies to make opt in decisions (24 
weeks compared to the statutory minimum of 8 weeks) to ensure that all eligible bodies 
have sufficient time to comply with this requirement; and

3. if you decide not to accept the invitation to opt in by the closing date, you may 
subsequently make a request to opt in, but only after 1 April 2023. We are required to 

Page 213

https://www.psaa.co.uk/about-us/appointing-person-information/appointing-period-2023-24-2027-28/prospectus-2023-and-beyond/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/about-us/appointing-person-information/appointing-period-2023-24-2027-28/procurement-strategy/


12

consider such requests and agree to them unless there are reasonable grounds for their 
refusal. PSAA must consider a request as the appointing person in accordance with the 
Regulations. The Regulations allow us to recover our reasonable costs for making 
arrangements to appoint a local auditor in these circumstances, for example if we need 
to embark on a further procurement or enter into further discussions with our contracted 
firms.

If you have any other questions not covered by our information, do not hesitate to contact us 
by email at ap2@psaa.co.uk. We also publish answers to frequently asked questions on our 
website.

If you would like to discuss a particular issue with us, please send an email also to  
ap2@psaa.co.uk, and we will respond to you.

Yours sincerely

Tony Crawley 
Chief Executive

Encl: Summary of the national scheme

Page 214

mailto:ap2@psaa.co.uk
https://www.psaa.co.uk/contact-us/frequently-asked-questions/
http://www.psaa.co.uk/supporting-the-transition/appointing-person/
mailto:ap2@psaa.co.uk


Page 13 of 16

Why accepting the national scheme opt-in invitation is the best 
solution

Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA)

We are a not-for-profit, independent company limited by guarantee incorporated by the 
Local Government Association in August 2014.

We have the support of the LGA, which in 2014 worked to secure the option for 
principal local government and police bodies to appoint auditors through a 
dedicated sector-led national body.

We have the support of Government; MHCLG’s spring statement confirmed our 
appointment because of our “strong technical expertise and the proactive work they 
have done to help to identify improvements that can be made to the process”.

We are an active member of the new Local Audit Liaison Committee, chaired by 
MHCLG and attended by key local audit stakeholders, enabling us to feed in body 
and audit perspectives to decisions about changes to the local audit framework, and 
the need to address timeliness through actions across the system.

We conduct research to raise awareness of local audit issues, and work with 
MHCLG and other stakeholders to enable changes arising from Sir Tony Redmond’s 
review, such as more flexible fee setting and a timelier basis to set scale fees.

We have established an advisory panel, which meets three times per year. Its 
membership is drawn from relevant representative groups of local government and 
police bodies, to act as a sounding board for our scheme and to enable us to hear 
your views on the design and operation of the scheme.

The national scheme for appointing local auditors

In July 2016, the Secretary of State specified PSAA as an appointing person for 
principal local government and police bodies for audits from 2018/19, under the 
provisions of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Local Audit 
(Appointing Person) Regulations 2015. Acting in accordance with this role PSAA is 
responsible for appointing an auditor and setting scales of fees for relevant principal 
authorities that have chosen to opt into its national scheme. 98% of eligible bodies 
made the choice to opt-in for the five-year period commencing in April 2018.

We will appoint an auditor for all opted-in bodies for each of the five financial years 
beginning from 1 April 2023.

Page 215



Page 14 of 16

We aim for all opted-in bodies to receive an audit service of the required quality at a 
realistic market price and to support the drive towards a long term competitive and 
more sustainable market for local audit. The focus of our quality assessment will 
include resourcing capacity and capability including sector knowledge, and client 
relationship management and communication.

What the appointing person scheme from 2023 will offer

We believe that a sector-led, collaborative, national scheme stands out as the best 
option for all eligible bodies, offering the best value for money and assuring the 
independence of the auditor appointment.
The national scheme from 2023 will build on the range of benefits already 
available for members:

• transparent and independent auditor appointment via a third party;

• the best opportunity to secure the appointment of a qualified, registered auditor;

• appointment, if possible, of the same auditors to bodies involved in significant 
collaboration/joint working initiatives, if the parties believe that it will enhance 
efficiency;

• on-going management of any independence issues which may arise;

• access to a specialist PSAA team with significant experience of working within the 
context of the relevant regulations to appoint auditors, managing contracts with 
audit firms, and setting and determining audit fees;

• a value for money offer based on minimising PSAA costs and distribution of any 
surpluses to scheme members - in 2019 we returned a total £3.5million to relevant 
bodies and more recently we announced a further distribution of £5.6m in August 
2021;

• collective efficiency savings for the sector through undertaking one major 
procurement as opposed to a multiplicity of smaller procurements;

• avoids the necessity for local bodies to establish an auditor panel and undertake an 
auditor procurement, enabling time and resources to be deployed on other 
pressing priorities;

• updates from PSAA to Section 151 officers and Audit Committee Chairs on a 
range of local audit related matters to inform and support effective auditor-
audited body relationships; and

• concerted efforts to work with other stakeholders to develop a more sustainable 
local audit market.

We are committed to keep developing our scheme, taking into account feedback from 
scheme members, suppliers and other stakeholders, and learning from the 
collective post-2018 experience. This work is ongoing, and we have taken a number 
of initiatives to improve the operation of the scheme for the benefit of all parties.

Page 216



Page 15 of 16

Importantly we have listened to your feedback to our recent consultation, and our 
response is reflected in the scheme prospectus.

Opting in

The closing date for opting in is 11 March 2022. We have allowed more than the 
minimum eight-week notice period required, because the formal approval process 
for most eligible bodies is a decision made by the members of the authority meeting 
as a whole [Full Council or equivalent], except police and crime commissioners 
who are able to make their own decision.

We will confirm receipt of all opt-in notices. A full list of eligible bodies that opt in 
will be published on our website. Once we have received an opt-in notice, we will 
write to you to request information on any joint working arrangements relevant to 
your auditor appointment, and any potential independence matters which may need to 
be taken into consideration when appointing your auditor.

Local Government Reorganisation

We are aware that reorganisations in the local government areas of Cumbria, 
Somerset, and North Yorkshire were announced in July 2021. Subject to 
parliamentary approval shadow elections will take place in May 2022 for the new 
Councils to become established from 1 April 2023. Newly established local 
government bodies have the right to opt into PSAA’s scheme under Regulation 10 of 
the Appointing Person Regulations 2015. These Regulations also set out that a local 
government body that ceases to exist is automatically removed from the scheme.

If for any reason there is any uncertainty that reorganisations will take place or 
meet the current timetable, we would suggest that the current eligible bodies confirm 
their acceptance to opt in to avoid the requirement to have to make local 
arrangements should the reorganisation be delayed.

Next Steps

We expect to formally commence the procurement of audit services in early February 
2022. At that time our procurement documentation will be available for opted-in 
bodies to view through our e-tendering platform.

Our recent webinars to support our consultation proved to be popular, and we will be 
running a series of webinars covering specific areas of our work and our progress to 
prepare for the second appointing period. Details can be found on our website and in 
the scheme prospectus.

Page 217

https://www.psaa.co.uk/about-us/appointing-person-information/appointing-period-2023-24-2027-28/prospectus-2023-and-beyond/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/about-us/appointing-person-information/appointing-period-2023-24-2027-28/autumn-and-winter-webinars/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/about-us/appointing-person-information/appointing-period-2023-24-2027-28/prospectus-2023-and-beyond/


Page 16 of 16

Appointing Period 2023/24 to 2027/28
Form of notice of acceptance of the invitation to opt in
(Please use the details and text below to submit to PSAA your body’s formal notice of 
acceptance of the invitation to opt into the appointing person arrangements from 2023)

Email to: ap2@psaa.co.uk

Subject: Gloucestershire County Council

Notice of acceptance of the invitation to become an opted-in authority

This email is notice of the acceptance of your invitation dated 22 September 2021 to 
become an opted-in authority for the audit years 2023/2024 to 2027/2028 for the 
purposes of the appointment of our auditor under the provisions of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and the requirements of the Local Audit (Appointing Person) 
Regulations 2015.

I confirm that Gloucestershire County Council has made the decision to accept your 
invitation to become an opted-in authority in accordance with the decision making 
requirements of the Regulations, and that I am authorised to sign this notice of 
acceptance on behalf of the authority.

Name: [insert name of signatory]
Title: [insert role of signatory] (authorised officer)

For and on behalf of: Gloucestershire County Council
Date: [insert date completed]

Page 218

mailto:ap2@psaa.co.uk

	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Grant Thornton Audit Progress Report
	7 Treasury Management Strategy
	8 Annual Governance Statement Action Plan Update
	AGS update 2020-21 Dec 2021 Final

	9 Risk Management Strategy
	2022-25 risk-management-policy-and-strategy v1.6 FINAL
	2022-2025 GCC RM 3-year Action Plans Final v1.1

	10 Internal Audit Activity Progress Report
	Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity v1.0
	Spreadsheet v1.0

	11 GFRS: Internal Audit Final Progress Report
	GFRS Follow Up report January 22 v1.0

	12 Limited Assurance Report
	13 Anti Bribery Policy & Money Laundering Policy
	anti-money-laundering-policy 2018

	14 GCC Complaints: Policy, System & Culture
	Appendix 1 - Scrutiny 5.1.2022

	15 Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman's Annual Review Letter
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	16 Whistle Blowing Annual Report
	17 Member Code of Conduct Annual Report
	18 Appointment of External Auditors for Statement of Accounts

